# Defining a Competency-based Simulation Training Curriculum for

# **Obstetrics & Gynecology Residents**

# Milena Garofalo, MDCM, FRCSC

Obstetrics & Gynecology

Department of Experimental Surgery

McGill University, Montreal

## Thesis Submission: November 2019

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Masters of

Experimental Surgery, concentration in Surgical Education

© Milena Garofalo, 2019

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract	5
Résumé	7
Acknowledgements	9
Conflicts of Interest	0
Preface and Contribution of Authors 1	1
SECTION 1: INTRODUCTION 1	2
Introduction1	3
Background1	3
1. History of Medical Education 1	3
2. Competency-based Medical Education (CBME)1	6
3. Simulation-based Education (SBE) 1	6
4. Assessment of Clinical Competence 1	9
Objective of Thesis	:0
SECTION 2: MANUSCRIPTS	1
Manuscript 1 Competency-Based Medical Education and Assessment of Training: Review of	of
Selected National Obstetrics and Gynecology Curricula2	2
Abstract 2	4
Introduction	:5
Methods	28

Results2	29
Discussion 4	10
Conclusion 4	13
References	15
Tables	19
Supplementary Material	54
Manuscript 2 OBGYN Modified Delphi Survey for Entrustable Professional Activitie	s:
Quantification of Importance, Benchmark Levels, and Roles in Simulation-Based Training an	ıd
Assessment	56
Methods	50
Results	52
Discussion	54
Conclusion	56
References	58
Tables7	1
Figures7	14
Manuscript 3 Simulation in Obstetrics and Gynecology for the Training of Health Car	re
Professionals: A Systematic Review7	/6
Abstract	/8
Introduction	30

	Methods	. 82
	Results	. 85
	Discussion	. 88
	References	. 93
	Tables	122
	Figures	127
	Appendix	130
SEC	TION 3: CONCLUSION & FUTURE WORK	131
Co	onclusion	132
Re	eferences	134

### **Abstract**

INTRODUCTION In the last decade, competency-based medical education (CBME) has become the predominant teaching method used in residency training, preparing young physicians to become competent graduates. Due to new challenges in the 21<sup>st</sup> century, such as workhour reforms, increased breadth of knowledge required, new technology, and increased awareness of patient safety, CBME has supplemented the historical Apprenticeship and Halstedian models of medical education. It focuses on outcomes (attainment of competencies), and promotes active learning, requiring more frequent observations and assessments of learners. Simulation represents a valuable tool in the era of CBME as it allows for both teaching and assessments to take place and promotes deliberate practice; all in a safe and controlled environment with no consequences for patients. The role of CBME and simulation in the specialty of Obstetrics and Gynecology (OBGYN) will be further explored within three manuscripts, with the goal of helping to define a national competency-based simulation training curriculum for OBGYN residents.

<u>METHODS</u> First, a comprehensive review of literature was undertaken to compare curricula from five countries, on an international level, including Canada. Second, a list of entrustable professional activities (EPAs) for OBGYN was defined via a Delphi consensus method. Each EPA was quantified for its importance in residency training and for simulation in addition to setting benchmarks. Third, the role of simulation in OBGYN, including its current use and effectiveness, was further elaborated via a systematic review on the subject.

<u>RESULTS</u> Five countries recognized CBME as a valuable tool in medical education, but there remains a need to develop more assessment tools, including the use of simulation. The review of curricula allowed for item analysis to take place, which yielded 15 EPAs for OBGYN. Although it was clear for experts surveyed that all outlined EPAs were important/essential and that there is a stepwise increase in competence, based on stage of residency, the role that simulation plays remained uncertain. However, the systematic review, which yielded 316 eligible studies, highlighted that simulation does in fact play a very important role in OBGYN residency training and that both its use and the number of high-quality studies involving simulation has been increasing over the years.

<u>CONCLUSION</u> The introduction of "Competence by Design" in 2019 within Canadian residency training programs has increased the need for more adequate teaching and assessment tools in order to ensure that all graduating residents are ready for practice. This thesis demonstrated that simulation plays an integral role in filling this gap, with many studies showing that it increases assessed knowledge and skills which then translate to the workplace. Thus, a national competency-based simulation training curriculum for OBGYN residents, has the potential to increase the quality of training and patient care.

#### <u>Résumé</u>

<u>INTRODUCTION</u> Dans la dernière décennie, la formation en médecine fondée sur les compétences (FMFC) est devenue la méthode prédominante pour l'enseignement dans les programmes de résidence afin de préparer les jeunes médecins à devenir des diplômés compétents. Le 21<sup>e</sup> siècle a amené des nouveaux défis en médecine, tels que la diminution des heures de travail, une augmentation de l'ampleur des connaissances requises, des nouvelles technologies, et plus de conscience pour la sécurité des patients. Conséquemment, la FMFC vient supplémentée les modèles historiques de formation médicale de l'apprentissage et de Halsted. Cette démarche est axée sur les résultats (l'acquisition de compétences) et promeut l'apprentissage actif, nécessitant des observations et des évaluations plus fréquentes des apprentis. La simulation représente un outil important dans le cadre de la FMFC, car elle permet l'enseignement et l'évaluation, ainsi que la pratique délibérée, dans un environnement contrôlé et sécuritaire, sans conséquences pour les patients. Le rôle de la FMFC et de la simulation dans la spécialité de l'obstétrique-gynécologie (OBGYN) sera exploré davantage dans trois manuscrits, le but étant d'aider à définir un curriculum national en simulation fondée sur les compétences pour les résidents en OBGYN.

#### METHODES

Premièrement, une revue de littérature compréhensive comparant les curricula de cinq pays, incluant le Canada, a été fait. Deuxièmement, une liste d'activités professionnelles confiables (APC) a été définie à l'aide d'un consensus par la méthode Delphi. L'importance de chaque APC pour la formation des résidents et pour la simulation a été quantifié et des repères académiques ont été conçus. Troisièmement, le rôle actuel de la simulation dans le domaine d'OBGYN, incluant son utilité et efficacité, ont été élaboré davantage via une revue systématique.

<u>RESULTS</u> Cinq pays reconnaissent la FMFC comme étant un outil de grande valeur en éducation médicale. Cependant, il y a toujours un manque d'outils adéquats pour l'évaluation médicale, incluant la simulation. La revue des curricula a permis au développement de 15 APC spécifique au domaine d'OBGYN. Les experts interrogés étaient en accord que chaque APC était important/essentiel et qu'il y avait une augmentation progressive des compétences, dépendant de l'étape de la formation. Néanmoins, ces experts restent incertains du rôle de la simulation. Toutefois, la revue systématique de 316 études éligibles, surligne que la simulation à en effet un rôle très important dans la formation médicale en OBGYN et que son emploi ainsi que le nombre d'études de haute qualité augmentent avec les années.

<u>CONCLUSION</u> L'introduction de "La Compétence par Conception" en 2019 pour la formation médicale des résidents au Canada à augmentée le nécessité d'avoir plus d'outils d'enseignement et d'évaluation afin d'assurer que les finissants sont prêts pour la pratique indépendante. Cette thèse démontre que la simulation joue un rôle intégral pour combler ce besoin. Plusieurs études démontrent que la simulation augmente les connaissances et les habiletés, et ceci même dans le contexte clinique. Ainsi, un curriculum national en simulation fondée sur les compétences pour les résidents en OBGYN a le potentiel d'augmenter la qualité de formation médicale et les soins aux patients.

## **Acknowledgements**

I would first and foremost like to thank my research and thesis supervisor, Dr. Rajesh Aggarwal. He provided exceptional mentorship and guidance throughout my master's degree, despite leaving McGill University halfway through. His passion for teaching, medical education, and simulation resonated with me profoundly. Without his expertise and advise, I would not have been able to complete this project.

I am also grateful to the McGill Steinberg Centre for Simulation and Interactive Learning for providing me with an office space and time to conduct my research. A special thanks goes out to all the staff members at the centre. and to the Blema and Arnold Steinberg Foundation as this research was funded through an unrestricted grant from the Blema and Arnold Steinberg Foundation.

I would also like to thank my advisory committee members: Dr. Jacques Lapointe, Dr. Markus Martin and Dr. Srinivasan Krishnamurthy, for their support and suggestions along the way.

I would also like to acknowledge the exceptional library support staff at the McGill University Health Centre, notable Taline Ekmekjian, and my colleague and friend, Dr. Céline Giordano for helping me with the initial steps of the systematic review.

Finally, none of this would have been possible without the support of my family and friends, especially my husband, Michael, who never stopped encouraging me to complete my thesis.

Thank you.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

I have no conflicts of interest or disclosures to declare.

Dr. Rajesh Aggarwal is a consultant for Applied Medical.

# **Preface and Contribution of Authors**

# Milena Garofalo

- Main author
- Planning of study
- Design, methodology, data analysis
- Manuscript preparation, editing, and publication

# Rajesh Aggarwal

- Research supervisor
- Planning of study
- Contribution to design, methodology, and data analysis
- Contribution to manuscript editing and publication

# Taline Ekmekjian

- Librarian, McGill University Health Centre
- Contributed to systematic review: initial search strategy, methodology, Endnote reference library

## Céline Giordano

- Resident, Obstetrics & Gynecology
- Contributed to systematic review: initial abstract screening for inclusion/exclusion (second reviewer)

**Section 1: Introduction** 

# **Introduction**

### **Background**

### 1. History of Medical Education

### Apprenticeship Model of Learning

The earliest form of medical education documented in history is that of the apprenticeship model, similar to what we commonly refer to today as "hands on learning". It was the most common method of training surgeons until the 19<sup>th</sup> century[1-3]. This model is even outlined in the Hippocratic Oath which essentially is a contract between master and apprentice whereby the apprentice would "regard him who has taught [me] this ['art'] as equal to [my] parents, and to share, in partnership, [my] livelihood with him" [4]. In this way, medical knowledge, theory and techniques were passed on from master physician to apprentice for thousands of years. The student directly observes then imitates the actions of a skilled master[3]. In the 19<sup>th</sup> century, the hospital became instrumental to medical training as students learned from the new "disease model", still under the instruction of a master physician. The patient (both living and dead) became important to learn the pathological processes of disease, and methods of diagnosis changed massively, from relying on ancient texts to clinical examinations and signs made by disease on the human body[5]. The first major shift from the apprenticeship model to the Halsted "see one, do one, teach one" model took place in the late 19<sup>th</sup> to early 20<sup>th</sup> century [1, 2, 6-8].

## Halsted Model of Learning

In 1910, an American educational specialist named Abraham Flexner wrote the "Flexner Report", which set specific standards and policies for medical education and was based on the values and teaching methods at Johns Hopkins University [1, 9]. Dr. William Osler pioneered clinical teaching during this time and introduced the concept of beside rounds, medical rounds,

and formalized the residency system to include learning from the patient; this was the beginning of the clinical clerkship and postgraduate residency training as we know it[2, 8, 10]. Dr. William S. Halsted was the first to introduce a formal residency training program for young surgeons; previously all were self-trained or learned via the apprenticeship model[11]. He integrated Osler's method of teaching and the concept that medicine is founded on basic scientific knowledge into his principles of residency surgical training [1, 2, 7]:

- 1- "The resident must have intense and repetitive opportunities to take care of surgical patients under the supervision of a skilled surgical teacher.
- 2- The resident must acquire an understanding of the scientific basis of surgical disease.
- 3- The resident must acquire skills in patient management and technical operations of increasing complexity with graded enhanced responsibility and independence."

This traditional teaching method is still valid today, in combinations with other adult learning principles[6]. With some modification, it remains the predominant model of medical education today and can also be linked to some of the principles of the newest paradigm shift in medicine: competency-based medical education (CBME). The third principle above is akin to the concept of scaffolding, used in CBME, which will be outlined in the first manuscript.

#### New Challenges in 21st Century

There are increasing ethical concerns over the safety of patients and as medicine has changed from a paternalistic approach to a more patient-centered approach, the traditional way of learning and training has also undergone some modifications and evolved to promote patient safety[2, 6, 9]. It is no longer acceptable for students to be considered 'competent' in performing a procedure or skill after only seeing it done once, and patients are not interested in being guinea pigs and being practised on. Medical education is now bound to the interests of patients. This concern also has led to the reduction in resident duty work hours to avoid overworked and tired residents which could also impact patient safety[6, 12, 13]. Unfortunately, one important consequence of workhour reforms is that there are fewer teaching moments in the work-place for residents to learn from due to less clinical exposure[12]. Moreover, the breadth of knowledge of new diseases and therapies as well as technological advances has also increased tremendously over the last 100 years, thus residents are expected to learn more in a more limited amount of time[2, 3, 9, 14-16]. Limited healthcare resources and efficiency requirements have also led to a conflict between "service delivery" and dedicated teaching time[14-16]. Therefore the "see one, do one, teach one" method, cannot be used alone anymore; novel educational and training paradigms have become necessary to meet the challenges of the 21<sup>st</sup> century[4, 14-16].

## Passive to active learning - The adult learner

In both medical education and the realm of education in general, there has been a paradigm shift from passive learning (teacher-centred) to active learning (learner-centered) in order to accommodate adult learning principles and to develop competencies[17-19]. The learning pyramid illustrates how active participation in the learning process results in higher retention rates of learning. Students retain only 5-30% of material covered in a lecture, reading, audio-visual, and demonstration (passive learning techniques) versus 50-90% by group discussion, practice by doing, and teaching others (active learning techniques)[6, 20]. New forms of higher education such as role-playing, simulation, case studies, and small group learning have become integrated into teaching curriculums around the world[18]. The idea of the Learning Paradigm is "not to transfer knowledge but to create [more powerful learning] environments and experiences that bring students to discover and construct knowledge for themselves.[19]" This learner-centered shift has led to the development and integration of innovative approaches for the teaching and assessment

of clinical knowledge and skills, which have been incorporated into residency training curriculums. This includes, but is not limited to simulation with or without standardized patients (SPs), objective structured clinical examinations (OSCEs), and objective structured assessment of technical skills (OSATS)[16]. With the current medical education focus on competence, these are being widely used since objective assessment of knowledge and skills is critical in CBME.

## 2. Competency-based Medical Education (CBME)

CBME is defined by the Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada as "an outcomes-based approach to the design, implementation, assessment, and evaluation of a medical education program " [21]. This new model focuses on learning or outcomes rather than time. We are moving away from the "tea-steeping model" of medical education; whereby we assume that putting the resident (tea bag), in residency (hot water) for a fixed period of time yields a competent physician (perfect cup of tea)[22, 23]. Instead, there is increased emphasis on direct and indirect observation of knowledge, skills and behaviors. This outcomes-based approach uses an organizing framework of competencies, milestones and entrustable professional activities (EPAs) requiring regular assessment of performance in order to ensure that every graduate is prepared for practice [24]. At each stage of training during residency, specific competencies are targeted and measured by EPAs and milestones, with a stepwise increase in ability seen from novice to expert (Dreyfus model of skills acquisition), and instructional scaffolding (Zone of proximal development theory) from modeling to ability to teach and supervise others [13, 21, 25-27]. These terms will all be defined in the first two manuscripts.

#### 3. Simulation-based Education (SBE)

Simulation is a representation of a real-world task, "a technique that creates a situation or environment to allow persons to experience a representation of a real event for the purpose of practice, learning, evaluation, testing, or to gain understanding of systems or human actions" [28, 29]. It represents one of the many tools in the educational tool box and is a complimentary approach to the apprenticeship model, especially considering the decreasing clinical exposure seen in residency. Simulation should be considered an adjunct to traditional clinical learning in the workplace. SBE in medicine is defined as "the use of a number of modalities to re-create some component of the clinical encounter for the purposes of training or assessment" [30]. It is gaining increased credibility as a learning tool and is becoming integrated into many teaching curricula in addition to ward-based and traditional didactic lectures [31, 32]. SBE offers the opportunity for learning and practicing in a safe and controlled environment, without putting patient's safety at risk [13, 16].

Going back to the learning pyramid, we know that there is higher retention rates (75%) when one "practices doing" something in a "hands-on" way [6, 20]. SBE can thus complement clinical teaching and may even accelerate achievement of expert performance or mastery when looking at the learning curve [27, 33, 34]. According to the "Dreyfus Model of Skill Acquisition", there is a certain amount of scaffolding that takes place from novice to expert learner. Mastery requires many years of *deliberate practice*, a concept originally observed in musicians and described by Ericsson. Expert-level performance is due to expert-level practice, not simply a result of innate talent [13, 33-36]. According to Ericsson, there are four essential components of deliberate practice: the task must by intentional with goal to improve performance, built around pre-existing knowledge and skill level, have immediate feedback and be repeatedly performed [35]. Medical education has began to apply the concept of deliberate practice for the acquisition of medical knowledge and skills [37]; SBE can allow for deliberate practice to occur in a controlled and safe environment [32].

When looking back at the history of simulation, obstetric simulators seem to be among the earliest examples. They have been around since the 9<sup>th</sup> century, as small wax or wooden figures and in the 1600s and 1700s, these simulators, known then as "phantoms", were used to teach midwives normal and abnormal childbirth. [38] We've come a long way since these antiquated models. Simulation now includes a range of interventions that can be individual, team-based, and even multidisciplinary/interprofessional. These interventions typically include simulators such as mannequins and/or standardized patients, part task trainer, and computer or virtual reality technology. They can be simple or more complex such as theatre-based and team-based. Moreover, they can take place in a variety of different learning environments, either in dedicated simulation centers or in situ, within the actual clinical workplace. [29, 38]

There are numerous studies illustrating that learners enjoy SBE and that learning does take place in this setting. However, the burning question remains whether learning in the simulation setting transfers to learning and behavioral changes in the workplace and whether these changes actually affect patient outcomes. Kirkpatrick's pyramid outlines four increasing levels of impact for the evaluation of training programs [29, 39, 40]:

- Level 1: change in reaction in the learner
- Level 2: learning in the simulated setting
- Level 3: transfer of learning to the workplace
- Level 4: impact of learning on patient outcomes

Level 4 represents the highest level of evidence when it comes to research outcomes for SBE, as it represents learning linked directly to patient outcomes. The third manuscript describes and illustrates this principle as it applies to OBGYN.

#### 4. Assessment of Clinical Competence

Frequent assessment of competence is a critical component of CBME as there needs to be a way to ensure that competencies are acquired at all stages of training [21, 32]. Instruction and assessment are intimately linked. Miller's pyramid [41] is an outcome framework, useful for interpreting different levels of assessment and achievement of competencies in medical education. The first two levels "knows" and "knows how", measure basic knowledge and understanding of this knowledge. The third and fourth levels, "shows how" and "does, on the other hand, measure performance, either 'in vitro' such as in simulations, or 'in vivo' in the real clinical setting [29, 41]. These represent the highest levels of assessment. A recent systematic review [42] also showed evidence that simulation-based assessments (SBA) with good validity evidence often correlate positively with workplace assessments and patient outcomes thus simulation can be used as a surrogate for 'in vivo' assessment at the "does" level. Different methods of assessment should be used to assess learning across competencies from "knows" to "does". Not only is simulation a useful teaching method, but it also represents one of the various options in the assessment tool box and is particularly alluring in medical education since it can engage learners in realistic scenarios mimicking clinical situations and can help measure what learners "can do" rather than simply "what they know" [29]. SBA can be used both formatively, allowing for opportunities for feedback, coaching, debriefing, and deliberate practice, and increasingly they are being used summatively [29]. From a patient safety perspective, SBA can help ensure that learners are competent before working with real patients [29]. We are beginning to see the integration of simulation curricula into residency training programs. In Canada, the specialty of anesthesiology was the first to develop and implement the Canadian National Anesthesiology Simulation Curriculum (CanNASC) [32]. As such, trainees must satisfactorily complete a set of standardized

simulation scenarios throughout their training prior to certification. A similar project to incorporate SBA on a national scale is underway for the specialty of OBGYN [43, 44].

### **Objective of Thesis**

I will start by identifying differences in current OBGYN training programs with a narrative review comparing curricula from five countries around the world, including Canada. (Manuscript 1) Note that since the publication of the manuscript, as of July 1<sup>st</sup>, 2019, the Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada (RCPSC) has implemented "Competence by Design" for OBGYN residency program. Next, via a Delphi survey (Manuscript 2), OBGYN specific EPAs were defined, including their importance for simulation. This study was done prior to the publication of the RCPSC's EPAs for OBGYN. Finally, the current role of simulation as it pertains to OBGYN will be elaborated in a systematic review on the subject (Manuscript 3).

Ultimately, the objective of this thesis project is to help define a competency-based simulation training curriculum for obstetrics and gynecology (OBGYN) residents. Modifications to the current OBGYN curricula, including a standardized national simulation curriculum, may potentially increase the quality and efficiency of training, which could have a direct impact on patient safety and quality of care.

Section 2: Manuscripts

Manuscript 1

# **Competency-Based Medical Education and Assessment of Training: Review**

# of Selected National Obstetrics and Gynecology Curricula

<u>Published reference:</u> Garofalo M, Aggarwal R: Competency-Based Medical Education and Assessment of Training: Review of Selected National Obstetrics and Gynaecology Curricula. J Obstet Gynaecol Can. 2017, 39:534-544 e531. 10.1016/j.jogc.2017.01.024

# **Competency-Based Medical Education and Assessment of Training: Review of Selected**

# National Obstetrics and Gynecology Curricula

## **Authors**

# Milena Garofalo, MDCM, <sup>1,2</sup> Rajesh Aggarwal, MBBS, MA, PhD, FRCS, FRCSC, FACS <sup>2,3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Faculty of Medicine, McGill University

<sup>2</sup> Department of Surgery, Faculty of Medicine, McGill University

<sup>3</sup> Steinberg Centre for Simulation and Interactive Learning, Faculty of Medicine, McGill University

# **Corresponding author contact information:**

Dr. Milena Garofalo

milena.garofalo@mail.mcgill.ca

Abstract Word count: 226

Manuscript word count: 5531

#### ABSTRACT

There are global variations in obstetrics and gynaecology (OBGYN) training curricula, both in length and in their structure and content. The ultimate goal for all residency programs is to ensure a skilled, competent physician, capable of independent practice by the end of their training. An online search was employed for nationally recognized OBGYN training curricula. The curricula of Australia, Canada, the Netherlands, the United Kingdom, and the United States of America were individually reviewed and evaluated for their use of competency-based medical education, as well as methods of assessment, including simulation. These were also compared to the World Federation for Medical Education's Global Standards for postgraduate medical education.

Comparing the OBGYN curricula of these five countries led to quite similar results. Even though curricula reviewed have or will be integrating competency-based medical education into their residency program, there is a need to develop adequate assessment tools, including simulation, in order to train competent physicians capable of independent practice. Standardization of curricula leads to a decrease in the variability and an increase in the quality of training, as well as allowing for measurements and comparisons across centres. Ultimately, modifications to the curricula or even consensus for an international standard, including a standardized national simulation curriculum, may potentially increase the quality and efficiency of training, which could have a direct impact on patient safety and quality of care.

<u>Key Words</u> : curriculum, obstetrics, gynecology, simulation, medical education, competencybased education

#### **INTRODUCTION**

There are variations in the training of obstetricians and gynecologists worldwide. One of those differences is in the length of training, from four to seven years depending on the country reviewed. Despite these variations, the end goal of residency training remains the same: a physician capable of safe, independent practice in their area of specialization. A study comparing competence of surgeons trained in North America and Europe, where working hours and length of training differ, failed to show a difference in technical skill and cognitive knowledge at the beginning of practice.[1] Thus, despite shorter training in some countries, the end product seems to be equivalent. There is also evidence that patient outcomes, notably major complications, may be associated to the quality of training received. [2] Accordingly, providing high-quality health care by providing high-quality residency training, will lead to improvement of patient safety and quality care. The medical education system has remained relatively unchanged over the past 100 years, despite important changes in healthcare.[3] This is the reason why in recent years, we are seeing a shift from the more traditional Halstedian apprenticeship model of residency training ("see one, do one, teach one") to the more contemporary model that is competency-based medical education (CBME).

CBME is gaining popularity worldwide as a novel approach to educate and assess junior physicians.[4-6] It is "an outcomes-based approach to the design, implementation, assessment, and evaluation of a medical education program using an organizing framework of competencies"[7]. The aim of CBME is to regularly assess performance outcomes as opposed to the traditional "timebased" model. It is a way of ensuring that physicians possess the knowledge, skills, and attitudes required for every stage in their career. The goal of a CBME program is to determine which competencies and assessment tools a resident needs at different stages of their residency in order to ultimately meet patient's needs for that specific area of medicine. The idea is that there will be stages of training and at each stage and for each rotation, there will be a focus on specific acquisition of identified competencies, which will be measured by entrustable professional activities (EPAs) [8] and milestones. For each domain of competence, there is a corresponding spectrum of ability from novice to master, as described by Dreyfus and Dreyfus [9].

Competencies are defined as "sets of general qualities that every medical specialist should acquire" or more generally "the ability to do something successfully". [8, 10] The Dutch further define competencies as "the synthesis of knowledge, skills and attitudes that are reflected in professional activities". [11] As an example, the CanMEDS Medical Expert Role is a competency that involves "the ability to apply medical knowledge, clinical skills, and professional attitudes in the provision of patient-centred care". [12] In 2009, the International CBME collaborators defined a 'competent' physician as possessing the required abilities in all domains in a certain context at a defined stage of medical education or practice. [13] Thus competence is a dynamic construct that develops or recedes over time depending on the environment. The concept of "entrustable professional activity" (EPA) was introduced by ten Cate & Scheele in 2007 in order to "bridge the gap between competency-driven education and clinical practice" because in clinical practice, "competencies are intertwined in complex ways that make them less explicit and measurable". [8, 14] An EPA is a specific task or activity that can be 'entrusted' to a person once sufficient competence has been achieved. They represent the day to day work of the professional, being executable, observable, and measurable entities and can be the focus of assessment.[10] A milestone is defined as "an observable marker of an individual's ability".[7] Milestones are usually specialty-specific and characterize expectations for residents at various stages of their training for a particular competency.[15]

For example, "Performance of assisted -delivery including caesarean section" would be one of many milestones in a larger EPA, "Complicated Childbirth". (Refer to Table 1 for a detailed example of an EPA, outlining its competencies and milestones.) In sum, competencies have been defined as descriptors of physicians, whereas EPAs are descriptors of work.[10] Typically each EPA integrates multiple competencies and milestones. [7, 8, 10] For residents, this means a more personalized and targeted medical experience, focused on their particular learning abilities and personal development, allowing for individual learning curves. As such, some residents will be able to advance more quickly than others compared to the current traditional model.

Medical and surgical simulation is also gaining popularity in the medical field as a means of complementing the more traditional patient experiences. It allows the opportunity to improve skills and do 'the real thing' in a safe learning environment. [16, 17] However, its integration into the medical curriculum is still in its infancy. Simulation training will be an important and valuable tool in the assessment of residents in the CBD program, allowing direct observation of many technical and non-technical skills.

A number of different competency frameworks for physicians have been developed and integrated into the obstetrics and gynecology (OBGYN) curricula worldwide. Notably, the General Medical Council's (GMC) Good Medical Practice (GMP) Domains used in the United Kingdom, the Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education (ACGME) competencies in the United States of America (USA), and the Canadian Medical Education Directives for Specialists (CanMEDS) in Canada. The Netherlands curriculum is based on the CanMEDS, and Australia was influenced by all three frameworks. All of these will be described in further detail in the descriptions of the individual curricula. The objective of this narrative review is to compare OBGYN curricula from five countries around the world and to identify variation, especially in the context of CBME and assessment of training, including the use of simulation. This can provide valuable information on ways to improve curricula in order to deliver high-quality training for better and safer patient care.

### **METHODS**

An online electronic search was conducted for nationally recognized OBGYN curricula. This search yielded curricula from Australia, Canada, the Netherlands, the United Kingdom, and the United States of America from the websites of their respective national medical colleges. The structure of each of the curricula were initially reviewed qualitatively and then compared to a worldwide standard for postgraduate medical education, the World Federation for Medical Education's (WFME) "Postgraduate Medical Education WFME Global Standards for Quality Improvement."[18] This consists of a total of 9 areas of standards with 36 sub-areas. There are two general types of standards described: basic standards that must be met and standards for quality development which should be met, but are not an absolute requirement. Since this review's main focus is on competency-based medical education and assessment of training in OBGYN, only the first three areas and basic standards were evaluated and compared against the selected national curricula. These areas are:

- 1) Mission and Outcomes
- 2) Educational Programme
- 3) Assessment of trainees

Each curriculum was assessed and compared to each standard and given a rating based on how well the specific standard was met:

- Meets the standards

28

- Meets the majority of the description of the standards
- Meets some of the description of the standard
- Does not meet the standard or information not available (not stated)

More than 50% of the subdivisions of a specific standard needed to be met in order to qualify for "meets the majority of the description of the standards".

The results are presented in two sections. The first is a general initial overview of each of the curricula. This is followed by a comparison against the WFME's standards. Each curriculum was also evaluated for their use of competency-based medical education as well as methods of assessment, including simulation training.

### **RESULTS**

One of the major variations noted in the curricula reviewed was in the length of training. While the program is 4 years in the United States, it is 5 years in Canada, and even longer in the Netherlands (6 years), Australia (6 years), and the United Kingdom (7 years). Some countries also have an additional 1-2 years of foundation training prior to the formal OBGYN training program. (Refer to Table 2)

## Australian OBGYN Curriculum

The Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists (RANZCOG) are the programme providers in Australia and New Zealand. The RANZCOG training regulations handbook[19] provides a comprehensive overview of the structured six-year training program. The first four years are considered Core Training, while the remaining two years are Advanced Training. The curriculum is greatly influenced by the CanMEDS roles, as well as the six areas of competence defined by the ACGME, and the International Guidelines developed by the WFME.

The curriculum[20] is based on CBME and is framed around three key competencies considered essential characteristics for the specialist. These key competencies are:

- 1. Clinical Expertise
- 2. Academic Abilities, and
- 3. Professional Qualities.

They use a table format to state the main learning outcomes in general terms and link them all to the above general competencies. However, there are no described benchmarks for the different objectives, except for certain procedural skills, some of which are required to be performed by year two or four either with minimal or significant input. A list of procedural and surgical skills is provided to the trainee, along with the recommended minimum amount. Inhospital training is supplemented by the College's eLearning program, which contains self-directed modules that cover all areas of the curriculum. Attributes are progressively acquired during the training program as the trainee becomes more competent and confident and progresses from "novice" to "proficient" across and within the three domains considered essential for effective practice. Remediation through a learning development plan (LDP) is clearly outlined for the 'below expectation' trainee.

The handbook also provides the trainee with a structured assessment program. Assessments include a high-stakes mandatory specialist written and oral exam to become certified as a member of the RANZCOG (MRANZCOG exams) which are to be completed by the end of the 4<sup>th</sup> year of training. There are workplace-based assessments for diagnostic ultrasound and colposcopy. Maintaining a logbook is also mandatory and must be submitted to the College. It allows keeping a personal record of all required procedural and other training experiences and aids to see if competency levels are achieved. Completion of a research project is necessary and there are also

a number of courses that a trainee must complete. Self-assessment, multisource feedback, and logbook are reviewed and signed by the Training Supervisor during the formative three-monthly and summative six monthly assessments. The use of simulation for both training and assessment is not mentioned in the handbook. In fact, a recent survey concluded that the addition of simulation to the RANZCOG curriculum would benefit trainees. [21]

## **Canadian OBGYN Curriculum**

The Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada (RCPSC) oversees medical education in Canada. They put forth the "Specialty Training Requirements in Obstetrics and Gynecology"[22], which outlines the five-year training program. The program is further divided into Junior Resident and Senior Resident roles. Specifically, this document mandates the minimum and maximum number of rotations required in different disciplines within and outside the department.

The curriculum is framed around seven key competencies, named CanMEDS roles, considered essential characteristics for the specialist that lead to optimal health and health care outcomes. These key competencies are:

- 1. Medical Expert, which holds a central role
- 2. Communicator
- 3. Collaborator
- 4. Leader
- 5. Health Advocate
- 6. Scholar, and
- 7. Professional

The "Objectives of Training in the Specialty of Obstetrics and Gynecology"[12] lists different milestones to be achieved, framed within the 7 CanMEDS competencies above. A description of each of these roles can be found in the "CanMEDS 2015 Physician Competency Framework" document. [23]

No detailed methods of assessments for these competencies and milestones are named within the curriculum, except for the general requirement to demonstrate all of these attitudes and skills as well as to pass the final high-stakes specialty written and oral examinations prior to graduating from the training program. This will change in the near future, as a new CBME project is underway, called "Competence by Design" or CBD [7]. Some of the individual OBGYN programs throughout Canada have already started to integrate CBME into their specific objectives of training. [14] Moreover, simulation is mentioned for the training and assessment of residents in two Canadian programs as well. [24, 25]

## **Dutch OBGYN Curriculum**

The NVOG (Dutch Society of Obstetrics and Gynecology) are the national programme providers in the Netherlands. CBME was initiated in the Netherlands in 2004. The Dutch National Competency Based Curriculum for Obstetrics and Gynaecology, called BOEG (Better Education for Obstetrics and Gynecology) is outlined in detail.[11] It is a five to six year training program with three phases of about two years each. The total duration varies depending on competencies already acquired before beginning their training and on personal learning curves. The three phases of training are:

- 1. Basic (Novice)
- 2. Intensification (Intermediate)
- 3. Consolidations and sub-specialization (Junior specialist)

Their curriculum is based on the fact that one practitioner cannot deliver high quality care in all aspects of OBGYN. Thus, the focus is to be able to train competent general OBGYNs who share common basic skills but have specific areas of differentiation, depending on their area of interest. BOEG enhances patient safety by ensuring that residents demonstrate that they possess appropriate skills for level of training by a system of structured certification of competencies. The Competency Profiles outlined in BOEG are based on the same 7 CanMEDS competencies used in Canada. These competencies were translated into themes that constitute a limited number of broad EPAs. The activities or interventions that are contained within each theme are 'nested EPAs' or milestones. The program consists of 28 themes or EPAs (15 basic and 13 subspecialty). For each EPA there is a gradient of competency or competency level:

- Level 1: Has knowledge of (observation of modelled behavior)
- Level 2: Performs with full supervision
- Level 3: Performs with limited supervision
- Level 4: Performs without supervision
- Level 5: Able to supervise others and teach them

For each of these EPAs, they also list the minimum number of target experiences required, including a list of 16 surgical procedures with an overall number and how many should be done at level 4. For example, for the EPA "Complicated Childbirth", it is expected that by the end of their 4<sup>th</sup> year, residents will have done at least 50 cesarean sections (of which 10 at level 4), 30 vacuum extractions (of which 20 at level 4), 15 manual placental removals (of which 5 at level 4), and 15 repairs of 3rd/4th degree tears.

Residents are awarded a *statement of awarded responsibility* (STAR) when they pass a given EPA. Overall assessment is based on an electronic portfolio centered on in-training

assessment of EPAs with STARs. A STAR is requested by the resident through the portfolio, when he/she feels sufficiently competent and provides justification for the request. The program director must then approve it. There are certain competencies that residents at a given stage of training should have attained, demonstrated by adequately performing specific activities/EPAs. (See Table 3). The vast majority of learning activities are still workplace-based with a small part of training that most often consists of theoretical courses. Assessments include a number of in-training assessments, research, mandatory courses, and an annual knowledge exam (progress test). Simulation is also mentioned as a means for evaluation, without providing more details. Of note, it is the low-stakes formative assessments and learner self-reflection that are pivotal to progression within the training program and not the summative annual national examination. [14] There is a system in place to help identify the poorly-performing resident, involving remediation through intensive coaching and guidance by the program director that makes an "adjusted plan".

## **British OBGYN Curriculum**

The Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists (RCOG) is the programme provider in the UK along with the GMC. Both their 'Training Matrix' and 'Trainees' Guide to the O&G Curriculum and Specialty Training' outline the seven year core residency training.[26, 27] There are three phases of specialty training (ST): Basic Training (ST1-2), Intermediate Training (ST3-5), and Advanced Training (ST6-7).

The curriculum is competency-based, and centered around the four GMC GMP domains, a generic competency framework:

- 1. Knowledge, Skills and Performance
- 2. Safety and Quality
- 3. Communication, Partnership and Teamwork

## 4. Maintaining Trust

The core curriculum comprises 19 modules (or EPAs) and two basic ultrasound modules. Each module lists knowledge criteria, clinical competencies (milestones), professional skills and attitudes, training support, and assessment or evidence as well as the associated GMP domains (generic competencies). Competencies need to be attained at a defined level to progress through the curriculum, ranging from level 1 to 3.[28]

Level 1 ('Observation): demonstrates detailed knowledge and understanding and is aware of common complications/issues relating to the competence/clinical skill/situation
Level 2 ('direct supervision'): capable of performing the task or managing the clinical problem but with senior support

Level 3 ('independent practice'): can manage the majority of cases with no direct supervision or assistance, while having the insight to recognize that senior support will be needed in certain complex cases/complications.

These competencies are signed off in an electronic logbook based on different means of assessment. The handbook provides the trainee with a detailed review of the structured assessment program. Assessments consist of a number of work-based assessments, including Mini Clinical Examination Exercise (Mini-CEX), Objective Structured Assessment of Technical Skills (OSATS), Case-based discussions (CbD), Advanced Training Skills Modules (ATSMs), and Other methodologies (Oms) such as simulation and drills. There is also an annual research project, mandatory courses, and eLearning modules to be completed. A high-stakes mandatory specialist written and oral exam to become certified as a member of the RCOG (MRCOG exams) are to be completed by the end of the 2<sup>nd</sup> and 6<sup>th</sup> year of training.

## American OBGYN Curriculum

35

The American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists [29], along with ACGME, and the American Board of Obstetrics and Gynecology (ABOG), are the programme providers in the United States. The four-year OBGYN training program is outlined in detail in the educational objectives and core curriculum.[30] There are a total of six learning objectives, each of which are composed of many sub-categories and linked to the six ACGME general competencies:

- 1. Patient Care (PC)
- 2. Medical Knowledge (MMK)
- 3. Interpersonal and Communication Skills (ICS)
- 4. Professionalism (P)
- 5. Practice-Based Learning and Improvement (PBLI)
- 6. System-Based Practice (SBP)

A number of procedures and skills are listed for each of the learning objectives that a resident must either understand or understand and perform. With the arrival of the 'Next Accreditation System' (NAS), and the Milestone Project, which began in 2013, we saw the introduction of subcompetencies and milestones, arranged in five levels of observed behaviour from novice to expert based on Dreyfus and Dreyfus' model [9], where level 4 is the target for graduation. There are presently 29 OBGYN sub-competencies. [31]

- <u>Level 1 (Novice)</u>: The resident demonstrated milestones expected of an incoming resident
- <u>Level 2 (Advanced Beginner)</u>: The resident is advancing and demonstrates additional milestones, but is not yet performing at a mid-residency level
- <u>Level 3 (Competent)</u>: The resident continues to advance and demonstrates additional milestones, consistently including the majority of milestones targeted for residency
- <u>Level 4 (Proficient)</u>: The resident has advanced so that he or she now substantially demonstrates the milestones targeted for residency.
- <u>Level 5 (Expert)</u>: The resident has advanced beyond performance targets set for residency and is demonstrating "aspirational" goals which might describe the performance of someone who has been in practice for several years. It is expected that only a few exceptional residents will reach this level.

At the moment, the assessment of residents is parallel to Canada, with the general requirement to demonstrate all of the listed attitudes and skills as well as to pass the final high-stakes ABOG specialty written and oral examinations prior to graduating from the training program. However, with this new milestone project, all programs have begun to report milestones data as part of the NAS; thus, this will most likely become part of the assessment process in the near future. Certain specialties have already introduced various new ways of assessment similar to the UK, Netherlands, and Australia, including workplace-based assessments. It is not clear, in the US OBGYN curriculum, which of these assessment tools are being used because they only provide a general guide. Although the role of simulation in their curriculum is unclear, the ACOG has a Simulations Working Group that has published a toolkit for those who want to use and integrate simulation into their curriculum. [29] However, there is currently no national standard.

### Comparison with WFME Global Standards for Postgraduate Medical Education

The World Federation for Medical Education (WFME) is the international body that represents all medical teaching institutions, medical teachers, students, and medical doctors in all aspects of their education. The main goal of medical education is the improved health of all people through provision of high quality health care. Thus, the WFME stands to promote the highest scientific and ethical standards in medical education as well as encouraging the development of learning methods, new instructional tools, and innovation.

They published the first *Global Standards for Quality Improvement of Medical Education* in 2003, which have recently been revised and republished in 2015. [18]These global standards have been implemented and used extensively all over the world, as they outline a framework for defining institutional, national, and regional standards for basic medical education (BME), postgraduate medical education (PME), and continuing professional development (CBD) in order to help ensure that the competencies of medical doctors are globally applicable and transferable.

PME is the phase of medical education in which doctors develop competencies under supervision after completion of their basic medical training. It has stemmed from an apprenticeship model that ends with the attainment of specialist qualifications entitling the young doctor to undertake unsupervised practice. The organisation of PME programmes varies considerably from country to country, sometimes even varying within a same country, from highly sophisticated learning programmes to more traditional based almost entirely on practical clinical training under supervision. The WFME guidelines for medical education may help provide an international convergence for PME.

There are a total of 9 areas of standards with 36 sub-areas outlined in the WFME global standards (see Supplementary Material S1). There are two general types of standards described: basic standards that must be met and standards for quality development which should be met, but are not an absolute requirement. Since this review focuses on competency-based medical education and assessment of training in Obstetrics and Gynecology, only the first three areas and basic standards will be evaluated and compared against the selected national curricula. These areas are:

1) Mission and Outcomes

38

#### 2) Educational Programme, and

3) Assessment of trainees

Each curriculum was assessed and compared to each standard above and given a rating based on how well the specific standard was met or described. Refer to the Table 4 for an illustration of this comparison.

#### **Mission and Outcomes**

All curricula met the description of standards in this area.

#### **Educational Programme**

As part of the framework of postgraduate medical education programs, instructional and learning methods used to integrate practical and theoretical components must be outlined and there must be supervision and regular appraisal and feedback. Canada and USA curricula fail to mention whether or not they do so. Also, none of the curricula mention whether they ensure that training is complementary to and integrated with service demands.

#### Assessment of trainees

This is the weakest area for all curricula. Australia, the Netherlands, and the UK have detailed descriptions of a variety of different assessment methods (as outlined in respective sections), however none specify the exact passing criteria, including number of retakes allowed. They do outline in depth the feedback timing and methods. Canada and the USA are lagging behind with respect to the incorporation of new assessment methods and use of a training log-book to record training. This may change in the coming years as Canada implements the CBD model and the USA continues to develop the milestones project. There is also no mention in their curricula description of the feedback of residents.

#### **DISCUSSION**

This review of OBGYN curricula highlights the global variation between residency training programs, most notably in their length of training as well as their means of assessment within a competency-based approach. When taking into account foundation years after medical school, postgraduate OBGYN training is completed in 5 years in Canada and the United States, whereas it takes a minimum of 9 years in the United Kingdom. Despite this variability in duration of training, the ultimate goal remains the same: to yield competent physicians capable of working independently at the end of their training. The purpose of using the WFME standards was to objectively compare OBGYN curricula in order to identify potential areas of improvement and not to create an overall ranking. The comparison yielded very similar results. All five curricula reviewed see a great need for CBME in the training of OBGYN residents. With the exception of Canada, all countries have already started to implement in depth a CBME-based OBGYN curriculum. This is expected to occur in Canada for OBGYN by 2019, as part of a multi-year plan to roll-out Competence by Design (CBD) [7].

Within medicine, CBME has been proposed for over 50 years, but it is only in the last 15 years that it has really begun to be the center of an ongoing debate to reform medical education. It is an educational approach that has the potential to transform how we prepare physicians of today, in order to better align with each specialty of medicine and the needs of society.[14] The rationale for CBME, summarized by Frank et al. in 2010, includes a curriculum that focuses on the learners, that underlines outcomes, ensuring that all graduates are competent, consequently emphasizing on their acquired abilities, skills, and attitudes, rather than solely focusing on time and knowledge [13]. Thus, with outcomes in minds, abilities and competencies that each graduate needs are defined and developed into milestones and EPAs. Ideally EPAs are developed for each stage of

residency, which will allow for the assessment of specific competencies for OBGYN residents, depending on their level of training. This will enable us to go from an opportunistic learning method, to a more structured type of learning.

Some important challenges of CMBE include the threat of reductionism or becoming too granular with endless nested lists of abilities if competencies are broken down into the smallest observable units of behaviour [13]. A CBME approach also requires a certain degree of flexibility for the learner. This will also be challenging as the current system is quite inflexible with respect to service needs [14]. There needs to be a balance between training and service. The clinical environment must therefore be aligned with the intended curriculum of the CBME program, prioritizing the training of learners. Importantly, residents will also need to become more active participants in their own learning. Training programs need to cultivate a safe, well-supervised educational environment including multiple opportunities for assessment and timely feedback, essential to both CBME and patient safety.[14]

Another important factor is faculty buy-in and the need for faculty development especially in the area of assessment. [15] There is a great need for faculty development when it comes to CBME, as assessment tools will change drastically from the current system: new instructional methods and assessment tools are needed to facilitate acquisition of these competencies by learners and their subsequent entrustment. The faculty will need to make competency-based decisions on the level of supervision required by trainees, as they are ultimately making entrustment decisions for unsupervised practice.[10, 32] More frequent assessments and specific feedback from supervisors will be required to ensure that each learner meets specific EPAs in order to advance to the next stage in their residency. The idea is that continuous assessment drives and promotes learning. [7] This will require a huge investment of time to provide capable faculty assessors. Tools need to be clear and easily understood and educational time will have to be built into clinical encounters. The curricula reviewed vary in their description of assessment of residents. The Australian, Dutch, and UK curricula all have detailed descriptions of their various assessment tools, both formative and summative, with the UK curriculum and modules being the most comprehensive reviewed because they include a means to document EPAs. The Netherlands is the only curriculum that does not have a high-stakes final certification examination. This may change in the upcoming years if a pan-European consensus for OBGYN training is achieved, as described in Project for Achieving Consensus in Training (PACT). [33]

Alternative training settings such as workshops, short courses and eLearning modules are being introduced because the breadth of knowledge that a physician must acquire can no longer be managed totally by hospital experiences. [20] Assessment of clinical competence can be done in a variety of ways based on four levels, as shown in Miller's pyramid.[34] The lower cognitive levels "knows" and "knows how", can be assessed by the classical high-stakes written and oral exams. However, knowledge does not necessarily transfer into competence and is just one of the many facets that need to be assessed. The higher behavioural levels of Miller's pyramid, "Shows how" and "Does", is where we need to concentrate our efforts. Means of assessment at this level include the Objective Structure Clinical Examination (OSCE), the Objective Structured Assessment of Technical Skills (OSATS), standardized patients, and simulation. The highest level includes workplace-based assessments (ex: Mini-clinical evaluation exercise (Mini-CEX), Direct Observation of Procedural Skills (DOPS), Cased based discussions (CbDs)), portfolios, logbooks, peer evaluation, and 360° feedback. Although simulation may test at a lower level of Miller's pyramid, it may give us an outlet to do work- based assessment, since this is challenging and difficult to implement in the clinical environment of day-to-day practice.

Medical and surgical simulation will become an important and valuable tool in the training and assessment of residents in the CBD program, allowing direct observation of many technical and non-technical skills. Simulation has been defined as "a technique that creates a situation or environment to allow persons to experience a representation of a real event for the purpose of practice, learning, evaluation, testing, or to gain understanding of systems or human actions." [35] There is growing evidence that the skills learnt in simulated scenarios translate into improvements in real-life performance. [36-41] Although few studies have shown a direct impact on patient outcome, simulation-based training leads to improved clinical performance, as well as improving knowledge and comfort in procedures. It has also been shown to improve teamwork and communication.[42]. A recent survey in the Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology of Canada showed that although simulation training has increased in the Canadian residency training programs, there is a great need for a standardized and valid national simulation curriculum which would facilitate the integration of CBME. [41] This should be the focus of future studies.

#### **CONCLUSION**

This review highlights general variations in OBGYN training programs across the globe. There are variations in the training curricula, both in length and in structure/content, particularly when it comes to assessment. Even though all curricula reviewed have or will be integrating competency-based medical education into their training program, there is still a great need to develop a variety of adequate assessment tools, including simulation, in order to ultimately train competent physicians, capable of unsupervised practice. Ultimately, modifications to the curricula or even consensus for an international standard, including a standardized national simulation curriculum, may potentially increase the quality and efficiency of training, which could have a direct impact on patient safety and quality of care.

### Author's contributions:

- 1) **Dr. Milena Garofalo**: primary role in the review, data analysis, and manuscript writing.
- 2) **Dr. Rajesh Aggarwal**: research supervisor whose role was to guide, and help with the editing of the manuscript

### Acknowledgements:

We have no sources of funding, nor any other authors to acknowledge.

### Conflict of interest

Dr. Rajesh Aggarwal is a consultant for Applied Medical.

### **REFERENCES**

1. Schijven MP, Reznick RK, ten Cate OT, Grantcharov TP, Regehr G, Satterthwaite L, Thijssen AS, MacRae HM: Transatlantic comparison of the competence of surgeons at the start of their professional career. Br J Surg. 2010, 97:443-449. 10.1002/bjs.6858

2. Asch DA, Nicholson S, Srinivas S, Herrin J, Epstein AJ: Evaluating obstetrical residency programs using patient outcomes. JAMA. 2009, 302:1277-1283. 10.1001/jama.2009.1356

3. Polavarapu HV, Kulaylat AN, Sun S, Hamed OH: 100 years of surgical education: the past, present, and future. Bull Am Coll Surg. 2013, 98:22-27.

4. Rowe T: Medical education 2.0. J Obstet Gynaecol Can. 2012, 34:1019-1022.

5. Caccia N, Nakajima A, Kent N: Competency-based medical education: the wave of the future. J Obstet Gynaecol Can. 2015, 37:349-353.

6. Allen V: Listening. J Obstet Gynaecol Can. 2016, 38:104-107. 10.1016/j.jogc.2015.11.006

7. The Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada - What is Competence by Design. (2016). Accessed: http://www.royalcollege.ca/rcsite/competence-design-e.

8. ten Cate O, Scheele F: Competency-based postgraduate training: can we bridge the gap between theory and clinical practice? Acad Med. 2007, 82:542-547. 10.1097/ACM.0b013e31805559c7

9. A Five-Stage Model of the Mental Activities Involved in Directed Skill Acquisition. (1980). Accessed: October 2nd, 2016: http://www.dtic.mil/cgibin/GetTRDoc?AD=ADA084551&Location=U2&doc=GetTRDoc.pdf.

10. Ten Cate O: Nuts and bolts of entrustable professional activities. J Grad Med Educ. 2013, 5:157-158. 10.4300/JGME-D-12-00380.1

11. Rassie K: The apprenticeship model of clinical medical education: time for structural change. N Z Med J. 2017, 130:66-72.

12. Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada: Objectives of Training in the Specialty<br/>of Obstetrics and Gynecology. (2016). Accessed:<br/>http://www.royalcollege.ca/cs/groups/public/documents/document/ltaw/mti0/~edisp/rcp-<br/>00124003.pdf.

13. Frank JR, Snell LS, Cate OT, Holmboe ES, Carraccio C, Swing SR, Harris P, Glasgow NJ, Campbell C, Dath D, Harden RM, Iobst W, Long DM, Mungroo R, Richardson DL, Sherbino J, Silver I, Taber S, Talbot M, Harris KA: Competency-based medical education: theory to practice. Med Teach. 2010, 32:638-645. 10.3109/0142159X.2010.501190

14. Caccia N, Nakajima A, Scheele F, Kent N: Competency-Based Medical Education: Developing a Framework for Obstetrics and Gynaecology. J Obstet Gynaecol Can. 2015, 37:1104-1112.

15. Sklar DP: Competencies, milestones, and entrustable professional activities: what they are, what they could be. Acad Med. 2015, 90:395-397. 10.1097/ACM.00000000000659

16. Sabourin JN, Van Thournout R, Jain V, Demianczuk N, Flood C: Confidence in performing normal vaginal delivery in the obstetrics clerkship: a randomized trial of two simulators. J Obstet Gynaecol Can. 2014, 36:620-627.

17. Posner G, Bonin B, Nakajmia A: Evaluation of residents' documentation skills after a simulated operative vaginal delivery. J Obstet Gynaecol Can. 2009, 31:1064-1067.

18. World Federation for Medical Education - Postgraduate Medical Education WFME Global Standards for Quality Improvement. (2015). Accessed: July 29, 2016: http://wfme.org/standards/pgme/97-final-2015-revision-of-postgraduate-medical-education-standards/file.

19. The Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists -FRANZCOG TRAINING PROGRAM HANDBOOK 2016: RANZCOG publications. (2016). Accessed: https://www.ranzcog.edu.au/franzcog-training-program-handbookcurriculum/specialist-itp-training-handbook-and-curriculum.html.

20. The Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists -Curriculum - A framework to guide the training and practice of specialist obstetricians and gynaecologists 3rd edition: RANZCOG publications. (2015). Accessed: https://www.ranzcog.edu.au/franzcog-training-program-handbook-curriculum/specialist-itptraining-handbook-and-curriculum.html.

21. Wilson E, Janssens S, Hewett DG, Jolly B, Beckmann M: Simulation training in obstetrics and gynaecology: What's happening on the frontline? Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol. 2016, 56:496-502. 10.1111/ajo.12482

22. Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada: Specialty Training Requirements in Obstetrics and Gynecology. (2016). Accessed: http://www.royalcollege.ca/cs/groups/public/documents/document/ltaw/mti0/~edisp/rcp-00124007.pdf.

23. CanMEDS 2015 Physician Competency Framework. Ottawa: Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada. (2015). Accessed: http://canmeds.royalcollege.ca/uploads/en/framework/CanMEDS%202015%20Framework\_EN\_ Reduced.pdf.

24. Western University: Post Graduate Program Obstetrics and Gynaecology Goals & ObjectivesManual.(2014).Accessed:September10,2016:https://www.schulich.uwo.ca/obsgyn/education/postgraduate/docs/pg\_objectives\_manual.pdf.

25. Queen's University: Competency-Based Medical Education. Accessed: Sept 10, 2016: https://meds.queensu.ca/education/postgraduate/cbme.

26. The Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists - Trainees' Guide to the O&G Curriculum and Specialty Training Accessed: July 29, 2016: https://www.rcog.org.uk/globalassets/documents/careers-and-training/core-curriculum/trainees-guide-to-og-curriculum.pdf.

27. The Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists - Training Matrix Accessed: July 29, 2016: https://www.rcog.org.uk/globalassets/documents/careers-and-training/assessment-and-progression-through-training/training\_matrix.pdf.

28. The Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists - Sign-off of competency acquisition. Accessed: July 29, 2016: https://www.rcog.org.uk/en/careers-training/about-specialty-training-in-og/assessment-and-progression-through-training/Sign-off-of-competency-acquisition/.

29. Simulations Working Group Toolkit. Accessed: November 8th, 2016: http://www.acog.org/About-ACOG/ACOG-Departments/Simulations-Consortium/Simulations-Consortium-Tool-Kit.

30. American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG) - Educational Objectives: Core Curriculum in Obstetrics and Gynecology, 10th Edition. (2013). Accessed: August 6th, 2016: https://www.acog.org/About-ACOG/ACOG-Departments/CREOG/CREOG-Search/CREOG-Educational-Objectives.

31. The Obstetric and Gynecology Milestone Project - A joint initiative of The Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education, The American Board of Obstetrics and Gynecology, and The American College of Obstetrics and Gynecology. (2015). Accessed: August 6th, 2016: https://www.acgme.org/Portals/0/PDFs/Milestones/ObstetricsandGynecologyMilestones.pdf.

32. Englander R, Carraccio C: From theory to practice: making entrustable professional activities come to life in the context of milestones. Acad Med. 2014, 89:1321-1323. 10.1097/ACM.0000000000324

33. Cooke M, Irby DM, Sullivan W, Ludmerer KM: American medical education 100 years after the Flexner report. N Engl J Med. 2006, 355:1339-1344. 10.1056/NEJMra055445

34. Miller GE: The assessment of clinical skills/competence/performance. Acad Med. 1990, 65:S63-67.

35. Healthcare Simulation Dictionary. Lopreiato JO, Downing D, Gammon W, Lioce L, Sittner B, Slot V, Spain AE (eds): AHRQ Publication Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality; 2016.

36. Burchard ER, Lockrow EG, Zahn CM, Dunlow SG, Satin AJ: Simulation training improves resident performance in operative hysteroscopic resection techniques. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2007, 197:542 e541-544. 10.1016/j.ajog.2007.07.023

37. Deering S, Brown J, Hodor J, Satin AJ: Simulation training and resident performance of singleton vaginal breech delivery. Obstet Gynecol. 2006, 107:86-89. 10.1097/01.AOG.0000192168.48738.77

38. Draycott TJ, Crofts JF, Ash JP, Wilson LV, Yard E, Sibanda T, Whitelaw A: Improving neonatal outcome through practical shoulder dystocia training. Obstet Gynecol. 2008, 112:14-20. 10.1097/AOG.0b013e31817bbc61

39. Gala R, Orejuela F, Gerten K, Lockrow E, Kilpatrick C, Chohan L, Green C, Vaught J, Goldberg A, Schaffer J: Effect of validated skills simulation on operating room performance in obstetrics and gynecology residents: a randomized controlled trial. Obstet Gynecol. 2013, 121:578-584. 10.1097/AOG.0b013e318283578b

40. Larsen CR, Soerensen JL, Grantcharov TP, Dalsgaard T, Schouenborg L, Ottosen C, Schroeder TV, Ottesen BS: Effect of virtual reality training on laparoscopic surgery: randomised controlled trial. BMJ. 2009, 338:b1802. 10.1136/bmj.b1802

41. Sanders A, Wilson RD: Simulation Training in Obstetrics and Gynaecology Residency Programs in Canada. J Obstet Gynaecol Can. 2015, 37:1025-1032.

42. Okuda Y, Bryson EO, DeMaria S, Jr., Jacobson L, Quinones J, Shen B, Levine AI: The utility of simulation in medical education: what is the evidence? Mt Sinai J Med. 2009, 76:330-343. 10.1002/msj.20127

# **TABLES**

**Table 1**: Example of EPA, Milestones, and Competencies in Obstetrics and Gynecology- Adapted from the Dutch curriculum [11]

EPA/Theme: Complicated Childbirth			
COMPETENCIES	MILESTONES		
Medical Expert	<ul> <li>Diagnose obstetrical complications and summarize complex cases.</li> <li>Discuss consequences for next pregnancy.</li> <li>Provide pharmacological therapy for haemorrhage.</li> <li>Performance of assisted -delivery including caesarean section.</li> <li>Treat bleeding, shoulder dystocia and uterine inversion.</li> <li>Repair 3rd and 4th degree lacerations and cervical lacerations.</li> </ul>		
Communicator	<ul> <li>Provide patient –specific information to patient (and partner) about diagnosis, management and patient organizations that may be of use.</li> <li>Inform stakeholders (obstetrical team, obstetrician, general practitioner).</li> <li>Delivery of bad news and grief counseling.</li> </ul>		
Scholar	<ul><li>Applies evidence-based medicine in the practice.</li><li>Educates team members</li></ul>		
Collaborator	<ul> <li>Practices teamwork and takes appropriate control in acute situations.</li> <li>Ensures a suitable role distribution between residents, gynecologist and differentiated gynecologist and other participants in the care network</li> </ul>		
Manager	<ul> <li>Triage and deal with primary, secondary and tertiary care institutions.</li> <li>Management of multiple delivery rooms.</li> <li>Organize the aftercare process.</li> </ul>		
Health Advocate	• Counsel patient on preventative measure for next pregnancy if applicable.		
Professional	<ul> <li>Support the patient and family during this life event.</li> <li>Reflect on own management and experiences of events.</li> </ul>		



 Table 2:
 Postgraduate OBGYN training pathway

**Table 3:** Competency levels expected at different stages of training in the Dutch curriculum for

 the 15 basic EPAs[11]

Benchmarks for attaining levels of competency (levels 1-5) throughout training	Benchmark I Year 2	Benchmark II Year 4
Uncomplicated Antenatal care	5	
Complicated Antenatal Care	3	4
Intrapartum care	5	
Complicated Childbirth	3	4
Basic High Risk Childbirth	3	3
Uncomplicated Postpartum & Newborn Care	5	
Complicated Postpartum & Newborn Care	3	4
Basic Reproductive Medicine	2	4
Benign Outpatient Gynecology	3	4
Basic Surgery	3	4
Basic Urogynecology & Pelvic floor	2	4
Sexual Health	3	4
Basic Oncology	2	4
Peri – operative care	3	4
Vulnerable elderly	3	4

WFME Standards		Australia	Canada	Netherlands	UK	USA
Mission and Outcomes	Overall mission of the programme					
	Professionalism and professional autonomy					
	Educational outcomes					
	Participation in formulation of mission and outcomes					
	Framework of the PME Programme					
	Scientific Method					
Educational	Programme Content					
Programme	Programme Structure, Composition and Duration					
	Organisation of Education					
	The Relation Between PME and Service					
Assessment	Assessment Methods					
of trainees	RelationBetweenAssessment and Learning					

# **Table 4**: Comparison of OBGYN Curricula against WFME standards

# Key

Meets description of standards
Meets majority of description of standards (>50%)
Meets some of the description of standards (<50%)



Either not stated or does not meet the description of standards

PME: postgraduate medical education

# SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

**Supplementary Material S1:** Summary of WFME Global Standards for Postgraduate Medical Education [18]

1. Mission and Outcomes	Mission			
	Professionalism and Professional Autonomy			
	Educational Outcomes			
	Participation in Formulation of Mission and Outcomes			
2. Educational Programme	Framework of the PME Programme			
	Scientific Method			
	Programme Content			
	Programme Structure, Composition and Duration			
	Organisation of Education			
	The Relation Between PME and Service			
3. Assessment of Trainees	Assessment Methods			
	Relation Between Assessment and Learning			
4. Trainees	Admission Policy and Selection			
	Number of Trainees			
	Trainee Counselling and Support			
	Trainee Representation			
	Working Conditions			

5. Trainers	Recruitment and Selection Process
	Trainer Obligations and Trainer Development
6. Educational Resources	Physical Facilities
	Learning Settings
	Information Technology
	Clinical Teams
	Medical Research and Scholarship
	Educational Expertise
	Learning in Alternative Settings
7. Programme Evaluation	Mechanisms for Programme Monitoring and Evaluation
	Trainer and Trainee Feedback
	Performance of Qualified Doctors
	Involvement of Stakeholders
	Approval of Educational Programmes
8. Governance and	Governance
Administration	Academic Leadership
	Educational Budget and Resource Allocation
	Administration and Management
	Requirements and Regulations
9. Continuous Renewal	

### Manuscript 2

### **OBGYN Modified Delphi Survey for Entrustable Professional Activities:**

### Quantification of Importance, Benchmark Levels, and Roles in Simulation-

### **Based Training and Assessment**

<u>Published Reference:</u> Garofalo M, Aggarwal R: Obstetrics and Gynecology Modified Delphi Survey for Entrustable Professional Activities: Quantification of Importance, Benchmark Levels, and Roles in Simulation-based Training and Assessment. Cureus. 2018, 10:e3051. 10.7759/cureus.3051 OBGYN Modified Delphi Survey for Entrustable Professional Activities: Quantification of Importance, Benchmark Levels, and Roles in Simulation-Based Training and Assessment

# Milena Garofalo, MDCM,FRCSC <sup>1,2</sup> Rajesh Aggarwal, MBBS, MA, PhD, FRCS, FACS <sup>3,4</sup> <sup>1</sup> Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Faculty of Medicine, McGill University and Queen's University, Montreal, QC, and Kingston, ON, Canada <sup>2</sup> Department of Surgery, Faculty of Medicine, McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada

<sup>3</sup> Senior Vice President, Strategic Business Development, Thomas Jefferson University and Jefferson Health, Philadelphia, PA, USA

<sup>4</sup> Department of Surgery, Thomas Jefferson University and Jefferson Health, Philadelphia, PA, USA

### **Corresponding author contact information:**

Dr. Milena Garofalo

milena.garofalo@mail.mcgill.ca

ABSTRACT WORD COUNT: 249 words

MANUSCRIPT WORD COUNT: 2147 words

#### **ABSTRACT**

**OBJECTIVE** Competency-based medical education (CBME) is playing a central role in physicians' training. It focuses on competencies, measured by entrustable professional activities (EPAs). The aim of this survey is threefold: for each EPA (1) quantify the importance for Obstetrics & Gynecology (OBGYN) residency training; (2) set benchmarks; (3) identify the importance of simulation.

**METHODS** The EPAs were defined based on review of five OBGYN curricula. Two rounds of a modified Delphi via online questionnaire were performed from January to March, 2017. Experts were North American OBGYN program directors. Using a Likert scale, they rated the importance of each EPA for residency training, identified benchmark levels of competence, and roles of simulation. Consensus was defined as  $\geq$ 80% agreement.

**RESULTS** Item analysis yielded fifteen EPAs. Survey response rate was 17.47% (40 out of 229) for part 1 and 6.55% for part 2 (15 out of 229). All experts rated the importance of each EPA for residency training as "moderately important" or "absolutely essential". For benchmarking, experts agreed with a stepwise increase in level of competence, dependent residency stage. Two EPAs, "Gynecological Technical Skills & Procedures" and "High Risk Childbirth", reached consensus (rating 4 or 5) for simulation

**CONCLUSION** CBME requires EPAs and benchmarks for each residency stage. Simulation will become a valuable tool in this model. However, experts remain neutral about its role, except for technical skills. An OBGYN curriculum based on predefined EPAs, benchmarks, and adequate assessment tools, including simulation, needs to be further explored for CBME to be successful. **Key words:** simulation, competency-based education, obstetrics, gynecology, EPA

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Competency-based medical education (CBME) is playing a central role in today's training of physicians.[1-4] The concept of CBME is to ensure stages of training, with focus on specific acquisition of competencies, measured by entrustable professional activities (EPAs) and milestones.[5, 6] Competencies are defined as "the synthesis of knowledge, skills and attitudes that are reflected in professional activities". [7] The concept of EPA was introduced by ten Cate & Scheele in 2007 in order to "bridge the gap between competency-driven education and clinical practice" because "competencies are intertwined in complex ways that make them less explicit and measurable". [3, 5] An EPA is a specific task or activity that can be 'entrusted' to a person once sufficient competence has been achieved. EPAs represent day to day work: they are executable, observable, and measurable entities and can be the focus of assessment.[8] A milestone is defined as "an observable marker of an individual's ability".[6, 9] Typically each EPA integrates multiple competencies and milestones.[5, 6, 8, 9]

Based on a review of national Obstetrics & Gynecology (OBGYN) residency curricula from five countries (Australia, Canada, Netherlands, UK, and USA), it was concluded that all curricula have or will be integrating CBME into their training programs.[10] Nonetheless, there is a need to develop adequate training and assessment tools, including simulation, to ultimately deliver competent physicians, capable of unsupervised practice. Although some programs within Canada have already started piloting CBME and EPAs, [11] the national Canadian "Competence By Design" (CBD) program is expected to roll-out officially for OBGYN in 2019.[9]

Assessment of clinical competence can be done in a variety of ways based on four levels, as shown in Miller's pyramid.[12] The lower cognitive levels "knows" and "knows how", typically assessed by written and oral exams, do not ensure that knowledge is transferred into competence.

This contrasts with the higher behavioural levels of Miller's pyramid, "Shows how" and "Does", where competence can be demonstrated. Examples include simulation, Objective Structured Clinical Examination and Assessment of Technical Skills (OSCE/OSATS) and workplace-based assessments (WBAs). Simulation may serve as an additional or alternative outlet to WBAs since these remain a challenge in everyday clinical practice. Simulation will thus be a valuable tool in the training and assessment of residents in the CBD program, allowing direct observation of many technical and non-technical skills. It allows the opportunity to improve performance by mimicking reality in a safe learning environment. [13-15]

The aims of this Delphi survey are threefold: first, quantify the importance of each predefined EPA with respect to OBGYN residency training, second, set benchmark levels for each EPA, and third, identify the importance of simulation-based training and assessment for each EPA. The ultimate goal is to provide a framework for building a national curriculum based on predefined EPAs and benchmarks levels at each stage of residency training and develop training and assessment tools using simulation. This was based on expert consensus using a modified Delphi consensus method.

#### METHODS

We defined the individual items (EPAs) used in the survey based on a review of five international OBGYN curricula.[10] This process was undertaken with engagement of a medical educator and an OBGYN clinician. We established that the EPAs defined in the Dutch curriculum would be the framework, since the it most closely resembles the Canadian model. [7] We excluded potential EPAs that constituted general characteristics that could be part of the description and milestones for other more specific OBGYN EPAs. (ex: ethical and legal issues, patient safety, communication) We performed two rounds of a modified Delphi survey via online questionnaire

through "Survey Monkey" to (1) rate the importance of each EPA for residency training, (2) rate the importance of simulation-based training and assessment for each EPA and (3) identify benchmark levels of competence, for each specified stage of residency training. Experts in the study were OBGYN residency program directors across Canada and United States, who received an email request to participate in an online questionnaire. Experts were asked to rate the importance of each EPA for residency training based on a Likert scale from 1 to 5:

- 1. Not at all important
- 2. Minimal importance
- 3. Neutral
- 4. Moderately essential
- 5. Absolutely essential

They were then asked to rate the importance of simulation-based training and assessment for each EPA, using the same Likert scale. Finally, the last part of the survey set out to identify benchmark levels of competence, for each specified stage of residency training. We defined the stages of residency training using Eraut's summary of Dreyfus and Dreyfus' model of skill acquisition [16, 17] and the USA "Milestone Project" levels of observed behavior [18]:

Stage 1: Novice Stage 2: Advanced Beginner Stage 3: Competent Stage 4: Proficient

We can parallel these to the 4 stages of residency in the Canadian CBD continuum: Transition to discipline, Foundations of discipline, Core of discipline, and Transition to practice. [19] We didn't include the fifth stage of expert/master as it is expected to reach this stage later in one's career,

during continuing professional development. We defined the levels of competence using the competency levels in the Dutch OBGYN curriculum[7], mapped to the Canadian Model and originally based on the instructional scaffolding theory of the zone of proximal development (ZPD) in educational psychology.[3, 6, 20-22] This theory describes three zones: what a learner can do; what a learner can do with guidance (ZPD); and what a learner can do unaided.

Level 1: Modeling - has knowledge of

Level 2: Scaffolding – performs with full supervision

Level 3: Fading - performs with limited supervision

Level 4: Entrustment - performs without supervision

Level 5: Able to supervise/teach others

We collected and analyzed responses from this panel of experts. We defined consensus as  $\geq 80\%$  agreement for a rating of 4 (moderately essential) and 5 (absolutely essential). Two rounds of the Delphi survey took place. In the second round, experts were told the mean responses from the first round. Ethics approval was granted by the Institutional Review Board of the McGill University Faculty of Medicine.

#### RESULTS

The item analysis based on the review of five international OBGYN curricula yielded a list of 15 EPAs:

- 1. Uncomplicated Antenatal & Prenatal Care
- 2. Complicated Antenatal & Prenatal Care
- 3. Intrapartum Care
- 4. Childbirth
- 5. High Risk Childbirth

- 6. Postpartum & newborn care
- 7. Benign Gynecology
- 8. Gynecological Technical Skills & Procedures
- 9. Pre-operative care
- 10. Postoperative Care
- 11. Mature Women's Health
- 12. Gynecological oncology
- 13. Urogynecology & Pelvic Floor Problems
- 14. Pediatric & Adolescent Gynecology
- 15. Sexual & Reproductive Health

The overall response rates for the survey were 17.47% (40 out of 229) for part 1 and 6.55% for part 2 (15 out of 229). Of those that participated in part 1, 17.5% were Canadian program directors and 82.5% were American, giving a Canadian response rate of 38.89% and an American response rate of 15.64%. In part 2, 20% were Canadian program directors giving response rates of 16.67% and 80.00% were American with response rates of 5.69%. Most experts were from academic or university-affiliated community hospitals. (Figure 1) The majority of experts (84.38% to 100.00%) experts rated the importance of each EPA for residency training as "moderately important" (4) or "absolutely essential" (5) (Table 1A). There was much more variability in the responses when it came to rating the importance for each EPA for simulation-based training and assessment. Only two EPAs had a consensus of  $\geq$ 80% for rating of 4 or 5 for both simulation-based training and assessment: "Gynecological Technical Skills & Procedures" and "High Risk Childbirth". The following highest rated EPA was "Childbirth" at 71.43-72.41%. (Tables 1B and 1C) Experts remained "neutral" (mean of 3 [Standard Error of the Mean (SEM) 0.17 and 0.15] for

all other EPAs, with regards to their importance in simulation. The last part of or survey set out to determine benchmark levels for each EPA at each stage of residency. At Stage 1, the novice learner is expected to be modelling (level 1) or scaffolding (level 2) (mean 1.47-1.56, SEM 0.07-0.08), with 90.48% to 100.00% consensus. At Stage 2, the advanced beginner is expected to be scaffolding (level 2) or fading (level 3) (mean 2.49-2.50, SEM 0.09), with 91.67% to 100.00% consensus. At Stage 3, the competent learner is expected to be fading (level 3) and be entrusted (level 4) for most EPAs (mean 3.51-3.69, SEM 0.10-0.11), with 83.33% to 100.00% consensus. There were two exceptions in Round 1 where consensus was not met: "Postpartum and newborn care" (77.78%) and "Post-operative care" (77.78%), suggesting that for these EPAs, the learner may reach level 5 at an earlier stage in training. At Stage 4, the proficient learner is expected to be entrusted (level 4) and can supervise and teach others (level 5) for most EPAs (mean 4.39-4.54, SEM 0.09-0.11), with 80.00% to 100.00% consensus. (Table 2, Figure 2)

#### DISCUSSION

This Delphi consensus determined the importance of OBGYN EPAs with respect to residency training, set benchmarks for each stage of residency, and identified the role of simulation in both training and assessment. First, a task analysis yielded a list of 15 EPAs for OBGYN based on a review of international curricula. Second, this list was virtually presented as a questionnaire to a North American panel of OBGYN residency program directors and validated through consensus. For the benchmarks, the majority of experts agreed that for each EPA there is a stepwise increase in the level of competence depending on the stage of residency. Most of the panel in this study were neutral about the role of simulation in OBGYN, except for the learning of surgical and procedural skills. However, the value of simulation for residency training extends beyond that of purely technical skills. There is a growing body of literature showing its use in team-based training,

communication, and crisis-resource management. [23-26] The EPAs listed in this study may have been too broad for the experts to see the potential. Another survey, outlining more specific milestones may elicit a better response.

In the field of medical education, a Delphi consensus is a common way to determine components of a curriculum, develop assessment tools, and define competencies.[27, 28] One of the main benefits of the online consensus group is that it has the potential to include a large number of participants from different and dispersed locations, improving feasibility. It is also inexpensive, anonymous, and limits the dominance of certain individuals that can disproportionately influence the group, avoiding direct confrontation of the experts.[27] However, this may limit the potential for discussion and debate. [29]

Limitations of the study include low response rates, especially in the second round of the survey (6.55%), which may affect the generalizability of our results. This may in part be due to the online platform via email, which are often ignored. In the future, a similar survey may yield better response rates if sent by a group with authority, such as the Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada. In addition, the survey would likely be better addressed to simulation or medical education experts, rather than program directors, which may yield a better response rate. Subgroup analysis based on demographics was not possible, given the small numbers, which may have introduced a geographical bias. We had 40 responses in part 1 and 15 responses in part 2. Group size in this setting does not depend on statistical power, but rather on group dynamics. Studies have shown that 10-18 participants in a Delphi study is recommended to reach conclusions and that expertise of the panel may be more important than size. [29, 30] Another limitation is missing data: some experts didn't complete all sections. This was taken into account when calculating the means based on the number of responses for each item and not the total responses.

#### **CONCLUSION**

In the last 15 years, there has been a reform in medical education with the integration of CBME for training. This model focuses on the learner and aims to ensure that all trainees graduate as competent physicians in all aspects of their specialty. It emphasizes the acquisition of abilities, skills, and attitudes, rather than focusing solely on time and knowledge[31]. Thus, with outcomes in mind, abilities and competencies that each graduate needs are defined and developed into milestones and EPAs. Simulation will become an important and valuable tool in the training and assessment of residents in the CBD program, allowing for direct observation of skills. With CBD just around the corner, all medical specialties, including OBGYN, will need to devise EPAs for each stage of residency and set benchmark levels for the trainees. These benchmarks will identify learners reaching milestones at varying speeds, allowing to tailor each learner's needs individually as well as to identify those that would need additional help earlier on. An OBGYN national curriculum based on predefined EPAs and benchmark levels, as well as adequate assessment tools, including simulation, needs to be further explored for CBME to be successful. The results of this study can help inform future curricula.

### Author's contributions:

- 3) Dr. Milena Garofalo: primary role in the review, data analysis, and manuscript writing.
- 4) **Dr. Rajesh Aggarwal**: research supervisor whose role was to guide, and help with the editing of the manuscript

### Acknowledgements:

The authors wish to thank the Blema and Arnold Steinberg Foundation. This research was funded through an unrestricted grant from the Blema and Arnold Steinberg Foundation.

### Conflict of interest

Dr. Rajesh Aggarwal is a consultant for Applied Medical.

### **REFERENCES**

1. Rowe T: Medical education 2.0. J Obstet Gynaecol Can. 2012, 34:1019-1022.

2. Caccia N, Nakajima A, Kent N: Competency-based medical education: the wave of the future. J Obstet Gynaecol Can. 2015, 37:349-353.

3. Caccia N, Nakajima A, Scheele F, Kent N: Competency-Based Medical Education: Developing a Framework for Obstetrics and Gynaecology. J Obstet Gynaecol Can. 2015, 37:1104-1112.

4. Allen V: Listening. J Obstet Gynaecol Can. 2016, 38:104-107. 10.1016/j.jogc.2015.11.006

5. ten Cate O, Scheele F: Competency-based postgraduate training: can we bridge the gap between theory and clinical practice? Acad Med. 2007, 82:542-547. 10.1097/ACM.0b013e31805559c7

6. Carraccio C, Englander R, Gilhooly J, Mink R, Hofkosh D, Barone MA, Holmboe ES: Building a Framework of Entrustable Professional Activities, Supported by Competencies and Milestones, to Bridge the Educational Continuum. Acad Med. 2016. 10.1097/ACM.00000000001141

7. Better Education for Obstetrics and Gynecology (BOEG): Dutch National Competency Based Curriculum for Obstetrics & Gynaecology, English version. Accessed: August 2nd, 2016: https://www.knmg.nl/web/file?uuid=bea1113c-c9bf-44b5-9c35-05da749b1162&owner=5c945405-d6ca-4deb-aa16-7af2088aa173&contentid=2003&elementid=153285.

8. Ten Cate O: Nuts and bolts of entrustable professional activities. J Grad Med Educ. 2013, 5:157-158. 10.4300/JGME-D-12-00380.1

9. Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada. About Competence by Design. (2016). Accessed: July 11th, 2018: http://www.royalcollege.ca/rcsite/competence-design-e.

10. Garofalo M, Aggarwal R: Competency-Based Medical Education and Assessment of Training: Review of Selected National Obstetrics and Gynaecology Curricula. J Obstet Gynaecol Can. 2017, 39:534-544 e531. 10.1016/j.jogc.2017.01.024

11. Queen's University: Competency-Based Medical Education. Accessed: February 18th, 2018: https://meds.queensu.ca/academics/cbme.

12. Miller GE: The assessment of clinical skills/competence/performance. Acad Med. 1990, 65:S63-67.

13. Sabourin JN, Van Thournout R, Jain V, Demianczuk N, Flood C: Confidence in performing normal vaginal delivery in the obstetrics clerkship: a randomized trial of two simulators. J Obstet Gynaecol Can. 2014, 36:620-627.

14. Posner G, Bonin B, Nakajmia A: Evaluation of residents' documentation skills after a simulated operative vaginal delivery. J Obstet Gynaecol Can. 2009, 31:1064-1067.

15. Healthcare Simulation Dictionary. Lopreiato J O (Ed.) DD, Gammon W, Lioce L, Sittner B, Slot V, Spain A E (Assoc. Eds.), and the Terminology & Concepts Working Group (ed): Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, Rockville, MD; 2016:0043.

16. A Five-Stage Model of the Mental Activities Involved in Directed Skill Acquisition. (1980).Accessed:October2nd,2016:http://www.dtic.mil/cgi-bin/GetTRDoc?AD=ADA084551&Location=U2&doc=GetTRDoc.pdf.

17. Eraut M: Developing professional knowledge and competence. Falmer Press, London ; Washington, D.C.; 1994.

18. The Obstetric and Gynecology Milestone Project - A joint initiative of The Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education, The American Board of Obstetrics and Gynecology, and The American College of Obstetrics and Gynecology. (2015). Accessed: August 6th, 2016: https://www.acgme.org/Portals/0/PDFs/Milestones/ObstetricsandGynecologyMilestones.pdf.

19. Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada: CBD Competence Continuum. (2015). Accessed: July 11th, 2018: www.royalcollege.ca/rcsite/.../cbd/cbd-competence-continuum-diagram-legal-e.pdf.

20. Zone of Proximal Development. (2012). Accessed: December 29th, 2016: www.simplypsychology.org/Zone-of-Proximal-Development.html.

21. Snell L, Frank J, Stoneham G, De Rossi S, Fletcher W, Gillis K, al. e: Chapter 7: competencybased medical education (CBME). Competence by design: reshaping Canadian medical education. Frank JR, Harris KA (eds): Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons, Ottawa (ON); 2014:99-105.

22. Vygotsky L: Thought and Language. MIT Press, Cambridge (MA); 1986:342.

23. Fung L, Boet S, Bould MD, Qosa H, Perrier L, Tricco A, Tavares W, Reeves S: Impact of crisis resource management simulation-based training for interprofessional and interdisciplinary teams: A systematic review. J Interprof Care. 2015, 29:433-444. 10.3109/13561820.2015.1017555

24. Gillman LM, Brindley P, Paton-Gay JD, Engels PT, Park J, Vergis A, Widder S: Simulated Trauma and Resuscitation Team Training course-evolution of a multidisciplinary trauma crisis resource management simulation course. Am J Surg. 2016, 212:188-193 e183. 10.1016/j.amjsurg.2015.07.024

25. Siassakos D, Fox R, Bristowe K, Angouri J, Hambly H, Robson L, Draycott TJ: What makes maternity teams effective and safe? Lessons from a series of research on teamwork, leadership and team training. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2013, 92:1239-1243. 10.1111/aogs.12248

26. van der Nelson HA, Siassakos D, Bennett J, Godfrey M, Spray L, Draycott T, Donald F: Multiprofessional team simulation training, based on an obstetric model, can improve teamwork in other areas of health care. Am J Med Qual. 2014, 29:78-82. 10.1177/1062860613485281

27. Humphrey-Murto S, Varpio L, Gonsalves C, Wood TJ: Using consensus group methods such as Delphi and Nominal Group in medical education research. Medical Teacher. 2017, 39:14-19. 10.1080/0142159x.2017.1245856

28. Thangaratinam S, Redman CW: The Delphi technique. Education: The Obstetrician & Gynaecologist. 2005, 7:120-125. 10.1576/toag.7.2.120.27071

29. Okoli C, Pawlowski SD: The Delphi method as a research tool: an example, design considerations and applications. Inform Manage-Amster. 2004, 42:15-29. 10.1016/j.im.2003.11.002

30. Murphy MK, Black NA, Lamping DL, McKee CM, Sanderson CF, Askham J, Marteau T: Consensus development methods, and their use in clinical guideline development. Health Technol Assess. 1998, 2:i-iv, 1-88.

31. Frank JR, Snell LS, Cate OT, Holmboe ES, Carraccio C, Swing SR, Harris P, Glasgow NJ, Campbell C, Dath D, Harden RM, Iobst W, Long DM, Mungroo R, Richardson DL, Sherbino J, Silver I, Taber S, Talbot M, Harris KA: Competency-based medical education: theory to practice. Med Teach. 2010, 32:638-645. 10.3109/0142159X.2010.501190

# TABLES

# Table 1A: Importance of each EPA for Residency Training

EPA	Round 1		Round 2	
	<u>Mean</u>	<u>% 4 or 5</u>	Mean	<u>% 4 or 5</u>
Uncomplicated Antenatal & Prenatal Care	4.94	100.00	5.00	100.00
Complicated Antenatal & Prenatal Care	4.84	100.00	4.93	100.00
Intrapartum Care	4.94	100.00	5.00	100.00
Childbirth	4.91	100.00	5.00	100.00
High Risk Childbirth	4.72	93.75	5.00	100.00
Postpartum & newborn care	4.5	93.75	4.86	100.00
Benign Gynecology	4.91	100.00	5.00	100.00
Gynecological Technical Skills & Procedures	4.97	100.00	4.93	100.00
Pre-operative care	4.78	93.75	5.00	100.00
Postoperative Care	4.88	100.00	5.00	100.00
Mature Women's Health	4.72	96.88	4.86	100.00
Gynecological oncology	4.41	93.75	4.57	100.00
Urogynecology & Pelvic Floor Problems	4.44	93.75	4.57	100.00
Pediatric & Adolescent Gynecology	4.13	84.38	4.29	100.00
Sexual & Reproductive Health	4.55	90.32	4.64	100.00

EPA	Round 1		Round 2	
	<u>Mean</u>	<u>% 4 or 5</u>	<u>Mean</u>	<u>% 4 or 5</u>
Uncomplicated Antenatal & Prenatal Care	2.14	13.79	2.43	14.29
Complicated Antenatal & Prenatal Care	2.79	31.03	2.57	14.29
Intrapartum Care	3.55	58.62	3.31	61.54
Childbirth	3.72	72.41	3.57	71.43
High Risk Childbirth	4.00	75.86	4.14	92.86
Postpartum & newborn care	2.59	31.03	3.00	35.71
Benign Gynecology	2.83	34.48	2.92	46.15
Gynecological Technical Skills & Procedures	4.41	89.66	4.57	100.00
Pre-operative care	2.34	10.34	2.36	14.29
Postoperative Care	2.72	34.42	2.50	14.29
Mature Women's Health	2.24	6.90	2.29	14.29
Gynecological oncology	2.83	24.14	2.57	21.43
Urogynecology & Pelvic Floor Problems	3.17	37.93	3.29	42.86
Pediatric & Adolescent Gynecology	2.72	24.14	2.79	28.57
Sexual & Reproductive Health	2.79	31.04	2.79	28.57

# Table 1B: Importance of each EPA for Simulation-Based Training
EPA	Round 1		Round 2	
	Mean	<u>% 4 or 5</u>	Mean	<u>% 4 or 5</u>
Uncomplicated Antenatal & Prenatal Care	2.41	17.24	2.50	14.29
Complicated Antenatal & Prenatal Care	2.93	34.48	2.64	14.29
Intrapartum Care	3.48	62.07	3.15	61.54
Childbirth	3.72	72.41	3.64	71.43
High Risk Childbirth	3.90	75.86	4.07	85.71
Postpartum & newborn care	2.66	34.48	3.00	38.46
Benign Gynecology	2.90	37.93	2.79	35.71
Gynecological Technical Skills & Procedures	4.21	89.66	4.07	85.71
Pre-operative care	2.34	10.34	2.50	14.29
Postoperative Care	2.76	34.48	2.50	14.29
Mature Women's Health	2.38	13.79	2.21	7.14
Gynecological oncology	2.83	24.14	2.50	14.29
Urogynecology & Pelvic Floor Problems	3.17	41.38	3.21	35.71
Pediatric & Adolescent Gynecology	2.62	17.24	2.79	28.57
Sexual & Reproductive Health	2.69	27.59	2.79	28.57

# Table 1C: Importance of each EPA for Simulation-Based Assessment

# **FIGURES**



# **Figure 1: Delphi Survey Demographics**

Figure 2: Benchmarks for each Entrustable Professional Activity (EPA) – "For each stage of residency training, what is the expected overall mean level of competence?"







# Manuscript 3

Simulation in Obstetrics and Gynecology for the

Training of Health Care Professionals: A Systematic Review

# Simulation in Obstetrics and Gynecology for the

# **Training of Health Care Professionals: A Systematic Review**

# **Authors**

# Milena Garofalo, MDCM, FRCSC<sup>1,2</sup>, Celine Giordano, MDCM<sup>2,3</sup>, Taline Ekmekjian, MLIS<sup>4</sup>, Rajesh Aggarwal, MBBS, MA, PhD, FRCS, FACS<sup>5,6</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Hawkesbury General Hospital, ON, Canada

- <sup>2</sup> Department of Surgery, Faculty of Medicine, McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada
- <sup>3</sup> Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Faculty of Medicine, McGill University, Montreal,

QC, Canada

- <sup>4</sup> McGill University Health Centre
- <sup>5</sup> Senior Vice President, Strategic Business Development, Thomas Jefferson University and Jefferson Health, Philadelphia, PA, USA

<sup>6</sup> Department of Surgery, Thomas Jefferson University and Jefferson Health, Philadelphia, PA, US

# **Corresponding author contact information:**

Dr. Milena Garofalo

milena.garofalo@mail.mcgill.ca

Abstract Word count: 471

Manuscript word count: 3338

#### **ABSTRACT**

#### **Background**

Simulation-based training is gaining popularity in medicine. It represents an additional means of achieving or maintaining competence, which could have a direct impact on patient safety and quality of care. Its current role in the field of obstetrics and gynecology (OBGYN), including its use and effectiveness, needs to be better understood.

The objectives of this systematic review are to review and synthesize the existing medical education evidence that addresses the question: "What are the current educational outcomes for health professions learners using simulation in OBGYN?". This was compared with no intervention or with other educational activities.

#### <u>Methods</u>

*Eligibility criteria:* All articles were independently reviewed by two reviewers. Inclusion criteria included original research only, with available full text, English or French, evaluating simulation in the context of OBGYN for training any health care professionals with an outcome based on modified Kirkpatrick's levels for appraising interventions in medical education.

*Information sources:* Five databases (Medline [Ovid], Embase [Ovid], Cochrane Library [Wiley], CINAHL [Ebsco] Web of Science [Thomson Reuters]) were searched from inception until December 13, 2016. The search identified articles in any language, which included variations of terms for Obstetrics & Gynecology and terms for Simulation Training.

*Risk of bias:* Data was extracted systematically from the 316 eligible studies by one reviewer using a pre-determined coding protocol. Data was synthesized qualitatively and by tabular presentation based on the modified Kirkpatrick model. The quality and strengths of the

included studies were appraised using the Medical Education Research Study Quality Instrument (MERSQI).

#### <u>Results</u>

A total of 7153 titles and abstracts of studies retrieved were screened independently in duplicate by two review authors. This was followed by a full text evaluation of the included studies (n=486), resulting in 316 articles for final inclusion. Most studies took place in the USA (46%), and almost 80% of the included studies published after 2007. There was an equal distribution of studies pertaining to obstetrics and gynecology, the types of learners varied from students to attending staff, and there was a wide variety of simulation modalities described. More than half of the studies (59.4%) had some form of feedback. Most studies involved a single institution, and less than ¼ were randomized controlled trials. The quality of the included studies, as measured by the MERSQI, increased with the years, with a mean MERSQI score of 11.44 (SD 2.55), and median value of 12.0 (range 5-18). Domains with the lowest scores were validity evidence. 75.0% of the studies relayed outcomes pertaining to change in knowledge or skills (level 2). The highest level 4 (changes in patient/health care outcomes) was only represented by 7.3% of studies.

#### **Discussion**

Simulation has an important role to play in the field of OBGYN and there are increasing numbers of high-quality studies demonstrating that simulation can improve clinical skills and knowledge in the workplace and positively influence healthcare systems and patient safety.

<u>Systematic Review Registration number</u>: PROSPERO CRD42017055405 <u>http://www.crd.york.ac.uk/PROSPERO/display\_record.php?ID=CRD42017055405</u>

**Key words**: Obstetrics, Gynecology, Simulation training, Internship and Residency, Medical Education

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Simulation is defined as the "re-creation or imitation of something real" whereas simulation-based education (SBE) is an instructional method in medical education that uses different simulation modalities (ex: part task trainers, mannequins, virtual reality, standardized patients...etc.) to "re-create some component of the clinical encounter for the purposes of training or assessment."[1] Simulators have been widely used in the field of obstetrics and gynecology (OBGYN) as early as the 1600s with the use of "phantoms" to teach midwives about difficult childbirth. [2] SBE is gaining popularity in medicine, notably in residency education. It not only allows for the opportunity to enhance learners' knowledge and skills by mimicking clinical encounters, but it also does so in a safe learning environment, where there are no direct threats to patients. [3] [1]It represents an additional means of achieving or maintaining competence, which could have a direct impact on patient safety, healthcare outcomes, and quality of care.[4, 5] Although the use of SBE for training and assessment in medical education is increasing, its current role in the field of OBGYN, including its use and effectiveness, needs to be better understood.

The objectives of this systematic review are to review and synthesize the existing medical education evidence that addresses the question: "What are the current educational outcomes for health professions learners using simulation in OBGYN?". This was compared with no intervention or with other educational activities. Thus, OBGYN research addressing the efficacy of simulation as a training methodology as opposed to research using simulation as an investigative methodology was reviewed.

#### Kirkpatrick's four-level framework for evaluating training

The effectiveness of any training program can be evaluated using Kirkpatrick's model for evaluating training programs has been around since 1967 and over the years, it has evolved and been adapted to the field of medical education. [6, 7] It is a four-level framework that classifies the effectiveness of an educational intervention depending on the outcome. According to the criteria, the effectiveness of learning can be described as an ordinal construct of four levels: Reaction (level 1), Learning (level 2), Behavior (level 3), and Results (level 3). The majority of studies in medical education research report outcomes at levels 1 and 2. [8-10] However, as you move up from one level to the next, the information provided becomes more difficult to gather, but more valuable. For the purposes of this review, an adapted Kirkpatrick model, often cited in medical education research, was used. [11-14] (See Table 1)

#### Medical Education Research Study Quality Instrument (MERSQI)

To our knowledge, there are three measures that have been used to evaluate the methodological quality of systematic reviews pertaining to medical education: the MERSQI [8-10, 15], the Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS) [9, 15-17], and the Best evidence in Medical Education (BEME) global rating [14]. The MERSQI was first described in 2007, "designed to measure the quality of experimental, quasi-experimental, and observational studies."[10] It includes 10 items, grouped into 6 domains: study design, sampling, type of data (subjective or objective), validity (internal structure, content, and relationships to other variables), data analysis, and outcomes (based on Kirkpatrick's levels). Each domain has a maximum score of 3 for a total maximum score of 18 (range 5-18). (see Table 2). Cook et al. 2011 found positive associations between all three of these scoring systems and reporting quality, using the Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) statement [8]. The highest interrater agreement (ICC $\geq$ 0.76) and strongest correlation between reporting and methodological quality was found with the MERSQI score (rho = 0.64, p<0.0001).[8] They also found that studies with higher methodology scores also had higher reporting indices.[8] Furthermore, many other

reviews have published evidence supporting its score validity. [8-10, 15] For studies of simulationbased training coding with both the MERSQI and NOS, a statistically significant strong correlation has been reported (rho = 0.60, p<0.0001).[9] Although, it remains unclear when appraising individual studies whether to use one scoring system over another or a combination of both, the MERSQI was chosen for this systematic review.

#### **METHODS**

We conducted and reported on this review in accordance with PRISMA guidelines.[18]

#### <u>Protocol and Registration</u>

A PROSPERO protocol of the systematic review exists with registration number CRD42017055405. It can be accessed via web at: http://www.crd.york.ac.uk/PROSPERO/display\_record.php?ID=CRD42017055405

#### Eligibility criteria

The search identified articles in any language, which included variations of terms for Obstetrics & Gynecology and terms for Simulation Training. We sought to include studies that evaluated original research only, with accessible and retrievable full text, in any language, with no restriction on publication date. Participants included any health professions learner. Only studies evaluating simulation in the context of OBGYN in which there was an educational outcome based on the Kirkpatrick's levels of hierarchy were included. This was modified from our original eligibility criteria, which also included those studies in which the outcome was the validation of a simulator or assessment tool and those that identified system or performance gaps. These were only included if they also had a Kirkpatrick outcome. We defined a health professions learner as any learner involved in clinical care, including, medical students, residents, nurses, physicians, and midwives. Simulation was taken in its broadest definition: "A technique that creates a situation or

environment to allow persons to experience a representation of a real event for the purpose of practice, learning, evaluation, testing, or to gain understanding of systems or human actions."[3] This would include, but is not limited to, high-fidelity (or theatre-based) simulation, task trainers or simulators, virtual reality, and standardized patients.

#### Information sources and search strategy

The following databases were searched for relevant studies: MEDLINE (via Ovid 1946 to 13/Dec/2016) Embase Classic + Embase (via Ovid 1947 to 13/Dec/2016); the Cochrane Library (to 13/Dec/2016); Web of Science (via Thomson Reuters, to 13/Dec/2016) and CINAHL (via Ebsco, to 13/Dec/2016). The search strategy used text words and relevant indexing to retrieve reports documenting the role of simulation training in Obstetrics and/or Gynecology. No language or date limits were applied. The full MEDLINE strategy (Appendix 1) was applied to all databases, with modifications to search terms as necessary.

References from the search were imported into an EndNote library. A de-duplication was performed after all databases results were imported

#### Study Selection

Studies were selected based on the eligibility criteria outlined above. Only those texts written in either English or French (as these were read and understood by the reviewers), were included in final selection. After the removal of duplicates, records were initially screened by title and abstract, after which full texts were assessed for final eligibility. Refer the PRISMA flow diagram for more details (Figure 1). Studies in which the final outcome measured something other than defined by the Kirkpatrick model, such as system or performance gaps or the validation of a simulation model or assessment tool were also included initially (in the title and abstract screening). These studies were ultimately excluded in the final full-text screening if they did not also report an outcome based on the Kirkpatrick four-level framework. These studies can be the subject of a separate systematic review. When we found duplicate reports of the same study, we included only one report. Two reviewers independently assessed the eligibility of bibliographic records in the first screening (abstract/title). For feasibility reasons, for the final inclusion/exclusion decision (full-text review), a computer-generated random sample of 20% of these originally screened articles was independently reviewed by two reviewers. Any disagreements were resolved by consensus and when necessary, by appeal to a third party. If agreement was  $\geq$ 90%, it was assumed that agreement would be  $\geq$ 90% for the remaining articles.

#### Data collection process, data items, and risk of bias

All relevant data from included studies was extracted by one reviewer. A data abstraction tool using Excel was developed, but not piloted. Duplicate publications from multiple reports on the same study were identified by comparing author names, intervention, sample sizes, and outcomes, and double counting was avoided in this way. To extract data on the methodological quality of the studies, we used the MERSQI. We also extracted data on (1) characteristics of participants (including type of health care learner and setting); (2) type of simulation ; (3) sampling (total number of participants); (4) name of evaluation instrument used if applicable; (5) all outcomes reported, including the Kirkpatrick levels; (6) summary of study results; and (7) study conclusions and interpretations. Studies were summarized according to the Kirkpatrick Model for evaluating educational outcomes. The methodological quality and strengths of the included studies were assessed using the MERSQI. The total MERSQI score was calculated as the percentage of total achievable points (accounting for "not applicable" responses) and then adjusted to a standard denominator of 18 to allow for comparison of scores across studies.

#### Summary Measures

The primary outcome measure was the Kirkpatrick level of the outcome of each included study (level 1 to 4) as well as the MERSQI score.

#### Synthesis of results, risk of bias across studies, and additional analysis

Results were not combined in any way. No specific method was used to investigate bias across studies, but rather the quality of the studies was evaluated using the MERSQI score. No additional analyses were done.

#### RESULTS

A PRISMA flow diagram illustrates the number of records at each phase of the review (Fig. 1). 7153 studies entered the initial screening and 6667 were excluded. The remaining 486 records were evaluated based on the full text. 170 were excluded for one or more of the following reasons: Not original research (2), no full text available (13), no health professional learners (1), no simulation or simulation itself not being evaluated (13), text not available in English or French (18), study unrelated to the field of OBGYN (7), and no Kirkpatrick level of outcome identified (116). No additional records were selected from citing articles, clinical trials registries, or by contacting researchers. During the final inclusion/exclusion decision, a randomized selection of 20% of these originally screened articles (n= 98) resulted in 94% agreement between the two independent reviewers, thus it was assumed that agreement would be >90% for the remaining articles. A total of 316 articles were retained for final qualitative synthesis [19-268][269-334] The Medline strategy was rerun in May 2018 and yielded 794 additional articles. However, this new search was not included in the review prior to submission due to time constraints and lack of a team to decrease the workload.

The included studies represented 38 countries in total. Almost half (46%) of the included studies took place in the USA. Only 4% were Canadian. The subjects covered were equally

distributed between obstetrics and gynecology (almost 50/50). Examples of obstetrical simulations represented by the sample include (but are not limited to) obstetrical emergencies (ex: postpartum hemorrhage), shoulder dystocia, cord prolapse, eclampsia) including multidisciplinary team and CRM skills, technical skills stations (ex: perineal laceration repair, cervical exam, fetal scalp sampling, FHR, ultrasound, operative vaginal delivery, breech delivery, vaginal delivery), and perimortem C/S. Examples of gynecological simulations included surgical skills via specific task trainers or virtual reality trainers (Laparoscopic, hysteroscopic and robotic skills) ultrasound skills, pelvic exam, pediatric adolescent gynecology simulators, intrauterine device insertion, and counselling (such as contraception, tobacco cessation). Type of heath profession learners included multidisciplinary teams, OBGYN and other residents (ex: radiology, surgery), fellows, students (nursing, midwifery, medicine), midwives, consultants/attending OBGYN staff, and nurses. There was a wide variety of simulation modalities used including theatre-based, virtual reality, task trainer, mannequins, standardized patients, animal/cadaver models, computer, hybrid models, in situ simulation, team-based, and serious games. More than half of the studies (59.4%) had some form of feedback, but it was not always clear what kind. This included individual and group feedback, formal debriefing, computer feedback, facilitation, and deliberate practice.

The year of publication of the earliest included study was 1971. However, there was a notable increase in the amount of studies after 2005, with the majority (57%) of the included studies published between 2012 and 2016 and almost 80% of the included studies published after 2007 (between 2008 and 2016). A similar trend was observed with the median MERSQI scores, whereby the quality of the included studies, as measured by the MERSQI score, increased with the years. (See Figure 2) The mean MERSQI score was 11.44 (SD 2.55), with a mode of 12.5 and median value of 12.0, thus almost creating a normal distribution, with most scores concentrated

between 10 and 14 (representing 73%). 22% of studies fell into the lower end of the curve (score of 5 to 9) and only 5% of studies totaled a score of 15 or greater, with only 2 studies having a perfect score of 18. (See Figure 3) The first article, "Simulation-based team training for multiprofessional obstetric care teams to improve patient outcome: a multicentre, cluster randomised controlled trial", published in 2016 by Fransen et al. was a randomized controlled trial conducted in multiple obstetric units in the Netherlands [129]. Multiple types of simulators were used including high fidelity mannequins like Noelle ((Gaumard, Miami, FL, USA) as well as hybrid models using PROMPT birthing simulator (Limbs & Things, Bristol, UK). A total of 471 medical professionals underwent training and outcomes were analysed for 28657 women via chart review of obstetric complications during the first-year post intervention. Team training reduced trauma due to shoulder dystocia by two-fold and doubled invasive treatment for severe postpartum haemorrhage compared with no intervention. The second article with the highest MERSOI score, "Didactic and simulation nontechnical skills team training to improve perinatal patient outcomes in a community hospital" was published in 2011 by Riley et al [266]. It was also a randomized controlled trial of 3 small community hospitals in Minnesota, USA, mainly looking at obstetrical team-based simulation. Perinatal morbidity and mortality data were prospectively collected for both control and intervention groups. A statistically significant and persistent improvement of 37% in perinatal morbidity was observed between pre and postintervention for the hospital exposed to the simulation program.

Domains with the lowest scores were validity evidence concerning internal structure as well as relationship to other variables, reported in only 22.0% of applicable studies, compared to content validity reported in 63.6%. The vast majority (more than 80%) of studies involved a single institution; only 18.4% of studies were multisite. For the type of study design, most (39.6%)

involved a single group with pretest and post test, with only 21.8% being randomized controlled trials. The remainder of the studies were single group post test only or cross-sectional (19.0%) and two group, non randomized (19.6%). Data was objective and was presented as 'beyond descriptive' in the majority of studies (72.8% and 78.5%, respectively).

With respect to the Kirkpatrick's four-level framework for evaluating training, for the most part, studies reporting higher levels of outcomes also reported the lower levels thus level 4 outcomes for example, also encompassed levels 1 through 3. We found that 5.7% of studies reported only at level 1 (reactions). The vast majority, 75.0%, of the studies relayed outcomes pertaining to change in knowledge or skills (level 2). Change in behaviour (level 3) was reported in 12.0% of studies. The highest level (level 4), which pertains to changes in patient/health care outcomes was only represented by 7.3% of studies. Future research needs to aim at these higher levels of evidence. (See Figure 4 and Table 3)

#### DISCUSSION

We strived to learn what role simulation plays in the realm of OBGYN as it pertains to educational outcomes, based on Kirkpatrick's levels, which are also represented in the MERSQI tool. Unfortunately, there is little evidence supporting translation of skills and knowledge learned in simulated environments to the real-life clinical world. There is even less evidence to support a positive effect of OBGYN simulation on systems and patient outcomes. The vast majority of the studies stopped at level 2 (change in knowledge and skills in simulated environment). This highlights the need for research aimed at these higher levels of evidence since the field of simulation, in general and not exclusive to OBGYN, is saturated by studies looking at the lower levels 1 and 2. Furthermore, the quality of the studies, as a whole, was evaluated using the MERSQI. It seems that authors are publishing studies with higher outcome levels and with more and more validity evidence, as we become increasingly familiar with SBE. However, even with increasing numbers of studies involving simulation in OBGYN, there continue to be very few high-quality studies, as reflected by the paucity of studies with high MERSQI scores of 15 or greater. Only 2 out the 316 included studies had a perfect score of 18 on the MERSQI [129, 266]. It is important to note that in both these studies all scoring items pertaining to validity were given a "non applicable" rating since no knowledge/skills assessment tool determined outcomes: chart review pre and post-intervention was used. Medical education simulation research focused on outcomes and effectiveness of different modalities is inconsistent, especially when it comes to methodological rigor. This is highlighted in the new reporting guidelines for simulation-based research published by Cheng et al. in 2016.[335] This will most certainly lead to a more standardized approach, allowing authors to publish replicable studies that can have a positive influence on patient outcomes.

Chang et al. published a literature review in 2013 on the role of simulation training in obstetrics that can very easily be translated to gynecology and other medical domains [336]. They discuss a 'healthcare quality pyramid' with four levels of increasing importance: Individual training, team training, health care system, and patient safety and quality. Simulation is linked to this pyramid as highlighted by the article's four key points:

- 1- Simulation is a valuable healthcare management strategy for individual and team training.
- 2- In-situ simulation is effective at identifying latent threats to patient safety in healthcare systems.
- 3- Simulation may be valuable as a competency and systems assessment tool.
- 4- Leaders in healthcare should embrace simulation as a tool to improve safety and quality.

89

Our systematic review may have been too broad to look at the many different uses and types of simulations that exist. It would be interesting to repeat the same search strategy but to look independently at these four points. We did identify many studies in which individual and team training outcomes existed; however, studies that solely had identification of a latent safety threat or gap, as well as those that exclusively validated an assessment tool without any Kirkpatrick level evidence, were excluded.

The use of simulation for assessment, both formative and summative, is also growing, as medical educators move towards a more objective assessment of competence of learners, as seen with competency-based medical education. The question remains whether skills learned in the simulated setting can translate to skills in clinical practice. A meta-analysis of 33 studies looking at simulation-based assessments and patient-related outcomes found that they often correlate positively [4]. Thus, it is possible that these tools may one day replace workplace-based assessments if there is enough validity evidence for them, again highlighting the importance of publishing high quality replicable studies using a standardized approach.

Another limitation of our study is that we did not report inter-rater agreement for the MERSQI codes as only the main author was responsible for data extraction. There was also a large heterogeneity of studies in terms of study designs, both quantitative and qualitative, thus preventing any specific conclusions from being drawn. For example, we did not analyse the individual results of these studies and whether outcomes were positive or negative. We realize that the data presented ends with studies published prior to December 2016. A repeat search strategy was conducted in May 2018 and yielded 794 additional articles to screen. However, due to time and personal constraints, the results were not included. This could be the focus of future research, should the need arise.

In conclusion, simulation has an important role to play in the field of obstetrics and gynecology and there are increasing numbers of high-quality studies demonstrating that simulation can improve clinical skills and knowledge in the workplace and positively influence healthcare systems and patient safety. Future studies should use the reporting guidelines for simulation-based research in order to continue to improve the quality of simulation-based studies conducted in the future.

### Author's contributions:

- 5) **Dr. Milena Garofalo**: primary role in the review, data analysis, and manuscript writing.
- 6) **Dr. Rajesh Aggarwal**: research supervisor whose role was to guide, and help with the editing of the manuscript
- Taline Ekmekjian (Librarian): initial search strategy, methodology, Endnote reference library
- 8) Dr. Céline Giordano: initial abstract screening for inclusion/exclusion (second reviewer)

## Acknowledgements:

The authors wish to thank the Blema and Arnold Steinberg Foundation. This research was funded through an unrestricted grant from the Blema and Arnold Steinberg Foundation.

## Conflict of interest

Dr. Rajesh Aggarwal is a consultant for Applied Medical.

# **REFERENCES**

1. Leblanc VR: Review article: simulation in anesthesia: state of the science and looking forward. Can J Anaesth. 2012, 59:193-202. 10.1007/s12630-011-9638-8

2. Gardner R, Raemer DB: Simulation in obstetrics and gynecology. Obstet Gynecol Clin North Am. 2008, 35:97-127, ix. 10.1016/j.ogc.2007.12.008

3. Healthcare Simulation Dictionary. Lopreiato J O (Ed.) DD, Gammon W, Lioce L, Sittner B, Slot V, Spain A E (Assoc. Eds.), and the Terminology & Concepts Working Group (ed): Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, Rockville, MD; 2016:0043.

4. Brydges R, Hatala R, Zendejas B, Erwin PJ, Cook DA: Linking simulation-based educational assessments and patient-related outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Acad Med. 2015, 90:246-256. 10.1097/ACM.00000000000549

5. Cox T, Seymour N, Stefanidis D: Moving the Needle: Simulation's Impact on Patient Outcomes. Surg Clin North Am. 2015, 95:827-838. 10.1016/j.suc.2015.03.005

6. Kirkpatrick DL: Evaluation of Training. Training and Development Handbook. Craig RL, Bittel LR (eds): McGraw Hill, New York; 1967:87-112.

7. Kirkpatrick DL: Evaluating Training Programs: The Four Levels. Berrett-Koehler Publishers, Inc., San Francisco; 2006.

8. Cook DA, Levinson AJ, Garside S: Method and reporting quality in health professions education research: a systematic review. Med Educ. 2011, 45:227-238. 10.1111/j.1365-2923.2010.03890.x

9. Cook DA, Reed DA: Appraising the quality of medical education research methods: the Medical Education Research Study Quality Instrument and the Newcastle-Ottawa Scale-Education. Acad Med. 2015, 90:1067-1076. 10.1097/ACM.000000000000786

10. Reed DA, Cook DA, Beckman TJ, Levine RB, Kern DE, Wright SM: Association between funding and quality of published medical education research. JAMA. 2007, 298:1002-1009. 10.1001/jama.298.9.1002

11. Hammick M, Dornan T, Steinert Y: Conducting a best evidence systematic review. Part 1: From idea to data coding. BEME Guide No. 13. Med Teach. 2010, 32:3-15. 10.3109/01421590903414245

12. Tochel C, Haig A, Hesketh A, Cadzow A, Beggs K, Colthart I, Peacock H: The effectiveness of portfolios for post-graduate assessment and education: BEME Guide No 12. Med Teach. 2009, 31:299-318. 10.1080/01421590902883056

13. Steinert Y, Mann K, Centeno A, Dolmans D, Spencer J, Gelula M, Prideaux D: A systematic review of faculty development initiatives designed to improve teaching effectiveness in medical education: BEME Guide No. 8. Med Teach. 2006, 28:497-526. 10.1080/01421590600902976

14. Littlewood S, Ypinazar V, Margolis SA, Scherpbier A, Spencer J, Dornan T: Early practical experience and the social responsiveness of clinical education: systematic review. BMJ. 2005, 331:387-391. 10.1136/bmj.331.7513.387

15. Cook DA, Levinson AJ, Garside S, Dupras DM, Erwin PJ, Montori VM: Internet-based learning in the health professions: a meta-analysis. JAMA. 2008, 300:1181-1196. 10.1001/jama.300.10.1181

16. Stang A: Critical evaluation of the Newcastle-Ottawa scale for the assessment of the quality of nonrandomized studies in meta-analyses. Eur J Epidemiol. 2010, 25:603-605. 10.1007/s10654-010-9491-z

17. The Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS) for assessing the quality of nonrandomised studies in<br/>meta-analyses.Accessed:February26th,2018:http://www.ohri.ca/programs/clinical\_epidemiology/oxford.asp.<

18. Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG, Group P: Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. PLoS Med. 2009, 6:e1000097. 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000097

19. Adams J, J. R. Cepeda Brito, L. Baker, P. G. Hughes, M. D. Gothard, M. L. McCarroll, J. Davis, A. Silber, Ahmed RA: Management of Maternal Cardiac Arrest in the Third Trimester of Pregnancy: A Simulation-Based Pilot Study. Critical Care Research & Practice. 2016, 2016:5283765.

20. Aggarwal R, A. Tully, T. Grantcharov, C. R. Larsen, T. Miskry, A. Farthing, Darzi A: Virtual reality simulation training can improve technical skills during laparoscopic salpingectomy for ectopic pregnancy. BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology. 2006, 113: 1382-1387.

21. Agrawal N, S. Kumar, S. M. Balasubramaniam, S. Bhargava, P. Sinha, B. Bakshi, Sood B: Effectiveness of virtual classroom training in improving the knowledge and key maternal neonatal health skills of general nurse midwifery students in Bihar, India: A pre- and post-intervention study. Nurse education today. 2016, 36: 293-297.

22. Ahlborg L, L. Hedman, D. Murkes, B. Westman, A. Kjellin, L. Fellander-Tsai, Enochsson L: Visuospatial ability correlates with performance in simulated gynecological laparoscopy. European Journal of Obstetrics, Gynecology, & Reproductive Biology. 2011, 157: 73-77.

23. Ahlborg L, L. Hedman, H. Nisell, L. Fellander-Tsai, Enochsson L: Simulator training and nontechnical factors improve laparoscopic performance among OBGYN trainees. Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica. 2013, 92: 1194-1201.

24. Ahlborg L, L. Hedman, C. Rasmussen, L. Fell, er-Tsai, Enochsson L: Non-technical factors influence laparoscopic simulator performance among OBGYN residents. Gynecological Surgery. 2012, 9: 415-420.

25. Ahmad R, G. Alhashmi, A. Ajlan, Eldeek B: Impact of high-fidelity transvaginal ultrasound simulation for radiology on residents' performance // satisfaction. Academic Radiology. 2015, 22: 234-239.

26. Akdemir A, F. Sendag, Oztekin MK: Laparoscopic virtual reality simulator and box trainer in gynecology. International Journal of Gynaecology & Obstetrics. 2014, 125: 181-185.

27. Akdemir A, A. M. Ergenoglu, A. O. Yeniel, Sendag F: Conventional box model training improves laparoscopic skills during salpingectomy on LapSim: a randomized trial. Journal of the Turkishgerman Gynecological Association. 2013, 14: 157-162.

28. Akdemir A, B. Zeybek, A. M. Ergenoglu, A. O. Yeniel, Sendag F: Effect of spaced training with a box trainer on the acquisition and retention of basic laparoscopic skills. International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics. 2014, 127: 309-313.

29. Andreatta P, J. Perosky, J. Klotz, C. Gamble, F. Ankobea, K. Danso, Dalton V: Pilot study outcomes from a resource-limited setting for a low-cost training program for laparoscopic surgical skills. International Journal of Gynecology and Obstetrics. 2014, 125: 186-188.

30. Andreatta P, F. Gans-Larty, D. Debpuur, A. Ofosu, Perosky J: Evaluation of simulation-based training on the ability of birth attendants to correctly perform bimanual compression as obstetric first aid. International Journal of Nursing Studies. 2011, 48: 1275-1280.

31. Andrighetti TP, J. M. Knestrick, A. Marowitz, C. Martin, Engstrom JL: Shoulder dystocia and postpartum hemorrhage simulations: student confidence in managing these complications. Journal of Midwifery & Women's Health. 2012, 57: 55-60.

32. Arain NA, G. Dulan, D. C. Hogg, R. V. Rege, C. E. Powers, S. T. Tesfay, L. S. Hynan, Scott DJ: Comprehensive proficiency-Based inanimate training for robotic surgery: Reliability, feasibility, and educational benefit. Surgical Endoscopy and Other Interventional Techniques. 2012, 26: 2740-2745.

33. Arden D, M. R. Hacker, D. B. Jones, Awtrey CS: Description and validation of the Pelv-Sim: a training model designed to improve gynecologic minimally invasive suturing skills. Journal of Minimally Invasive Gynecology. 2008, 15: 707-711.

34. Arias T, A. Tran, J. Breaud, J. P. Fournier, A. Bongain, Delotte J: A prospective study into the benefits of simulation training in teaching obstetric vaginal examination. International Journal of Gynaecology & Obstetrics. 2016, 133: 380-384.

35. Asoglu MR, T. Achjian, O. Akbilgic, M. A. Borahay, Kilic GS: The impact of a simulationbased training lab on outcomes of hysterectomy. Journal of the Turkishgerman Gynecological Association. 2016, 17: 60-64.

36. Autry AM, S. Knight, F. Lester, G. Dubowitz, J. Byamugisha, Y. Nsubuga, M. Muyingo, Korn A: Teaching Surgical Skills Using Video Internet Communication in a Resource-Limited Setting. Obstetrics // Gynecology. 2013, 122: 127-131.

37. Awtrey C, A. Chellali, S. Schwaitzberg, S. De, D. Jones, Cao C: Validation of the VBLaST: A Virtual Peg Transfer Task in Gynecologic Surgeons. Journal of Minimally Invasive Gynecology. 2015, 22: 1271-1277.

38. Bajka M, S. Tuchschmid, D. Fink, G. Szekely, Harders M: Establishing construct validity of a virtual-reality training simulator for hysteroscopy via a multimetric scoring system. Surgical Endoscopy. 2010, 24: 79-88.

39. Bambini D, J. Washburn, Perkins R: Outcomes of clinical simulation for novice nursing students: communication, confidence, clinical judgment. Nursing Education Perspectives. 2009, 30: 79-82.

40. Bamford JC, Jr.: The simulated patient in clinical teaching. Journal of Surgical Research. 1971, 11: 563-569.

41. Banks EH, S. Chudnoff, I. Karmin, C. Wang, Pardanani S: Does a surgical simulator improve resident operative performance of laparoscopic tubal ligation? American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2007, 197: 541.e541-545.

42. Barrier BF, A. B. Thompson, M. W. McCullough, Occhino JA: A novel and inexpensive vaginal hysterectomy simulator. Simulation in Healthcare: The Journal of The Society for Medical Simulation. 2012, 7: 374-379.

43. Beyer N: Creative educational methodologies: using a childbirth simulator with baccalaureate nursing students. Newborn & Infant Nursing Reviews. 2009, 9: 88-90.

44. Beyth Y, D. Hardoff, E. Rom, Ziv A: A simulated patient-based program for training gynecologists in communication with adolescent girls presenting with gynecological problems. Journal of Pediatric & Adolescent Gynecology. 2009, 22: 79-84.

45. Birch L, N. Jones, P. M. Doyle, P. Green, A. McLaughlin, C. Champney, D. Williams, K. Gibbon, Taylor K: Obstetric skills drills: evaluation of teaching methods. Nurse Education Today. 2007, 27: 915-922.

46. Bjerrum F, M. Maagaard, J. Led Sorensen, C. Rifbjerg Larsen, C. Ringsted, P. Winkel, B. Ottesen, Str J, bygaard: Effect of instructor feedback on skills retention after laparoscopic simulator training: follow-up of a randomized trial. Journal of Surgical Education. 2015, 72: 53-60.

47. Bjerrum F, J. L. Sorensen, L. Konge, S. Rosthoj, J. Lindschou, B. Ottesen, Str J, bygaard: Randomized trial to examine procedure-to-procedure transfer in laparoscopic simulator training. British Journal of Surgery. 2016, 103: 44-50.

48. Borahay MA, M. C. Haver, B. Eastham, P. R. Patel, Kilic GS: Modular comparison of laparoscopic and robotic simulation platforms in residency training: a randomized trial. Journal of Minimally Invasive Gynecology. 2013, 20: 871-879.

49. Botchorishvili R, B. Rabischong, D. Larrain, C. K. Khoo, G. Gaia, K. Jardon, J. L. Pouly, P. Jaffeux, B. Aublet-Cuvelier, M. Canis, Mage G: Educational value of an intensive and structured interval practice laparoscopic training course for residents in obstetrics and gynecology: a fouryear prospective, multi-institutional recruitment study. Journal of Surgical Education. 2012, 69: 173-179.

50. Bou Nemer L, D. Kalin, D. Fiorentino, J. J. Garcia, Estes CM: The Labor Games. Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2016, 128 Suppl 1: 1S-5S.

51. Bouet PE, P. Jeanneteau, G. Legendre, H. El Hachem, I. Richard, J. C. Granry, P. Descamps, Sentilhes L: [Training of medical students for pelvic examination: Benefits of teaching on anatomic models]. Journal de Gynecologie, Obstetrique et Biologie de la Reproduction. 2016, 45: 679-684.

52. Brinkman WM, S. Y. Havermans, S. N. Buzink, S. M. B. I. Botden, J. J. Jakimowicz, Schoot BC: Single versus multimodality training basic laparoscopic skills. Surgical Endoscopy // Other Interventional Techniques. 2012, 26: 2172-2178.

53. Brock D, E. Abu-Rish, C. R. Chiu, D. Hammer, S. Wilson, L. Vorvick, K. Blondon, D. Schaad, D. Liner, Zierler B: Interprofessional education in team communication: working together to improve patient safety.[Reprint in Postgrad Med J. 2013 Nov;89(1057):642-51; PMID: 24129031]. BMJ Quality & Safety. 2013, 22: 414-423.

54. Brown K, N. Mosley, Tierney J: Battle of the bots: a comparison of the st//ard da Vinci // the da Vinci Surgical Skills Simulator in surgical skills acquisition. Journal of Robotic Surgery. 2016, 29:29.

55. Bullough AS, S. Wagner, T. Bol, TPW, K. Kim, Adams W: Obstetric team simulation program challenges. Journal of Clinical Anesthesia. 2016, 35: 564-570.

56. Burchard ER, E. G. Lockrow, C. M. Zahn, S. G. Dunlow, Satin AJ: Simulation training improves resident performance in operative hysteroscopic resection techniques. American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2007, 197: 542.e541-544.

57. Burd LI, M. Motew, Bieniarz J: A teaching simulator for fetal scalp sampling. Obstetrics & Gynecology. 1972, 39: 418-420.

58. Burden C, T. L. Appleyard, J. Angouri, T. J. Draycott, L. McDermott, Fox R: Implementation of laparoscopic virtual-reality simulation training in gynaecology: a mixed-methods design. European Journal of Obstetrics, Gynecology, & Reproductive Biology. 2013, 170: 474-479.

59. Burden C, J. Preshaw, P. White, T. J. Draycott, S. Grant, Fox R: Usability of virtual-reality simulation training in obstetric ultrasonography: a prospective cohort study. Ultrasound in Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2013, 42: 213-217.

60. Burke C, W. Grobman, Miller D: Interdisciplinary collaboration to maintain a culture of safety in a labor // delivery setting. Journal of Perinatal & Neonatal Nursing. 2013, 27: 113-123; quiz 124-115.

61. Buxton M, J. C. Phillippi, Collins MR: Simulation: A New Approach to Teaching Ethics. Journal of Midwifery // Women's Health. 2015, 60: 70-74.

62. Cain JJ, Shirar E: A new method for teaching the repair of perineal trauma of birth. Family Medicine. 1996, 28: 107-110.

63. Carr SE, Carmody D: Outcomes of teaching medical students core skills for women's health: the pelvic examination educational program. American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2004, 190: 1382-1387.

64. Catanzarite VA: FMTUTOR: a computer-aided instructional system for teaching fetal monitor interpretation. American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology. 1987, 156: 1045-1048.

65. Chalouhi GE, T. Quibel, C. Lamourdedieu, N. J. Hajal, A. Gueneuc, N. Benzina, V. Bernardi, Ville Y: [Obstetrical ultrasound simulator as a tool for improving teaching strategies for beginners: Pilot study // review of the literature]. Journal de Gynecologie, Obstetrique et Biologie de la Reproduction. 2016, 45: 1107-1114.

66. Chan CK, E. H. So, G. W. Ng, T. W. Ma, K. K. Chan, Ho LY: Participant evaluation of simulation training using crew resource management in a hospital setting in Hong Kong. Hong Kong Medical Journal. 2016, 22: 131-137.

67. Chao C, G. E. Chalouhi, P. Bouhanna, Y. Ville, Dommergues M: Randomized Clinical Trial of Virtual Reality Simulation Training for Transvaginal Gynecologic Ultrasound Skills. Journal of Ultrasound in Medicine. 2015, 34: 1663-1667.

68. Chen CC, I. C. Green, J. M. Colbert-Getz, K. Steele, B. Chou, S. M. Lawson, D. K. Andersen, Satin AJ: Warm-up on a simulator improves residents' performance in laparoscopic surgery: a randomized trial. International Urogynecology Journal. 2013, 24: 1615-1622.

69. Chipman JG, Schmitz CC: Using Objective Structured Assessment of Technical Skills to Evaluate a Basic Skills Simulation Curriculum for First-Year Surgical Residents. Journal of the American College of Surgeons. 2009, 209: 364-370.

70. Christian A, Krumwiede N: Force feedback and basic laparoscopic skills. simulation enhances self-efficacy in the management of preeclampsia and Eclampsia in Obstetrical staff nurses. 2013, 9: E369-E377.

71. Chudnoff SG, C. S. Liu, M. D. Levie, P. Bernstein, Banks EH: Efficacy of a novel educational curriculum using a simulation laboratory on resident performance of hysteroscopic sterilization. Fertility & Sterility. 2010, 94: 1521-1524.

72. Chummun K, J. P. Burke, R. O'Sullivan, Prendiville W: The influence of a 'take home' box trainer on laparoscopic performance for gynaecological surgeons. Gynecological Surgery. 2012, 9: 303-308.

73. Cioffi J, N. Purcal, F. Arundell (2005) A pilot study to investigate the effect of a simulation strategy on the clinical decision making of midwifery students. The Journal of nursing education 44 -.

74. Clark JTM, J. Nicholls, M. Cooper, S. A. Bates, J. M. Frappell, Byrne DL: An evaluation of a laparoscopic ectopic simulation by trainees. Gynaecological Endoscopy. 2001, 10: 309-314.

75. Clevin L, Grantcharov TP: Does box model training improve surgical dexterity and economy of movement during virtual reality laparoscopy? A randomised trial. Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica. 2008, 87: 99-103.

76. Cohen SR, L. Cragin, B. Wong, Walker DM: Self-Efficacy Change With Low-Tech, High-Fidelity Obstetric Simulation Training for Midwives and Nurses in Mexico. Clinical Simulation in Nursing. 2012, 8: e15-24.

77. Colletti L, L. Gruppen, M. Barclay, Stern D: Teaching students to break bad news. American Journal of Surgery. 2001, 182: 20-23.

78. Comeau R, Craig C: Does teaching of documentation of shoulder dystocia delivery through simulation result in improved documentation in real life? Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology Canada: JOGC. 2014, 36: 258-265.

79. Connor EV, C. Raker, Wohlrab KJ: Effects of Repetition and Inactivity on Laparoscopic Skills Training. Journal of Minimally Invasive Gynecology. 2016, 23: 194-197.

80. Copson S, K. Calvert, P. Raman, E. Nathan, Epee M: The effect of a multidisciplinary obstetric emergency team training program, the In Time course, on diagnosis to delivery interval following umbilical cord prolapse - A retrospective cohort study. Australian & New Zeal// Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology. 2016, 7:7.

81. Cordier AG, F. Fuchs, M. Tassin, J. Saada, A. Letourneau, S. Brisset, L. Mandelbrot, L. Bidat, Benachi A: Teaching invasive prenatal procedures: effectiveness of two simple simulators in training. Prenatal Diagnosis. 2016, 36: 905-910.

82. Crochet P, R. Aggarwal, S. Knight, S. Berdah, L. Boubli, Agostini A: Development of an evidence-based training program for laparoscopic hysterectomy on a virtual reality simulator. Surgical Endoscopy. 2016, 21:21.

83. Crofts JF, E. Lenguerr, GLB, S. Tawfik, H. A. Claireaux, D. Odd, R. Fox, Draycott TJ: Prevention of brachial plexus injury-12 years of shoulder dystocia training: an interrupted time-series study. BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology. 2016, 123: 111-118.

84. Crofts JF, D. Ellis, T. J. Draycott, C. Winter, L. P. Hunt, Ak VA, e: Change in knowledge of midwives and obstetricians following obstetric emergency training: a randomised controlled trial of local hospital, simulation centre and teamwork training. BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology. 2007, 114: 1534-1541.

85. Crofts JF, R. Fox, T. J. Draycott, C. Winter, L. P. Hunt, Akande VA: Retention of factual knowledge after practical training for intrapartum emergencies. International Journal of Gynaecology & Obstetrics. 2013, 123: 81-85.

86. Crofts JF, G. Attilakos, M. Read, T. Sibanda, Draycott TJ: Shoulder dystocia training using a new birth training mannequin. BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology. 2005, 112: 997-999.

87. Crofts JF, C. Bartlett, D. Ellis, L. P. Hunt, R. Fox, Draycott TJ: Training for shoulder dystocia: a trial of simulation using low-fidelity and high-fidelity mannequins. Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2006, 108: 1477-1485.

88. Crofts JF, C. Bartlett, D. Ellis, L. P. Hunt, R. Fox, Draycott TJ: Management of shoulder dystocia: skill retention 6 and 12 months after training. Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2007, 110: 1069-1074.

89. Crofts JF, C. Bartlett, D. Ellis, C. Winter, F. Donald, L. P. Hunt, Draycott TJ: Patient-actor perception of care: a comparison of obstetric emergency training using manikins and patient-actors. Quality & Safety in Health Care. 2008, 17: 20-24.

90. Culligan P, E. Gurshumov, C. Lewis, J. Priestley, J. Komar, Salamon C: Predictive validity of a training protocol using a robotic surgery simulator. Female Pelvic Medicine & Reconstructive Surgery. 2014, 20: 48-51.

91. Curl ED, S. Smith, L. Ann Chisholm, L. A. McGee, Das K: Effectiveness of Integrated Simulation and Clinical Experiences Compared to Traditional Clinical Experiences for Nursing Students. Nursing Education Perspectives. 2016, 37: 72-77.

92. Dadiz R, J. Weinschreider, J. Schriefer, C. Arnold, C. D. Greves, E. C. Crosby, H. Wang, E. K. Pressman, Guillet R: Interdisciplinary simulation-based training to improve delivery room communication. Simulation in Healthcare: The Journal of The Society for Medical Simulation. 2013, 8: 279-291.

93. Damle LF, E. Tefera, J. McAfee, M. K. Loyd, A. M. Jackson, T. C. Auguste, Gomez-Lobo V: Pediatric and Adolescent Gynecology Education through Simulation (PAGES): Development and Evaluation of a Simulation Curriculum. Journal of Pediatric & Adolescent Gynecology. 2015, 28: 186-191.

94. Dancz CE, V. Sun, H. B. Moon, J. H. Chen, Ozel B: Comparison of 2 simulation models for teaching obstetric anal sphincter repair. Simulation in Healthcare: The Journal of The Society for Medical Simulation. 2014, 9: 325-330.

95. Daniels K, J. Arafeh, A. Clark, S. Waller, M. Druzin, Chueh J: Prospective randomized trial of simulation versus didactic teaching for obstetrical emergencies. Simulation in Healthcare: The Journal of The Society for Medical Simulation. 2010, 5: 40-45.

96. Dayal AK, N. Fisher, D. Magrane, D. Goffman, P. S. Bernstein, Katz NT: Simulation training improves medical students' learning experiences when performing real vaginal deliveries. Simulation in Healthcare: The Journal of The Society for Medical Simulation. 2009, 4: 155-159.

97. DeCesare J, Jackson J: Advocacy skills in resident doctors. The clinical teacher. 2016, 13: 48-51.

98. Deering S, S. Poggi, C. Macedonia, R. Gherman, Satin AJ: Improving resident competency in the management of shoulder dystocia with simulation training. Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2004, 103: 1224-1228.

99. Deering S, J. Brown, J. Hodor, Satin AJ: Simulation training and resident performance of singleton vaginal breech delivery. Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2006, 107: 86-89.

100. Deering SH, J. G. Hodor, M. Wylen, S. Poggi, P. E. Nielsen, Satin AJ: Additional training with an obstetric simulator improves medical student comfort with basic procedures. Simulation in Healthcare: The Journal of The Society for Medical Simulation. 2006, 1: 32-34.

101. DeStephano CC, B. Chou, S. Patel, R. Slattery, Hueppchen N: A randomized controlled trial of birth simulation for medical students. American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2015, 213: 91.e91-97.

102. Diez-Goni N, S. Guillen, M. C. Rodriguez-Diez, L. Pineda, Alcazar JL: Use of the Learning Curve-Cumulative Summation Test for Leopold Maneuvers Assessment in a Simulator: A Pilot Study. Simulation in Healthcare: The Journal of The Society for Medical Simulation. 2015, 10: 277-282.

103. Do AT, M. F. Cabbad, A. Kerr, E. Serur, R. R. Robertazzi, Stankovic MR: A warm-up laparoscopic exercise improves the subsequent laparoscopic performance of Ob-Gyn residents: a low-cost laparoscopic trainer. Journal of the Society of Laparoendoscopic Surgeons. 2006, 10: 297-301.

104. Donkers K, J. Truscott, C. Garrubba, DeLong D: High-Fidelity Simulation Use in Preparation of Physician Assistant Students for Neonatal and Obstetric Care. The Journal of Physician Assistant Education. 2016, 27: 68-72.

105. Draycott TJ, J. F. Crofts, J. P. Ash, L. V. Wilson, E. Yard, T. Sibanda, Whitelaw A: Improving neonatal outcome through practical shoulder dystocia training. Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2008, 112: 14-20.

106. Dubuisson J, F. Vilmin, M. Boulvain, C. Combescure, P. Petignat, Brossard P: Do laparoscopic pelvic trainer exercises improve residents' surgical skills? A randomized controlled trial. European Journal of Obstetrics, Gynecology, & Reproductive Biology. 2016, 206: 177-180.

107. Dumont T, J. Hakim, A. Black, Fleming N: Enhancing postgraduate training in pediatric // adolescent gynecology: evaluation of an advanced pelvic simulation session. Journal of Pediatric & Adolescent Gynecology. 2014, 27: 360-370.

108. Dumont T, J. Hakim, A. Black, Fleming N: Does an Advanced Pelvic Simulation Curriculum Improve Resident Performance on a Pediatric // Adolescent Gynecology Focused Objective Structured Clinical Examination? A Cohort Study. Journal of Pediatric & Adolescent Gynecology. 2016, 29: 276-279.

109. Dunkley MP, L. H. Brown, J. M. Robinson, Parkin DE: Initial training model for endometrial ablation. Gynaecological Endoscopy. 2001, 10: 355-360.

110. Dupuis O, R. Moreau, M. T. Pham, Redarce T: Assessment of forceps blade orientations during their placement using an instrumented childbirth simulator. BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology. 2009, 116: 327-332; discussion 332-323.

111. Dupuis O, E. Decullier, J. Clerc, R. Moreau, M. T. Pham, S. Bin-Dorel, X. Brun, M. Berl, Redarce T: Does forceps training on a birth simulator allow obstetricians to improve forceps blade placement? European Journal of Obstetrics, Gynecology, & Reproductive Biology. 2011, 159: 305-309.

112. Dyre L, L. N. Norgaard, A. Tabor, M. E. Madsen, J. L. Sorensen, C. Ringsted, Tolsgaard M: Collecting Validity Evidence for the Assessment of Mastery Learning in Simulation-Based Ultrasound Training. Ultraschall in der Medizin. 2016, 37: 386-392.

113. Easter SR, R. Gardner, J. Barrett, J. N. Robinson, Carusi D: Simulation to Improve Trainee Knowledge // Comfort About Twin Vaginal Birth. Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2016, 128 Suppl 1: 34S-39S.

114. Egenberg S, P. Oian, T. M. Eggebo, M. G. Arsenovic, Bru LE: Changes in self-efficacy, collective efficacy and patient outcome following interprofessional simulation training on postpartum haemorrhage. Journal of Clinical Nursing. 2016, 22:22.

115. Egenberg S, P. Oian, L. E. Bru, M. Sautter, G. Kristoffersen, Eggebo TM: Can interprofessional simulation training influence the frequency of blood transfusions after birth? Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Sc//inavica. 2015, 94: 316-323.

116. Elessawy M, M. Skrzipczyk, C. Eckmann-Scholz, N. Maass, L. Mettler, V. Guenther, M. van Mackelenbergh, D. O. Bauerschlag, Alkatout I: Integration and Validation of Hysteroscopy Simulation in the Surgical Training Curriculum. Journal of Surgical Education. 2016, 23:23.

117. Ellis D, J. F. Crofts, L. P. Hunt, M. Read, R. Fox, James M: Hospital, simulation center, and teamwork training for eclampsia management: a randomized controlled trial. Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2008, 111: 723-731.

118. Elser CS, W. B. Murray, A. Schneider, K. Underberg, J. Henry, P. Foster, S. Vaduva, J. C. Venable, Shindel M: Simulated Crisis in Obstetric Anesthesia: Design and Evaluation of a Distance Education Presentation. The Journal of Education in Perioperative Medicine JEPM. 2001, 3: E017.

119. Enciso S, I. Diaz-Guemes, T. Perez-Medina, I. Zapardiel, J. de Santiago, J. Uson, Sanchez-Margallo FM: Validation of a structured intensive laparoscopic course for basic and advanced

gynecologic skills training. International Journal of Gynaecology & Obstetrics. 2016, 133: 241-244.

120. Evans CL, P. Johnson, E. Bazant, N. Bhatnagar, J. Zgambo, Khamis AR: Competency-based training Helping Mothers Survive: Bleeding after Birth for providers from central // remote facilities in three countries. International Journal of Gynaecology & Obstetrics. 2014, 126: 286-290.

121. Faurant MC, S. Francois, P. E. Bouet, L. Catala, C. Lefebvre-Lacoeuille, P. Gillard, P. Descamps, Legendre G: [Contribution of a virtual hysteroscopic simulator in the learning of hysteroscopic myoma resection]. Gynecologie, Obstetrique & Fertilite. 2016, 44: 135-140.

122. Ferris DG: Electrosurgical loop excision of the cervical transformation zone: preclinical training proficiency. Family Medicine. 1993, 25: 456-460.

123. Ferris DG, A. G. Waxman, Miller MD: Colposcopy and cervical biopsy educational training models. Family Medicine. 1994, 26: 30-35.

124. Fialkow M, L. M, el AV, M. Chinn, G. Lentz, Goff B: A curriculum for Burch colposuspension and diagnostic cystoscopy evaluated by an objective structured assessment of technical skills. American Journal of Obstetrics // Gynecology. 2007, 197:6.

125. Fisher N, P. S. Bernstein, A. Satin, S. Pardanani, H. Heo, I. R. Merkatz, Goffman D: Resident training for eclampsia and magnesium toxicity management: simulation or traditional lecture? American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2010, 203: 379.e371-375.

126. Fisher N, L. A. Eisen, J. V. Bayya, A. Dulu, P. S. Bernstein, I. R. Merkatz, Goffman D: Improved performance of maternal-fetal medicine staff after maternal cardiac arrest simulation-based training. American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2011, 205: 239.e231-235.

127. Foell K, A. Finelli, K. Yasufuku, M. Q. Bernardini, T. K. Waddell, K. T. Pace, R. J. Honey, Lee JY: Robotic surgery basic skills training: Evaluation of a pilot multidisciplinary simulation-based curriculum. Canadian Urological Association Journal. 2013, 7: 430-434.

128. Fransen AF, J. van de Ven, A. E. Merien, L. D. de Wit-Zuurendonk, S. Houterman, B. W. Mol, Oei SG: Effect of obstetric team training on team performance and medical technical skills: a randomised controlled trial. BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology. 2012, 119: 1387-1393.

129. Fransen AF, J. van de Ven, E. Schuit, A. van Tetering, B. W. Mol, Oei SG: Simulation-based team training for multi-professional obstetric care teams to improve patient outcome: a multicentre, cluster randomised controlled trial. BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology. 2016, 10:10.

130. Freeth D, G. Ayida, E. J. Berridge, N. Mackintosh, B. Norris, C. Sadler, Strachan A: Multidisciplinary obstetric simulated emergency scenarios (MOSES): promoting patient safety in obstetrics with teamwork-focused interprofessional simulations. Journal of Continuing Education in the Health Professions. 2009, 29: 98-104.

131. Fuhrmann L, T. H. Pedersen, A. Atke, A. M. Moller, Ostergaard D: Multidisciplinary team training reduces the decision-to-delivery interval for emergency Caesarean section. Acta Anaesthesiologica Sc//inavica. 2015, 59: 1287-1295.

132. Gala R, F. Orejuela, K. Gerten, E. Lockrow, C. Kilpatrick, L. Chohan, C. Green, J. Vaught, A. Goldberg, Schaffer J: Effect of validated skills simulation on operating room performance in obstetrics and gynecology residents: a randomized controlled trial. Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2013, 121: 578-584.

133. Gardner R, T. B. Walzer, R. Simon, Raemer DB: Obstetric simulation as a risk control strategy: course design // evaluation. Simulation in Healthcare: The Journal of The Society for Medical Simulation. 2008, 3: 119-127.

134. Geiss IM, P. A. Riss, E. Hanzal, Dungl A: A simple teaching tool for training the pelvic organ prolapse quantification system. International Urogynecology Journal. 2007, 18: 1003-1005.

135. Geyoushi B, K. Apte, Stones RW: Simulators for intimate examination training in the developing world. Journal of Family Planning & Reproductive Health Care. 2003, 29: 34-35.

136. Goff BA, A. VanBlaricom, L. M, el MC, Nielsen P: Comparison of objective, structured assessment of technical skills with a virtual reality hysteroscopy trainer and standard latex hysteroscopy model. Journal of Reproductive Medicine. 2007, 52: 407-412.

137. Goffman D, H. Heo, C. Chazotte, I. R. Merkatz, Bernstein PS: Using simulation training to improve shoulder dystocia documentation. Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2008, 112: 1284-1287.

138. Goffman D, H. Heo, S. Pardanani, I. R. Merkatz, Bernstein PS: Improving shoulder dystocia management among resident // attending physicians using simulations. American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2008, 199: 294.e291-295.

139. Goldthwaite LM, J. Sheeder, S. B. Teal, Tocce KM: Comfort With Skills and Knowledge After Immediate Postpartum Intrauterine Device Training. Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2016, 128 Suppl 1: 6S-11S.

140. Gor M, R. McCloy, R. Stone, Smith A: Virtual reality laparoscopic simulator for assessment in gynaecology. BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology. 2003, 110: 181-187.

141. Gossett DR, D. Gilchrist-Scott, D. B. Wayne, Gerber SE: Simulation Training for Forceps-Assisted Vaginal Delivery // Rates of Maternal Perineal Trauma. Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2016, 128: 429-435.

142. Green M, C. Rider, D. Ratcliff, Woodring BC: Developing a Systematic Approach to Obstetric Emergencies. JOGNN - Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic, & Neonatal Nursing. 2015, 44: 677-682.

143. Greer JA, S. Segal, C. R. Salva, Arya LA: Development and validation of simulation training for vaginal hysterectomy. Journal of Minimally Invasive Gynecology. 2014, 21: 74-82.

144. Grynberg M, T. Thubert, L. Guilbaud, A. G. Cordier, S. Nedellec, F. Lamazou, Deffieux X: Students' views on the impact of two pedagogical tools for the teaching of breast and pelvic examination techniques (video-clip and training model): A comparative study. European Journal of Obstetrics Gynecology and Reproductive Biology. 2012, 164: 205-210.

145. Guay J, W. S. Erdley, D. Raines, Castner J: Readiness for Interprofessional Learning After Participation in an Obstetric Simulation. Teaching // Learning in Nursing. 2016, 11: 194-198.

146. Gum L, J. Greenhill, Dix K: Clinical simulation in maternity (CSiM): interprofessional learning through simulation team training. Quality & Safety in Health Care. 2010, 19: e19.

147. Hamman WR, Beaudin-Seiler BM, Beaubien JM, Gullickson AM, Orizondo-Korotko K, Gross AC, Fuqua W, Lammers R: Using in situ simulation to identify and resolve latent environmental threats to patient safety: case study involving operational changes in a labor and delivery ward. Qual Manag Health Care. 2010, 19:226-230. 10.1097/QMH.0b013e3181eb1452

148. Hammond I, J. Taylor, A. Obermair, McMenamin P: The anatomy of complications workshop: an educational strategy to improve the training and performance of fellows in gynecologic oncology. Gynecologic Oncology. 2004, 94: 769-773.

149. Hart R, D. A. Doherty, K. Karthigasu, Garry R: The value of virtual reality-simulator training in the development of laparoscopic surgical skills. Journal of Minimally Invasive Gynecology. 2006, 13: 126-133.

150. Hasson HM: Simulation training in laparoscopy using a computerized physical reality simulator. Journal of the Society of Laparoendoscopic Surgeons. 2008, 12: 363-367.

151. Hefler L, C. Grimm, V. Kueronya, C. Tempfer, A. Reinthaller, Polterauer S: A novel training model for the loop electrosurgical excision procedure: an innovative replica helped workshop participants improve their LEEP. American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2012, 206: 535.e531-534.

152. Hendrickx K, B. Y. De Winter, J. J. Wyndaele, W. A. Tjalma, L. Debaene, B. Selleslags, F. Mast, P. Buytaert, Bossaert L: Intimate examination teaching with volunteers: implementation and assessment at the University of Antwerp. Patient Education & Counseling. 2006, 63: 47-54.

153. Hendrickx K, B. De Winter, W. Tjalma, D. Avonts, G. Peeraer, Wyndaele JJ: Learning intimate examinations with simulated patients: The evaluation of medical students' performance. Medical Teacher. 2009, 31: e139-e147.

154. Hiemstra E, M. K. Chmarra, J. Dankelman, Jansen FW: Intracorporeal Suturing: Economy of Instrument Movements Using a Box Trainer Model. Journal of Minimally Invasive Gynecology. 2011, 18: 494-499.

155. Higham J, D. Nestel, M. Lupton, Kneebone R: Teaching and learning gynaecology examination with hybrid simulation. Clinical Teacher. 2007, 4: 238-243.

156. Hiraoka M, G. Kamikawa, R. McCartin, Kaneshiro B: A pilot structured resident orientation curriculum improves the confidence of incoming first-year obstetrics and gynecology residents. Hawai'i Journal of Medicine & Public Health : A Journal of Asia Pacific Medicine & Public Health. 2013, 72: 387-390.

157. Hoffman MS, J. Palmer, C. Young, A. Cobb, Downes K: Simulation of cystotomy repair utilizing fresh-frozen porcine bladder. Journal of Gynecologic Surgery. 2014, 30: 141-146.

158. Hoffman MS, Palmer J: Simulation of enterotomy repair utilizing frozen porcine small intestine: Baseline knowledge and subjective assessment of fidelity. Journal of Gynecologic Surgery. 2014, 30: 65-69.

159. Holzman GB, D. Singleton, T. F. Holmes, Maatsch JL: Initial pelvic examination instruction: the effectiveness of three contemporary approaches. American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology. 1977, 129: 124-129.

160. Hong A, P. M. Mullin, L. Al-Marayati, S. E. Peyre, L. Muderspach, H. Macdonald, J. G. Ouzounian, D. A. Miller, N. Opper, Lee RH: A low-fidelity total abdominal hysterectomy teaching model for obstetrics // gynecology residents. Simulation in Healthcare: The Journal of The Society for Medical Simulation. 2012, 7: 123-126.

161. Hughes C, G. Anderson, D. Patterson, O'Prey M: Introducing an obstetric emergency training strategy into a simulated environment. British Journal of Midwifery. 2014, 22: 201-207.

162. Hur HC, D. Arden, L. E. Dodge, B. Zheng, Ricciotti HA: Fundamentals of laparoscopic surgery: A surgical skills assessment tool in gynecology. Journal of the Society of Laparoendoscopic Surgeons. 2011, 15: 21-26.

163. Huser AS, D. Muller, V. Brunkhorst, P. Kannisto, M. Musch, D. Kropfl, Groeben H: Simulated life-threatening emergency during robot-assisted surgery. Journal of Endourology. 2014, 28: 717-721.

164. Jabeen D: Use of simulated patients for assessment of communication skills in undergraduate medical education in obstetrics // gynaecology. Jcpsp, Journal of the College of Physicians & Surgeons - Pakistan. 2013, 23: 16-19.

165. Jacoby SD, Smith A: Increasing Certified Nurse-Midwives' Confidence in Managing the Obstetric Care of Women with Female Genital Mutilation/Cutting. Journal of Midwifery & Women's Health. 2013, 58: 451-456.

166. Jalink M, E. Heineman, J. Pierie, Cate HH: The effect of a preoperative warm-up with a custom-made Nintendo video game on the performance of laparoscopic surgeons. Surgical Endoscopy and Other Interventional Techniques 2015, 29:2284-2290 10.1007/s00464-014-3943-6.

167. Janse JA, R. S. Goedegebuure, S. Veersema, F. J. Broekmans, Schreuder HW: Hysteroscopic sterilization using a virtual reality simulator: assessment of learning curve. Journal of Minimally Invasive Gynecology. 2013, 20: 775-782.

168. Janse JA, C. J. Tolman, S. Veersema, F. J. M. Broekmans, Schreuder HWR: Hysteroscopy training and learning curve of 30degree camera navigation on a new box trainer: The HYSTT. Gynecological Surgery. 2014, 11: 67-73.

169. Janssens S, M. Beckmann, Bonney D: Introducing a laparoscopic simulation training and credentialing program in gynaecology: an observational study. Australian & New Zeal// Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology. 2015, 55: 374-378.

170. Jordan A, O. El Haloui, J. Breaud, D. Chevalier, J. Antomarchi, A. Bongain, I. Boucoiran, Delotte J: [Training of residents in obstetrics and gynecology: Assessment of an educational program including formal lectures and practical sessions using simulators]. Gynecologie, Obstetrique & Fertilite. 2015, 43: 560-567.

171. Ju R, P. L. Chang, A. P. Buckley, Wang KC: Comparison of Nintendo Wii and PlayStation2 for enhancing laparoscopic skills. Journal of the Society of Laparoendoscopic Surgeons. 2012, 16: 612-618.

172. Jude DC, G. G. Gilbert, Magrane D: Simulation training in the obstetrics and gynecology clerkship. American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2006, 195: 1489-1492.

173. Karkowsky CE, E. J. L, sberger PSB, A. Dayal, D. Goffman, R. C. Madden, Chazotte C: Breaking Bad News in obstetrics: a randomized trial of simulation followed by debriefing or lecture. Journal of Maternal-Fetal & Neonatal Medicine. 2016, 29: 3717-3723.

174. Kerbage Y, V. Debarge, J. P. Lucot, E. Clouqueur, Rubod C: Simulation training to teach postpartum hemorrhage surgery to residents. European Journal of Obstetrics, Gynecology, & Reproductive Biology. 2016, 201: 27-30.

175. Khadivzadeh T, Erfanian F: The effects of simulated patients and simulated gynecologic models on student anxiety in providing IUD services.[Erratum appears in Simul Healthc. 2013 Apr;8(2):130]. Simulation in Healthcare: The Journal of The Society for Medical Simulation. 2012, 7: 282-287.

176. Kiely DJ, K. Stephanson, Ross S: Assessing image quality of low-cost laparoscopic box trainers: options for residents training at home. Simulation in Healthcare: The Journal of The Society for Medical Simulation. 2011, 6: 292-298.

177. Kim M, Shin M: Development and evaluation of simulation-based training for obstetrical nursing using human patient simulators. CIN: Computers, Informatics, Nursing. 2013, 31: 76-84.

178. Kirby TO, T. M. Numnum, L. C. Kilgore, Straughn JM: A prospective evaluation of a simulator-based laparoscopic training program for gynecology residents. Journal of the American College of Surgeons. 2008, 206: 343-348.

179. Kirschbaum KA, J. P. Rask, M. Brennan, S. Phelan, Fortner SA: Improved climate, culture, and communication through multidisciplinary training and instruction. American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2012, 207: 200.e201-207.

180. Koch J, S. Clements, Abbott J: Basic surgical skills training: does it work? Australian & New Zeal// Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology. 2011, 51: 57-60.

181. Kolkman W, M. A. Van de Put, W. B. Van den Hout, J. B. Trimbos, Jansen FW: Implementation of the laparoscopic simulator in a gynecological residency curriculum. Surgical Endoscopy. 2007, 21: 1363-1368.

182. Kolkman W, M. A. J. Van De Put, R. Wolterbeek, J. B. M. Z. Trimbos, Jansen FW: Laparoscopic skills simulator: Construct validity and establishment of performance standards for residency training. Gynecological Surgery. 2008, 5: 109-114.

183. Kroft J, M. Ordon, R. Arthur, Pittini R: Does surgical warming up improve laparoscopic simulator performance? Simulation in Healthcare: The Journal of The Society for Medical Simulation. 2012, 7: 339-342.

184. Kumar A, C. Gilmour, D. Nestel, R. Aldridge, G. McLell, Wallace E: Can we teach core clinical obstetrics and gynaecology skills using low fidelity simulation in an interprofessional setting? Australian & New Zeal// Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology. 2014, 54: 589-592.

185. Kumar A, D. Nestel, S. Stoyles, C. East, E. M. Wallace, White C: Simulation based training in a publicly funded home birth programme in Australia: A qualitative study. Women & Birth: Journal of the Australian College of Midwives. 2016, 29: 47-53.

186. Larsen CR, T. Grantcharov, R. Aggarwal, A. Tully, J. L. Sorensen, T. Dalsgaard, Ottesen B: Objective assessment of gynecologic laparoscopic skills using the LapSimGyn virtual reality simulator. Surgical Endoscopy. 2006, 20: 1460-1466.

187. Larsen CR, J. L. Soerensen, T. P. Grantcharov, T. Dalsgaard, L. Schouenborg, C. Ottosen, T. V. Schroeder, Ottesen BS: Effect of virtual reality training on laparoscopic surgery: randomised controlled trial. BMJ (Online). 2009, 338:1253.

188. Lavender T, G. Omoni, K. Lee, S. Wakasiaki, M. Campbell, J. Watiti, Mathai M: A pilot quasi-experimental study to determine the feasibility of implementing a partograph e-learning tool for student midwife training in Nairobi. Midwifery. 2013, 29: 876-884.

189. Learman LA, M. S. Gerrity, D. R. Field, A. van Blaricom, J. Romm, Choe J: Effects of a depression education program on residents' knowledge, attitudes, and clinical skills

Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2003, 101: 167-174.

190. Legendre G, L. S. Rachedi, P. Descamps, Fern H, ez: Providing of a virtual simulator perineal anatomy (Pelvic Mentor) in learning pelvic perineology: Results of a preliminary study. [French]. Journal de Gynecologie Obstetrique et Biologie de la Reproduction. 2015, 44: 72-77.

191. Lendvay TS, T. C. Brand, L. White, T. Kowalewski, S. Jonnadula, L. D. Mercer, D. Khorsand, J. Andros, B. Hannaford, Satava RM: Virtual reality robotic surgery warm-up improves task performance in a dry laboratory environment: a prospective randomized controlled study. Journal of the American College of Surgeons. 2013, 216: 1181-1192.
192. Lentz GM, L. S. M, el DL, C. Gardella, J. Melville, Goff BA: Testing surgical skills of obstetric and gynecologic residents in a bench laboratory setting: validity and reliability. American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2001, 184: 1462-1468; discussion 1468-1470.

193. Leslie KK, P. Dipasquale-Lehnerz, Smith M: Obstetric forceps training using visual feedback and the isometric strength testing unit. Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2005, 105: 377-382.

194. Letouzey V, S. Huberlant, J. L. Faillie, M. Prudhomme, P. Mares, Tayrac Rd: Evaluation of a laparoscopic training program with or without robotic assistance. European Journal of Obstetrics, Gynecology, & Reproductive Biology. 2014, 181: 321-327.

195. Levine RL, S. Kives, G. Cathey, A. Blinchevsky, R. Acland, C. Thompson, Pasic R: The use of lightly embalmed (fresh tissue) cadavers for resident laparoscopic training. Journal of Minimally Invasive Gynecology. 2006, 13: 451-456.

196. Lewis DY, Ciak AD: The impact of a simulation lab experience for nursing students. Nursing Education Perspectives. 2011, 32: 256-258.

197. Liang MI, G. A. McCann, K. S. Rath, F. J. Backes, C. Cansino, Salani R: Training the next generation of robotic surgeons using guided mentorship: a randomized controlled trial. Journal of Minimally Invasive Gynecology. 2014, 21: 1075-1079.

198. Lindsay Miller J, M. D. Avery, K. Larson, A. Woll, A. VonAchen, Mortenson A: Emergency birth hybrid simulation with standardized patients in midwifery education: implementation and evaluation. Journal of Midwifery & Women's Health. 2015, 60: 298-303.

199. Loveless MB, D. Finkenzeller, S. Ibrahim, Satin AJ: A simulation program for teaching obstetrics and gynecology residents the pediatric gynecology examination // procedures. Journal of Pediatric & Adolescent Gynecology. 2011, 24: 127-136.

200. Lupi C, M. Ward-Peterson, S. Coxe, S. Minor, I. Eliacin, Obeso V: Furthering the Validity of a Tool to Assess Simulated Pregnancy Options Counseling Skills. Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2016, 128 Suppl 1: 12S-16S.

201. Maagaard M, J. L. Sorensen, J. Oestergaard, T. Dalsgaard, T. P. Grantcharov, B. S. Ottesen, Larsen CR: Retention of laparoscopic procedural skills acquired on a virtual-reality surgical trainer. Surgical Endoscopy. 2011, 25: 722-727.

202. Macintosh MC, Chard T: Pelvic manikins as learning aids. Medical Education. 1997, 31: 194-196.

203. Macri CJ, N. D. Gaba, L. M. Sitzer, L. Freese, S. L. Bathgate, J. W. Larsen J: Implementation and evaluation of a genetics curriculum to improve obstetrician-gynecologist residents' knowledge and skills in genetic diagnosis and counseling. American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2005, 193: 1794-1797.

204. Madsen ME, L. Konge, L. N. Norgaard, A. Tabor, C. Ringsted, A. K. Klemmensen, B. Ottesen, Tolsgaard MG: Assessment of performance measures and learning curves for use of a

virtual-reality ultrasound simulator in transvaginal ultrasound examination. Ultrasound in Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2014, 44: 693-699.

205. Magee SR, R. Shields, Nothnagle M: Low cost, high yield: simulation of obstetric emergencies for family medicine training. Teaching & Learning in Medicine. 2013, 25: 207-210.

206. Manley KM, C. H. Park, V. L. Medl, Appleyard TL: The training value of a low-fidelity cervical biopsy workshop. Simulation in Healthcare: The Journal of The Society for Medical Simulation. 2015, 10: 116-121.

207. Mannella P, G. Palla, A. Cuttano, A. Boldrini, Simoncini T: Effect of high-fidelity shoulder dystocia simulation on emergency obstetric skills and crew resource management skills among residents. International Journal of Gynaecology & Obstetrics. 2016, 135: 338-342.

208. Marko EK, S. D. Buery-Joyner, M. J. Sheridan, K. Nieves, A. N. Khoury, Dalrymple JL: Structured Teaching of Early Pregnancy Loss Counseling. Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2015, 126 Suppl 4: 1S-6S.

209. Markova V, J. L. Soorensen, C. Holm, A. Noorgaard, Langhoff-Roos J: Evaluation of multiprofessional obstetric skills training for postpartum hemorrhage. Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Sc//inavica. 2012, 91: 346-352.

210. Marshall NE, J. V, erhoeven KBE, S. Y. Segel, Guise JM: Impact of simulation // team training on postpartum hemorrhage management in non-academic centers. Journal of Maternal-Fetal & Neonatal Medicine. 2015, 28: 495-499.

211. Marzano D, R. Smith, J. M. Mhyre, F. J. Seagull, D. Curran, S. Behrmann, K. Priessnitz, Hammoud M: Evaluation of a simulation-based curriculum for implementing a new clinical protocol. International Journal of Gynaecology & Obstetrics. 2016, 135: 333-337.

212. Maslovitz S, G. Barkai, J. B. Lessing, A. Ziv, Many A: Recurrent obstetric management mistakes identified by simulation. Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2007, 109: 1295-1300.

213. Mettler L, K. Vanhecke, U. Kuhnapfel, Fertility HCEwanvrltfrsRPi, Reproductive Medicine. S. Daya RP, J. Gunby. Amsterdam ESB-.

214. Molinas CR, G. De Win, O. Ritter, J. Keckstein, M. Miserez, Campo R: Feasibility // construct validity of a novel laparoscopic skills testing // training model. Gynecological Surgery. 2008, 5: 281-290.

215. Molinas CR, Campo R: Defining a structured training program for acquiring basic and advanced laparoscopic psychomotor skills in a simulator. Gynecological Surgery. 2010, 7: 427-435.

216. Monod C, C. A. Voekt, M. Gisin, S. Gisin, Hoesli IM: Optimization of competency in obstetrical emergencies: a role for simulation training. Archives of Gynecology & Obstetrics. 2014, 289: 733-738.

217. Monsky WL, D. Levine, T. S. Mehta, R. A. Kane, A. Ziv, B. Kennedy, Nisenbaum H: Using a sonographic simulator to assess residents before overnight call. AJR American Journal of Roentgenology. 2002, 178: 35-39.

218. Moore AK, D. R. Grow, R. W. Bush, Seymour NE: Novices outperform experienced laparoscopists on virtual reality laparoscopy simulator. Journal of the Society of Laparoendoscopic Surgeons. 2008, 12: 358-362.

219. Moreau R, A. Jardin, M. T. Pham, T. Redarce, O. Olaby, Dupuis O: A new kind of training for obstetric residents: simulator training. Conference Proceedings: Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine & Biology Society. 2006, 1: 4416-4419.

220. Moreau R, V. Ochoa, M. T. Pham, P. Boulanger, T. Redarce, Dupuis O: A method to evaluate skill transfer // acquisition of obstetric gestures based on the curvatures analysis of the position // the orientation. Journal of Biomedical Informatics. 2008, 41: 991-1000.

221. Moreau R, M. T. Pham, X. Brun, T. Redarce, Dupuis O: Assessment of forceps use in obstetrics during a simulated childbirth. The International Journal Of Medical Robotics + Computer Assisted Surgery: MRCAS. 2008, 4: 373-380.

222. Moreau R, M. T. Pham, T. Redarce, O. Dupuis, Robotics IAnlmfogutBsPotIICo, Automation V-NY, Ieee: 2279-2284.: 2007.

223. Morgan H, D. Marzano, M. Lanham, T. Stein, D. Curran, Hammoud M: Preparing medical students for obstetrics // gynecology milestone level one: a description of a pilot curriculum. Medical Education Online. 2014, 19:25746.

224. Munro MG, Behling DP: Virtual reality uterine resectoscopic simulator: face // construct validation // comparative evaluation in an educational environment. Journal of the Society of Laparoendoscopic Surgeons. 2011, 15: 142-146.

225. Nathan LM, D. Patauli, D. Nsabimana, P. S. Bernstein, S. Rulisa, Goffman D: Retention of skills 2 years after completion of a postpartum hemorrhage simulation training program in rural Rwanda. International Journal of Gynaecology & Obstetrics. 2016, 134: 350-353.

226. Neis F, S. Brucker, M. Henes, F. Taran, S. Hoffmann, M. Wallwiener, B. Schönfisch, N. Ziegler, A. Larbig, R. Wilde, F. A. Taran, B. Schönfisch, Wilde RLD: Evaluation of the HystSim<sup>™</sup>-virtual reality trainer: an essential additional tool to train hysteroscopic skills outside the operation theater. Surgical Endoscopy. 2016, 30: 4954-4961.

227. Nelissen E, H. Ersdal, D. Ostergaard, E. Mduma, J. Broerse, B. Evjen-Olsen, J. van Roosmalen, Stekelenburg J: Helping mothers survive bleeding after birth: an evaluation of simulation-based training in a low-resource setting. Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Sc//inavica. 2014, 93: 287-295.

228. Nelissen E, H. Ersdal, E. Mduma, B. Evjen-Olsen, J. Broerse, J. van Roosmalen, Stekelenburg J: Helping Mothers Survive Bleeding After Birth: retention of knowledge, skills, // confidence nine months after obstetric simulation-based training. BMC Pregnancy & Childbirth. 2015, 15:190.

229. Nelson LH: Use of professional patients in teaching pelvic examinations. Obstetrics & Gynecology. 1978, 52: 630-633.

230. Nguyen T, N. S. Fox, F. Friedman, Jr., R. Sandler, Rebarber A: The sequential effect of computerized delivery charting and simulation training on shoulder dystocia documentation. Journal of Maternal-Fetal & Neonatal Medicine. 2011, 24: 1357-1361.

231. Nitsche J, D. Morris, K. Shumard, Akoma U: Vaginal delivery simulation in the Obstetrics and Gynaecology clerkship. The clinical teacher. 2016, 13: 343-347.

232. Nitsche JF, K. M. Shumard, N. F. Fino, J. M. Denney, K. H. Quinn, J. C. Bailey, R. Jijon, C. Huang, K. Kesty, P. W. Whitecar, A. S. Grandis, Brost BC: Effectiveness of Labor Cervical Examination Simulation in Medical Student Education. Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2015, 126 Suppl 4: 13S-20S.

233. Nitschmann C, D. Bartz, Johnson NR: Gynecologic simulation training increases medical student confidence // interest in women's health. Teaching & Learning in Medicine. 2014, 26: 160-163.

234. Noblot E, T. Raia-Barjat, C. Lajeunesse, B. Trombert, S. Weiss, M. Colombie, Chauleur C: Training program for the management of two obstetric emergencies within a French perinatal care network. European Journal of Obstetrics, Gynecology, & Reproductive Biology. 2015, 189: 101-105.

235. Norris G: The midwifery curriculum: introducing obstetric emergency simulation. British Journal of Midwifery. 2008, 16: 232-235.

236. O'Hanlan KA, K. R. Beingesser, Dibble SL: Total laparoscopic hysterectomy: evaluation of an evidence-based educational strategy using a novel simulated suture // knot-tying challenge, the holiotomy. Minimally Invasive Surgery. 2012, 2012:592970.

237. O'Leary B, A. Khalid, Higgins M: Early Pregnancy Ultrasound // Management: Effect of a Multifaceted Training on Physician Knowledge. Irish Medical Journal. 2016, 109:394.

238. Overtoom EM, F. W. Jansen, E. J. van Santbrink, S. E. Schraffordt Koops, S. Veersema, Schreuder HW: Training in Basic Laparoscopic Surgical Skills: Residents Opinion of the New Nintendo Wii-U Laparoscopic Simulator. Journal of Surgical Education. 2016, 24:24.

239. Owen JW, J. Koza, T. Shiblee, R. R. Robertazzi, M. F. Cabbad, Hsu CK: Placement of a Word catheter: a resident training model. American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2005, 192: 1385-1387.

240. Oyama IA, M. C. Aaronoff, Burlingame JM: Obstetric anal sphincter injury repair workshop for residents. Hawaii Medical Journal. 2009, 68: 133-135.

241. Partin JL, T. A. Payne, Slemmons MF: Students' perceptions of their learning experiences using high-fidelity simulation to teach concepts relative to obstetrics. Nursing Education Perspectives. 2011, 32: 186-188.

242. Patel M, C. Lasala, P. Tulikangas, D. M. O'Sullivan, Steinberg AC: Use of a beef tongue model // instructional video for teaching residents fourth-degree laceration repair. International Urogynecology Journal // Pelvic Floor Dysfunction. 2010, 21: 353-358.

243. Patel NR, G. E. Makai, N. L. Sloan, Badia CRD: Traditional Versus Simulation Resident Surgical Laparoscopic Salpingectomy Training: A R//omized Controlled Trial. Journal of Minimally Invasive Gynecology. 2016, 23: 372-377.

244. Paul M, Nobel K: Papaya: a simulation model for training in uterine aspiration. Family Medicine. 2005, 37: 242-244.

245. Peeters SH, J. Akkermans, F. Slaghekke, J. Bustraan, E. Lopriore, M. C. Haak, J. M. Middeldorp, F. J. Klumper, L. Lewi, R. Devlieger, L. De Catte, J. Deprest, S. Ek, M. Kublickas, P. Lindgren, E. Tiblad, Oepkes D: Simulator training in fetoscopic laser surgery for twin-twin transfusion syndrome: a pilot r//omized controlled trial. Ultrasound in Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2015, 46: 319-326.

246. Pettker CM, S. F. Thung, E. R. Norwitz, C. S. Buhimschi, C. A. Raab, J. A. Copel, E. Kuczynski, C. J. Lockwood, Funai EF: Impact of a comprehensive patient safety strategy on obstetric adverse events. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology. 2009, 200:8.

247. Philippe AC, R. Botchorishvili, B. Pereira, M. Canis, N. Bourdel, G. Mage, J. L. Pouly, C. Houlle, K. Jardon, Rabischong B: [Interest of a structured laparoscopy training in a simulation center: survey of resident's point of view]. Journal de Gynecologie, Obstetrique et Biologie de la Reproduction. 2013, 42: 238-245.

248. Phipps MG, D. G. Lindquist, E. McConaughey, J. A. O'Brien, C. A. Raker, Paglia MJ: Outcomes from a labor // delivery team training program with simulation component. American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2012, 206: 3-9.

249. Piessen G, A. Louvet, L. Robriquet, E. Bailleux, M. Jourdain, Cosson M: [Setting-up // evaluation of an educational program for the teaching of breast // pelvic examination in undergraduate medical students: the PRESAGE simulation center experience of the medicine university of Lille, France]. Gynecologie, Obstetrique & Fertilite. 2014, 42: 591-596.

250. Pittini R, D. Oepkes, K. Macrury, R. Reznick, J. Beyene, Windrim R: Teaching invasive perinatal procedures: assessment of a high fidelity simulator-based curriculum. Ultrasound in Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2002, 19: 478-483.

251. Plante LA: A curriculum in critical care medicine for maternal-fetal medicine fellows. Critical Care Medicine. 2006, 34: 2004-2007.

252. Pliego JF, H. Wehbe-Janek, M. H. Rajab, J. L. Browning, Fothergill RE: OB/GYN boot cAMP using high-fidelity human simulators: enhancing residents' perceived competency, confidence in taking a leadership role, // stress hardiness. Simulation in Healthcare: The Journal of The Society for Medical Simulation. 2008, 3: 82-89.

253. Polterauer S, H. Husslein, M. Kranawetter, R. Schwameis, A. Reinthaller, G. Heinze, Grimm C: Effect of Preoperative Warm-up Exercise Before Laparoscopic Gynecological Surgery: A R//omized Trial. Journal of Surgical Education. 2016, 73: 429-432.

254. Posmontier B, K. Montgomery, M. E. Smith Glasgow, O. C. Montgomery, Morse K: Transdisciplinary teamwork simulation in obstetrics-gynecology health care education. Journal of Nursing Education. 2012, 51: 176-179.

255. Posner G, V. Naik, E. Bidlake, A. Nakajima, B. Sohmer, A. Arab, Varpio L: Assessing residents' disclosure of adverse events: traditional objective structured clinical examinations versus mixed reality. Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology Canada: JOGC. 2012, 34: 367-373.

256. Pradhan A, G. Ebert, P. Brug, D. Swee, Ananth CV: Evaluating pelvic examination training: does faculty involvement make a difference? A r//omized controlled trial. Teaching & Learning in Medicine. 2010, 22: 293-297.

257. Rabin DL, B. O. Boekeloo, E. S. Marx, M. A. Bowman, N. K. Russell, Willis AG: Improving office-based physician's prevention practices for sexually transmitted diseases. Annals of Internal Medicine. 1994, 121: 513-519.

258. Rackow BW, M. J. Solnik, F. F. Tu, S. Senapati, K. E. Pozolo, Du H: Deliberate practice improves obstetrics // gynecology residents' hysteroscopy skills. Journal of Graduate Medical Education. 2012, 4: 329-334.

259. Raines KHSDiNETIoM-SRoLS, Self-Confidence. Ph.D. AU.

260. Raman S, J. A. Noronha, J. C. Michael, G. Madhavan, S. Ramasubramaniam, Vijayalaksmi, Akintola A: Undergraduate Arab Nursing Students Simulation Training (SST) Using Maternity Simulaids: An overview of obstetric skill performance assessment by OSCE, Skill Competency // Student Satisfaction. International Journal of Nursing Education. 2011, 3: 96-101.

261. Reynolds A, D. Ayres-de-Campos, L. Bastos, W. van Meurs, Bernardes J: Impact of labor // delivery simulation classes in undergraduate medical learning. Medical Education Online. 2008, 13:14.

262. Reynolds A, D. Ayres-de-Campos, A. Pereira-Cavaleiro, Ferreira-Bastos L: Simulation for teaching normal delivery // shoulder dystocia to midwives in training. Education for Health. 2010, 23:405.

263. Reynolds A, D. Ayres-de-Campos, Lobo M: Self-perceived impact of simulation-based training on the management of real-life obstetrical emergencies. European Journal of Obstetrics, Gynecology, & Reproductive Biology. 2011, 159: 72-76.

264. Ricciotti HA, L. E. Dodge, J. Head, K. M. Atkins, Hacker MR: A novel resident-as-teacher training program to improve // evaluate obstetrics // gynecology resident teaching skills. Medical Teacher. 2012, 34: e52-57.

265. Ricciotti HA, M. R. Hacker, L. D. De Flesco, L. E. Dodge, Huang GC: Randomized, controlled trial of a normal pregnancy virtual patient to teach medical students counseling skills. Journal of Reproductive Medicine. 2010, 55: 498-502.

266. Riley W, S. Davis, K. Miller, H. Hansen, F. Sainfort, Sweet R: Didactic and simulation nontechnical skills team training to improve perinatal patient outcomes in a community hospital. Joint Commission Journal on Quality & Patient Safety. 2011, 37: 357-364.

267. Robertson B, L. Schumacher, G. Gosman, R. Kanfer, M. Kelley, DeVita M: Simulation-based crisis team training for multidisciplinary obstetric providers. Simulation in Healthcare: The Journal of The Society for Medical Simulation. 2009, 4: 77-83.

268. Robinson JK, Kushner DM: Development // validation of a home-based, mirrored, gynecologic laparoscopy trainer. Journal of Minimally Invasive Gynecology. 2006, 13: 102-107.

269. Rossitto C, M. L. Gagliardi, A. Fagotti, F. Fanfani, V. Gallotta, Scambia G: Teaching and training in laparoscopic surgery: Experience of Catholic Laparoscopy Advanced Surgery School in the basic gynecological surgery. Archives of Gynecology and Obstetrics. 2012, 285: 155-160.

270. Rutherford-Hemming T, N. C. Kelsey, D. L. Grenig, M. Feliciano, L. Simko, Henrich CM: Multisite Single-Blinded Randomized Control Study of Transfer and Retention of Knowledge and Skill Between Nurses Using Simulation and Online Self-Study Module. Simulation in Healthcare: The Journal of The Society for Medical Simulation. 2016, 11: 264-270.

271. Sabourin JN, R. Van Thournout, V. Jain, N. Demianczuk, Flood C: Confidence in performing normal vaginal delivery in the obstetrics clerkship: a r//omized trial of two simulators. Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology Canada: JOGC. 2014, 36: 620-627.

272. Sabourin JN, J. A. Schulz, Flood CG: Improving resident competence // knowledge regarding tension-free vaginal tape procedure: an educational module. Female Pelvic Medicine & Reconstructive Surgery. 2012, 18: 268-273.

273. Sampson CS, N. R. Renz, Wagner JC: An inexpensive and novel model for perimortem cesarean section. Simulation in Healthcare: The Journal of The Society for Medical Simulation. 2013, 8: 49-51.

274. Scholz C, C. Mann, V. Kopp, B. Kost, F. Kainer, Fischer MR: High-fidelity simulation increases obstetric self-assurance and skills in undergraduate medical students. Journal of Perinatal Medicine. 2012, 40: 607-613.

275. Shapiro SJ, M. Paz-Partlow, L. Daykhovsky, Gordon LA: The use of a modular skills center for the maintenance of laparoscopic skills. Surgical Endoscopy. 1996, 10: 816-819.

276. Sheth SS, A. N. Fader, A. I. Tergas, C. L. Kushnir, Green IC: Virtual reality robotic surgical simulation: an analysis of gynecology trainees. Journal of Surgical Education. 2014, 71: 125-132.

277. Shore EM, T. P. Grantcharov, H. Husslein, L. Shirreff, N. J. Dedy, C. D. McDermott, Lefebvre GG: Validating a standardized laparoscopy curriculum for gynecology residents: a

randomized controlled trial. American Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2016, 215: 204.e201-204.e211.

278. Shumaker D, T. Auguste, Y. Millo, Libin A: IN-SITU CLINICAL SIMULATION PROGRAM: IMPROVING EDUCATION OUTCOMES THROUGH RESEARCH FEEDBACK. Edulearn12: 4th International Conference on Education

New Learning Technologies L G Chova, I C Torres

A L Martinez Valenica, Iated-Int Assoc Technology Education a& Development: 7560-7564. 2012.

279. Shumard KM, J. M. Denney, K. Quinn, A. S. Gr, is PWW, J. Bailey, R. J. Jijon-Knupp, C. C. Huang, K. Kesty, B. C. Brost, Nitsche JF: Effectiveness of Vaginal Delivery Simulation in Novice Trainees. Family Medicine. 2016, 48: 696-702.

280. Shumard KM, U. N. Akoma, L. M. Street, B. C. Brost, Nitsche JF: Development of a novel task trainer for second trimester ultrasound-guided uterine evacuation. Simulation in Healthcare: The Journal of The Society for Medical Simulation. 2015, 10: 49-53.

281. Siassakos D, Z. Hasafa, T. Sib, a RF, F. Donald, C. Winter, Draycott T: Retrospective cohort study of diagnosis-delivery interval with umbilical cord prolapse: the effect of team training. BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology. 2009, 116: 1089-1096.

282. Siassakos D, T. Draycott, K. O'Brien, C. Kenyon, C. Bartlett, Fox R: Exploratory randomized controlled trial of hybrid obstetric simulation training for undergraduate students. Simulation in Healthcare: The Journal of The Society for Medical Simulation. 2010, 5: 193-198.

283. Siassakos D, T. Draycott, I. Montague, Harris M: Content analysis of team communication in an obstetric emergency scenario. Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology. 2009, 29: 499-503.

284. Skinner B, H. Morgan, E. Kobernik, N. Kamdar, D. Curran, D. Marzano, Hammoud M: The Decision to Incision Curriculum: Teaching Preoperative Skills and Achieving Level 1 Milestones. Journal of Surgical Education. 2016, 73: 735-740.

285. Sorensen JL, E. Lokkegaard, M. Johansen, C. Ringsted, S. Kreiner, McAleer S: The implementation and evaluation of a mandatory multi-professional obstetric skills training program. Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica. 2009, 88: 1107-1117.

286. Sorensen JL, P. Lottrup, C. van der Vleuten, K. S. Andersen, M. Simonsen, P. Emmersen, S. Rosthoj, Ottesen B: Unannounced in situ simulation of obstetric emergencies: staff perceptions and organisational impact. Postgraduate Medical Journal. 2014, 90: 622-629.

287. Soyinka AS, T. Schollmeyer, I. Meinhold-Heerlein, D. V. Gopalghare, H. Hasson, Mettler L: Enhancing laparoscopic performance with the LTS3E: a computerized hybrid physical reality simulator. Fertility & Sterility. 2008, 90: 1988-1994.

288. Sparks RA, A. D. Beesley, Jones AD: The sponge perineum: an innovative method of teaching fourth-degree obstetric perineal laceration repair to family medicine residents. Family Medicine. 2006, 38: 542-544.

289. Staboulidou I, M. Wustemann, B. Vaske, M. Elsasser, P. Hillemanns, Scharf A: Quality assured ultrasound simulator training for the detection of fetal malformations. Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Sc//inavica. 2010, 89: 350-354.

290. Stitely ML, L. Cerbone, A. Nixon, Bringman JJ: Assessment of a Simulation Training Exercise to Teach Intrauterine Tamponade for the Treatment of Postpartum Hemorrhage. Journal of Midwifery and Women's Health. 2011, 56: 503-506.

291. Strachan B: How effective is training to help staff deal with obstetric emergencies. Journal of Health Services & Research Policy. 2010, 15 Suppl 1: 37-39.

292. Strandbygaard J, F. Bjerrum, M. Maagaard, P. Winkel, C. R. Larsen, C. Ringsted, C. Gluud, T. Grantcharov, B. Ottesen, Sorensen JL: Instructor feedback versus no instructor feedback on performance in a laparoscopic virtual reality simulator: a randomized trial. Annals of Surgery. 2013, 257: 839-844.

293. Strandbygaard J, F. Bjerrum, M. Maagaard, C. Rifbjerg Larsen, B. Ottesen, Sorensen JL: A structured four-step curriculum in basic laparoscopy: development and validation. Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Sc//inavica. 2014, 93: 359-366.

294. Straub HL, G. Morgan, P. Ochoa, I. Grable, E. Wang, M. Kharasch, Plunkett BA: Targeted obstetric haemorrhage programme improves incoming resident confidence and knowledge. Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology. 2013, 33: 798-801.

295. Sweeney J, R. Maietta, Olson K: An analysis comparing Sim Huddles to traditional simulation for obstetric emergency preparedness. Nursing for Women's Health. 2015, 19: 16-25.

296. Takeda J, I. Kikuchi, A. Kono, R. Ozaki, J. Kumakiri, Takeda S: Efficacy of short-term training for acquisition of basic laparoscopic skills. Gynecology // Minimally Invasive Therapy. 2016, 5: 112-115.

297. Tan TC, K. T. Tan, Tee JCS: An end to "See one, do one and teach one" residency training programme - impact of the training, education, surgical accreditation and assessment (TESA) programme on medical care and patients' safety. Annals Academy of Medicine Singapore. 2007, 36: 756-759.

298. Tergas AI, S. B. Sheth, I. C. Green, R. L. Giuntoli, 2nd, A. D. Winder, Fader AN: A pilot study of surgical training using a virtual robotic surgery simulator. Journal of the Society of Laparoendoscopic Surgeons. 2013, 17: 219-226.

299. Tetrault JM, M. L. Green, S. Martino, S. F. Thung, L. C. Degutis, S. A. Ryan, S. Martel, M. V. Pantalon, S. L. Bernstein, P. G. O'Connor, D. A. Fiellin, D'Onofrio G: Developing and implementing a multispecialty graduate medical education curriculum on Screening, Brief Intervention, and Referral to Treatment (SBIRT). Substance Abuse. 2012, 33: 168-181.

300. Theroux R, Pearce C: Graduate students' experiences with standardized patients as adjuncts for teaching pelvic examinations. Journal of the American Academy of Nurse Practitioners. 2006, 18: 429-435.

301. Tolsgaard MG, M. E. Madsen, C. Ringsted, B. S. Oxlund, A. Oldenburg, J. L. Sorensen, B. Ottesen, Tabor A: The effect of dyad versus individual simulation-based ultrasound training on skills transfer. Medical Education. 2015, 49: 286-295.

302. Tolsgaard MG, C. Ringsted, E. Dreisler, L. N. Norgaard, J. H. Petersen, M. E. Madsen, N. L. Freiesleben, J. L. Sorensen, Tabor A: Sustained effect of simulation-based ultrasound training on clinical performance: a randomized trial. Ultrasound in Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2015, 46: 312-318.

303. Truijens SE, F. R. Banga, A. F. Fransen, V. J. Pop, P. J. van Runnard Heimel, Oei SG: The Effect of Multiprofessional Simulation-Based Obstetric Team Training on Patient-Reported Quality of Care: A Pilot Study. Simulation in Healthcare: The Journal of The Society for Medical Simulation. 2015, 10: 210-216.

304. Tyer-Viola L, B. Zulu, M. Maimbolwa, Guarino A: Evaluation of the use of simulation with student midwives in Zambia. International journal of nursing education scholarship. 2012, 9.

305. Vaccaro CM, C. C. Crisp, A. N. Fellner, C. Jackson, S. D. Kleeman, Pavelka J: Robotic virtual reality simulation plus standard robotic orientation versus standard robotic orientation alone: a randomized controlled trial. Female Pelvic Medicine & Reconstructive Surgery. 2013, 19: 266-270.

306. Vadnais MA, L. E. Dodge, C. S. Awtrey, H. A. Ricciotti, T. H. Golen, Hacker MR: Assessment of long-term knowledge retention following single-day simulation training for uncommon but critical obstetrical events. Journal of Maternal-Fetal & Neonatal Medicine. 2012, 25: 1640-1645.

307. Valentin L, B. Rabischong, C. Compan, R. Botchorichvili, B. Pereira, Avan P: [Interest of complex tasks on laparoscopic virtual reality simulator]. Journal de Gynecologie, Obstetrique et Biologie de la Reproduction. 2016, 45: 234-242.

308. Vallabh-Patel V, M. Mendez, Plavsic SK: The importance of multimodality pelvic ultrasound simulation in teaching of obstetrics // gynecology residents. Donald School Journal of Ultrasound in Obstetrics // Gynecology. 2014, 8: 1-5.

309. van de Ven J, F. J. van Deursen, P. J. van Runnard Heimel, B. W. Mol, Oei SG: Effectiveness of team training in managing shoulder dystocia: a retrospective study. Journal of Maternal-Fetal & Neonatal Medicine. 2016, 29: 3167-3171.

310. VanBlaricom AL, B. A. Goff, M. Chinn, M. M. Icasiano, P. Nielsen, M L, el: A new curriculum for hysteroscopy training as demonstrated by an objective structured assessment of technical skills (OSATS). American Journal of Obstetrics // Gynecology. 2005, 193: 1856-1865.

311. Vellanki VS, Gillellamudi SB: Teaching surgical skills in obstetrics using a cesarean section simulator - bringing simulation to life. Advances in Medical Education & Practice. 2010, 1: 85-88.

312. Verdaasdonk EG, L. P. Stassen, L. J. Monteny, Dankelman J: Validation of a new basic virtual reality simulator for training of basic endoscopic skills: the SIMENDO. Surgical Endoscopy. 2006, 20: 511-518.

313. Vieille P, E. Mousty, V. Letouzey, P. Mares, Tayrac Rd: [Assessment of gynecology obstetric interns training on birth simulator]. Journal de Gynecologie, Obstetrique et Biologie de la Reproduction. 2015, 44: 471-478.

314. Wagner B, N. Meirowitz, J. Shah, D. Nanda, L. Reggio, P. Cohen, K. Britt, L. Kaufman, R. Walia, C. Bacote, M. L. Lesser, R. Pekmezaris, A. Fleischer, Abrams KJ: Comprehensive perinatal safety initiative to reduce adverse obstetric events. Journal for Healthcare Quality. 2012, 34: 6-15.

315. Wagner D, M. Bear, S J, er: Turning simulation into reality: increasing student competence and confidence. The Journal of nursing education. 2009, 48: 465-467.

316. Walker D, S. Cohen, J. Fritz, M. Olvera, H. Lamadrid-Figueroa, J. G. Cowan, D. G. Hern, ez JCD, Fahey JO: Team training in obstetric and neonatal emergencies using highly realistic simulation in Mexico: impact on process indicators. BMC Pregnancy & Childbirth. 2014, 14:367.

317. Walker DM, S. R. Cohen, F. Estrada, M. E. Monterroso, A. Jenny, J. Fritz, Fahey JO: PRONTO training for obstetric and neonatal emergencies in Mexico. International Journal of Gynaecology & Obstetrics. 2012, 116: 128-133.

318. Walker DM, F. Holme, S. T. Zelek, M. Olvera-Garcia, A. Montoya-Rodriguez, J. Fritz, J. Fahey, H. Lamadrid-Figueroa, S. Cohen, Kestler E: A process evaluation of PRONTO simulation training for obstetric and neonatal emergency response teams in Guatemala. BMC Medical Education. 2015, 15:117.

319. Walker DM, S. R. Cohen, J. Fritz, M. Olvera-Garcia, S. T. Zelek, J. O. Fahey, M. Romero-Martinez, A. Montoya-Rodriguez, Lamadrid-Figueroa H: Impact Evaluation of PRONTO Mexico: A Simulation-Based Program in Obstetric and Neonatal Emergencies and Team Training. Simulation in Healthcare: The Journal of The Society for Medical Simulation. 2016, 11: 1-9.

320. Walsh SE, J. A. Singleton, C. T. Worth, J. Krugler, R. Moore, G. C. Wesley, Mitchell CK: Tobacco cessation counseling training with standardized patients. Journal of Dental Education. 2007, 71: 1171-1178.

321. Walters CL, J. M. Whitworth, S. L. Tyra, J. B. Walsh-Covarrubias, J. M. Straughn J: Constructing a Novel Simple LEEP Training Model. Journal of Graduate Medical Education. 2013, 5: 320-322.

322. Walton A, E. Kestler, J. C. Dettinger, S. Zelek, F. Holme, Walker D: Impact of a low-technology simulation-based obstetric // newborn care training scheme on non-emergency delivery practices in Guatemala. International Journal of Gynaecology & Obstetrics. 2016, 132: 359-364.

323. Wanggren K, G. Pettersson, G. Csemiczky, Gemzell-Danielsson K: Teaching medical students gynaecological examination using professional patients-evaluation of students' skills and feelings. Medical Teacher. 2005, 27: 130-135.

324. Wanggren K, A. Fianu Jonassen, S. Andersson, G. Pettersson, Gemzell-Danielsson K: Teaching pelvic examination technique using professional patients: a controlled study evaluating students' skills. Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica. 2010, 89: 1298-1303.

325. Wanggren K, G. Pettersson, Gemzell-Danielsson K: Medical students learning the pelvic examination: evaluation of a clinical patient model. Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Sc//inavica. 2010, 89: 1304-1309.

326. Weiner CP, L. Collins, S. Bentley, Y. Dong, Satterwhite CL: Multi-professional training for obstetric emergencies in a US hospital over a 7-year interval: an observational study. Journal of Perinatology. 2016, 36: 19-24.

327. Weiner EE, J. S. Gordon, Gilman BR: Evaluation of a labor and delivery videodisc simulation. Computers in Nursing. 1993, 11: 191-196.

328. Wilbeck J, J. Phillippi, Schorn M: Teaching management of the unexpected birth: application of multimodal techniques. Advanced Emergency Nursing Journal. 2014, 36: 87-96.

329. Williams CJ, J. C. Edie, B. Mulloy, D. M. Flinton, Harrison G: Transvaginal ultrasound simulation // its effect on trainee confidence levels: A replacement for initial clinical training? Ultrasound. 2013, 21: 50-56.

330. Wong CA, S. Scott, R. L. Jones, J. Walzer, Geller S: The state of Illinois obstetric hemorrhage project: pre-project // post-training examination scores. Journal of Maternal-Fetal & Neonatal Medicine. 2016, 29: 845-849.

331. Woods J, L. Gagliardi, S. Nara, S. Phally, O. Varang, N. Viphou, C. Grundmann, Liljestr J: An innovative approach to in-service training of maternal health staff in Cambodian hospitals. International Journal of Gynaecology & Obstetrics. 2015, 129: 178-183.

332. York SL, M. Maizels, E. Cohen, R. S. Stoltz, A. Jamil, W. C. McGaghie, Gossett DR: Development and evaluation of cesarean section surgical training using computer-enhanced visual learning. Medical Teacher. 2014, 36: 958-964.

333. York SL, W. C. McGaghie, J. Kiley, Hammond C: Implementation and evaluation of a dilation and evacuation simulation training curriculum. Contraception. 2016, 93: 545-550.

334. Young OM, Parviainen K: Training obstetrics and gynecology residents to be effective communicators in the era of the 80-hour workweek: a pilot study. BMC Research Notes. 2014, 7:455.

335. Cheng A, Kessler D, Mackinnon R, Chang TP, Nadkarni VM, Hunt EA, Duval-Arnould J, Lin Y, Cook DA, Pusic M, Hui J, Moher D, Egger M, Auerbach M, International Network for Simulation-based Pediatric Innovation R, Education Reporting Guidelines I: Reporting Guidelines

for Health Care Simulation Research: Extensions to the CONSORT and STROBE Statements. Simul Healthc. 2016, 11:238-248. 10.1097/SIH.00000000000150

# **TABLES**

Table 1: Adapted Kirk	matrick's four-level fra	amework for evaluat	ing learning [11-14]
I ubic It Muupicu Itili	autien stout tever the	unicound for coulduct	ing rearining [11 1 i]

Level	Domain	Description and examples
1	REACTION	Learner's views on the learning experience (ex: satisfaction
		scores)
2A	LEARNING: change in	Subjective (ex: confidence scores)
	attitudes/perceptions	
2B	LEARNING: modification of	Knowledge: acquisition of concepts, procedures, or principles
	knowledge or skills	Skills: acquisition of thinking and problem solving, psychomotor,
		or social skills.
		Can be subjective (ex: self-reported changes in knowledge or
		skills) or objective (ex: if an assessment tool is used for rating -
		MCQ <sup>a</sup> , OSATS <sup>b</sup> , OSCE <sup>c</sup> )
3	BEHAVIOR: change in behaviors	Transfer of learning to the clinical setting/workplace
4A	RESULTS: change in system or	Any change in the organization /system or in the delivery of care
	organization	
4B	RESULTS: change in patient	Any improvement in health or wellbeing of patients
	outcomes	

<sup>a</sup>Multiple choice questionnaire

<sup>b</sup> Objective structured assessment of technical skill

<sup>c</sup> Objective structured clinical examination

# Table 2: Characteristics of the Medical Education Research Study Quality Instrument

Domain	MERSQI item (Score)	Maximum
		Score
Study design	Study design	
	- Single group cross-sectional (1)	
	- Single group posttest only (1)	2
	- Single group pretest and posttest (1.5)	3
	- Nonrandomized, 2 group (2)	
	- Randomized controlled trial (3)	
Sampling	No. of institutions studied	
	- 1 (0.5)	
	- 2(1)	
	- 3 or more (1.5)	3
	Response rate, %	
	- Not applicable	
	- <50 or not reported (0.5)	
	- 50-74 (1)	
	- 75 or more (1.5)	
Type of data	Type of data	
	- Subjective assessment by study participant (1)	3
	- Objective assessment (3)	
Validity of	Internal structure	
evaluation	- Not applicable	
instrument	- Not reported (0)	3
	- Reported (1)	
	Content	

	- Not applicable	
	- Not reported (0)	
	- Reported (1)	
	Relationship to other variables	
	- Not applicable	
	- Not reported (0)	
	- Reported (1)	
Data analysis	Appropriateness of analysis	
	- Data analysis inappropriate for study design or type of data (0)	
	- Data analysis appropriate for study design or type of data (1)	3
	Complexity of analysis	
	- Descriptive analysis only (1)	
	- Beyond descriptive analysis (2)	
Outcomes	Outcomes	
	- Satisfaction, attitudes, perceptions, opinions, general facts (1)	
	- Knowledge, skills (1.5)	3
	- Behaviors (2)	
	- Patient/health care outcome (3)	
Total possible		18
score <sup>a</sup>		10
Scores range from 5 to 18	1	I

<sup>a</sup>Scores range from 5 to 18.

Scale Item	MERSQI item (Score awarded if present)	Present, n (%)	Scale score, mean
		(n = 316)	+/- SD, median
			(range)
MERSQI	Total score (max 18)		11.44 +/- SD 2.55,
			12.0 (5-18)
Study design	Single group cross-sectional/ posttest only (1)	60 (19)	
(max 3)	Single group pretest and posttest (1.5)	125 (40)	
	Nonrandomized, 2 group (2)	62 (20)	
	Randomized controlled trial (3)	69 (22)	
Sampling -	1 (0.5)	258 (82)	
Number. of		200 (02)	
institutions	2 (1)	15 (5)	
(max 1.5)	3 or more (1.5)	43 (14)	
Sampling -	Not applicable	17 (5)	
Response rate,	<50 or not reported (0.5)	148 (47)	
% (max 1.5)			
	50-74 (1)	40 (13)	
	75 or more (1.5)	111 (35)	
Type of data (max 3)	Subjective assessment (1)	86 (27)	
	Objective assessment (3)	230 (73)	
Validity	Internal structure (1)	66 (21)	
evidence (max	Content (1)	202 (64)	
3)	Relationship to other variables (1)	66 (21)	
	Not applicable	16 (5)	

# Table 3: Number of studies (n (%)) for each scale item of MERSQI

Data analysis:	inappropriate (0)	
appropriateness		12 (4)
appi opriateness		
(max 1)	appropriate (1)	304 (96)
Data analysis:	Descriptive analysis only (1)	68 (22)
complexity	Beyond descriptive analysis (2)	249 (79)
(max 2)		248 (78)
Highest	Satisfaction, attitudes, perceptions, opinions, general	
outcome type	facts (1)	18 (6)
(max 3)		
	Knowledge, skills (1.5)	
		237 (75)
	Behaviors (2)	
		38 (12)
	Patient/health care outcome (3)	23 (7)

#### **FIGURES**

### Figure 1: PRISMA flow diagram for each stage of the review



Figure 2: Mean MERSQI scores by years



Figure 3: MERSQI score by number of studies



## Figure 4: Percentage of studies with Kirkpatrick outcomes (level 1 to 4)



#### APPENDIX

#### **Appendix 1: Medline Search Strategy**

1 exp Obstetric Surgical Procedures/ or Obstetrics/ or "Obstetrics and Gynecology Department, Hospital"/ or Gynecology/ or exp Gynecologic Surgical Procedures/ or exp "Diagnostic Techniques, Obstetrical and Gynecological"/

- 2 (obstetric\* or gynecolo\* or OB?GYN\*).tw,kf,jw.
- 3 1 or 2
- 4 exp Simulation Training/ or exp Computer Simulation/
- 5 (simulat\* or virtual realit\*).tw,kf.

#### 6 Manikins/

- 7 (manikin\* or mannequin\*).tw,kf.
- 8 (standard\* adj2 patient\*).tw,kf.
- 9 4 or 5 or 6 or 7 or 8
- 10 3 and 9
- 11 remove duplicates from 10

# Section 3: Conclusion & Future Work

#### **Conclusion**

In conclusion, the ultimate objective of this thesis project was to help define a competencybased simulation training curriculum for OBGYN residents. First, a comprehensive review of literature was undertaken to compare curricula from five countries, Canada, Australia, the United Kingdom, the Netherlands, and the Unites States of America. All five countries recognized CBME as a valuable tool in medical education. There was however a gap and thus a need to develop adequate assessment tools for use in CBME, including the use of simulation for this purpose. The review of curricula allowed for item analysis to take place, which yielded 15 EPAs for OBGYN. Note that this study took place prior to the publication by the RCPSC of the official EPAs for the specialty. Each EPAs in the Delphi consensus study was quantified for its importance in residency training and for simulation in addition to setting benchmarks. Surveyed experts agreed that all outlined EPAs were important/essential and that there is a stepwise increase in competence, based on stage of residency. However, the role that simulation plays remained uncertain, and its role was only recognized as important for technical and procedural skills. There are numerous studies showing its utility in more than just the development of technical skills. The variety in the use of simulation in team-based training, communication, and crisis-resource management, amongst other things, was highlighted in the systematic review on the subject. This systematic review, which yielded 316 eligible studies, highlighted that simulation does in fact play a very important role in OBGYN residency training and that both its use and the number of high-quality studies involving simulation has been increasing over the years.

In July 2019, the RCPSC introduced "Competence by Design" (CBD) within Canadian residency training program. In order to ensure that all graduating residents are competent and ready for practice, we will see the need for more frequent assessments and observations in this CBD

model, both in the workplace and via simulation, which nicely complements clinical learning. The days of relying solely on the apprenticeship model for learning has passed. The value of simulation for training, teaching, assessment (both formative and summative), and even in the improvement of patient outcomes, is rapidly growing as research is emerging, showing the effectiveness of its use for these purposes, all within a safe learning environment.

We are already beginning to see the integration of simulation curricula into residency training programs. "The importance of integrating simulation-based experiences into an overall curriculum plan is one of the key lessons learned from a 35 year systematic literature review on the features and uses of high-fidelity medical simulations that lead to effective learning"[45]. In Canada, the specialty of anesthesiology was the first to develop and implement the Canadian National Anesthesiology Simulation Curriculum (CanNASC) [32]. A similar project, COGS (Canadian Obstetrics and Gynecology Simulation Curriculum), to incorporate SBE and SBA on a national scale is underway for the specialty of OBGYN [43, 44]. A Delphi study published in 2017 yielded consensus on six simulation scenarios that will make up the COGS curriculum [43].

The main idea is that modifications to the current OBGYN curricula, including a standardized national competency-based simulation curriculum, may potentially increase the quality and efficiency of training, which could have a direct impact on patient safety and quality of care. Future work should concentrate on further defining a competency-based simulation training curriculum for obstetrics and gynecology residents and in the implementation of the preliminary COGS curriculum outlined above. This will require key collaboration between simulation and medical educators, program directors, as well as the RCPSC in order to be successful.

133

## **References**

1. Polavarapu HV, Kulaylat AN, Sun S, Hamed OH: 100 years of surgical education: the past, present, and future. Bull Am Coll Surg. 2013, 98:22-27.

2. Franzese CB, Stringer SP: The evolution of surgical training: perspectives on educational models from the past to the future. Otolaryngol Clin North Am. 2007, 40:1227-1235, vii. 10.1016/j.otc.2007.07.004

3. Walter AJ: Surgical education for the twenty-first century: beyond the apprentice model. Obstet Gynecol Clin North Am. 2006, 33:233-236, vii. 10.1016/j.ogc.2006.01.003

4. Askitopoulou H, Vgontzas AN: The relevance of the Hippocratic Oath to the ethical and moral values of contemporary medicine. Part II: interpretation of the Hippocratic Oath-today's perspective. Eur Spine J. 2018, 27:1491-1500. 10.1007/s00586-018-5615-z

5. 19th Century Medicine Part 1. (2019). Accessed: July 28th, 2019: https://www.bbc.com/bitesize/guides/ztpw4j6/revision/1.

6. Kotsis SV, Chung KC: Application of the "see one, do one, teach one" concept in surgical training. Plast Reconstr Surg. 2013, 131:1194-1201. 10.1097/PRS.0b013e318287a0b3

7. Kerr B, O'Leary JP: The training of the surgeon: Dr. Halsted's greatest legacy. Am Surg. 1999, 65:1101-1102.

8. Dunnington GL: The art of mentoring. Am J Surg. 1996, 171:604-607. 10.1016/s0002-9610(95)00028-3

9. Cooke M, Irby DM, Sullivan W, Ludmerer KM: American medical education 100 years after the Flexner report. N Engl J Med. 2006, 355:1339-1344. 10.1056/NEJMra055445

10. Custers E, Cate OT: The History of Medical Education in Europe and the United States, With Respect to Time and Proficiency. Acad Med. 2018, 93:S49-S54. 10.1097/ACM.00000000002079

11. Cameron JL: William Stewart Halsted. Our surgical heritage. Ann Surg. 1997, 225:445-458. 10.1097/00000658-199705000-00002

12. Fry H, Kneebone R: Surgical Education Theorising an Emerging Domain. Springer; 2011.

13. Kneebone RL, Scott W, Darzi A, Horrocks M: Simulation and clinical practice: strengthening the relationship. Med Educ. 2004, 38:1095-1102. 10.1111/j.1365-2929.2004.01959.x

14. Rassie K: The apprenticeship model of clinical medical education: time for structural change. N Z Med J. 2017, 130:66-72.

15. Bell RH: Surgical council on resident education: a new organization devoted to graduate surgical education. J Am Coll Surg. 2007, 204:341-346. 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2007.01.002

16. Sachdeva AK: The changing paradigm of residency education in surgery: a perspective from the American College of Surgeons. Am Surg. 2007, 73:120-129.

17. Whetten DA: Principles of Effective Course Design: What I Wish I Had Known About Learning-Centered Teaching 30 Years Ago. Journal of Management Education. 2007, 31. 10.1177/1052562906298445

18. Fink LD: Creating Significant Learning Experiences: An Integrated Approach to Designing College Courses. Jossey-Bass; 2003.

19. Barr RB, Tagg J: From Teaching to Learning - A new Paradigm for Undergraduate Education. Change. 1995.

20. The learning pyramid. Bethel, Maine: National Training Laboratories.

21. Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada. Competence by Design. (2019). Accessed: September 13th, 2019: <u>http://www.royalcollege.ca/rcsite/cbd/competence-by-design-cbd-e</u>.

22. Hodges BD: A tea-steeping or i-Doc model for medical education? Acad Med. 2010, 85:S34-44. 10.1097/ACM.0b013e3181f12f32

23. The Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada - What is Competence by Design. (2016). Accessed: <u>http://www.royalcollege.ca/rcsite/competence-design-e</u>.

24. Caccia N, Nakajima A, Kent N: Competency-based medical education: the wave of the future. J Obstet Gynaecol Can. 2015, 37:349-353.

25. A Five-Stage Model of the Mental Activities Involved in Directed Skill Acquisition. (1980).Accessed:October2nd,2016:<a href="http://www.dtic.mil/cgi-bin/GetTRDoc?AD=ADA084551&Location=U2&doc=GetTRDoc.pdf">http://www.dtic.mil/cgi-bin/GetTRDoc?AD=ADA084551&Location=U2&doc=GetTRDoc.pdf</a>.

26. Zone of Proximal Development. (2012). Accessed: December 29th, 2016: www.simplypsychology.org/Zone-of-Proximal-Development.html.

27. Chauvin SW: Applying Educational Theory to Simulation-Based Training and Assessment in Surgery. Surg Clin North Am. 2015, 95:695-715. 10.1016/j.suc.2015.04.006

28. Healthcare Simulation Dictionary. Lopreiato JO, Downing D, Gammon W, Lioce L, Sittner B, Slot V, Spain AE (eds): AHRQ Publication Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality; 2016.

29. Downing SM, Yudkowsky R: Assessment in Health Professions Education. Taylor and Francis, New York, New York; 2009.

30. Leblanc VR: Review article: simulation in anesthesia: state of the science and looking forward. Can J Anaesth. 2012, 59:193-202. 10.1007/s12630-011-9638-8

31. Wohlrab K, Jelovsek JE, Myers D: Incorporating simulation into gynecologic surgical training. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2017, 217:522-526. 10.1016/j.ajog.2017.05.017

32. Chiu M, Tarshis J, Antoniou A, Bosma TL, Burjorjee JE, Cowie N, Crooks S, Doyle K, Dubois D, Everett T, Fisher R, Hayter M, McKinnon G, Noseworthy D, O'Regan N, Peachey G, Robitaille A, Sullivan M, Tenenbein M, Tremblay MH: Simulation-based assessment of anesthesiology residents' competence: development and implementation of the Canadian National Anesthesiology Simulation Curriculum (CanNASC). Can J Anaesth. 2016, 63:1357-1363. 10.1007/s12630-016-0733-8

33. Khan N, Abboudi H, Khan MS, Dasgupta P, Ahmed K: Measuring the surgical 'learning curve': methods, variables and competency. BJU Int. 2014, 113:504-508. 10.1111/bju.12197

34. Hopper AN, Jamison MH, Lewis WG: Learning curves in surgical practice. Postgrad Med J. 2007, 83:777-779. 10.1136/pgmj.2007.057190

35. Ericsson KA, Krampe RT, Tesch-Romer C: The Role of Deliberate Practice in the Acquisition of Expert Performance. Psychological Review. 1993, 100:363-406.

36. Ericsson KA: Deliberate practice and the acquisition and maintenance of expert performance in medicine and related domains. Acad Med. 2004, 79:S70-81. 10.1097/00001888-200410001-00022

37. Rosen KR: The history of medical simulation. J Crit Care. 2008, 23:157-166. 10.1016/j.jcrc.2007.12.004

38. Gardner R, Raemer DB: Simulation in obstetrics and gynecology. Obstet Gynecol Clin North Am. 2008, 35:97-127, ix. 10.1016/j.ogc.2007.12.008

39. Kirkpatrick DL: Evaluating Training Programs: The Four Levels. Berrett-Koehler Publishers, Inc., San Francisco; 2006.

40. Kirkpatrick DL: Evaluation of Training. Training and Development Handbook. Craig RL, Bittel LR (eds): McGraw Hill, New York; 1967:87-112.

41. Miller GE: The assessment of clinical skills/competence/performance. Acad Med. 1990, 65:S63-67.

42. Brydges R, Hatala R, Zendejas B, Erwin PJ, Cook DA: Linking simulation-based educational assessments and patient-related outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Acad Med. 2015, 90:246-256. 10.1097/ACM.00000000000549

43. Craig C, Posner GD: Developing a Canadian Curriculum for Simulation-Based Education in Obstetrics and Gynaecology: A Delphi Study. J Obstet Gynaecol Can. 2017, 39:757-763. 10.1016/j.jogc.2017.04.032

44. Sanders A, Wilson RD: Simulation Training in Obstetrics and Gynaecology Residency Programs in Canada. J Obstet Gynaecol Can. 2015, 37:1025-1032.

45. Issenberg SB, McGaghie WC, Petrusa ER, Lee Gordon D, Scalese RJ: Features and uses of high-fidelity medical simulations that lead to effective learning: a BEME systematic review. Med Teach. 2005, 27:10-28. 10.1080/01421590500046924